Health and Wellbeing Board Agenda
Date:

Tuesday 6 October 2020

Time:

10.00 am

Venue:

Via MS Teams - the meeting will be available to the public at
https://buckinghamshire.public-i.tv/core/portal/home

Membership:
Dr R Bajwa
(Buckinghamshire
Clinical
Commissioning
Group),
A Macpherson
(Buckinghamshire
Council),
M Shaw
(Buckinghamshire
Council),
G Williams
(Buckinghamshire Council), Dr J O'Grady (Director of Public Health, Buckinghamshire),
G Quinton (Corporate Director - Adults, Health & Housing), T Vouyioukas (Corporate
Director - Children's Services), I Darby (Buckinghamshire Council), J Baker (Healthwatch
Bucks), N Macdonald (Buckinghamshire Healthcare NHS Trust), R Majilton (Buckinghamshire
Clinical Commissioning Group), Dr S Roberts (Buckinghamshire Clinical Commissioning
Group), Dr J Sutton (Buckinghamshire Clinical Commissioning Group), D Williams
(Buckinghamshire Healthcare NHS Trust), Dr K West (Buckinghamshire Clinical
Commissioning Group), Dr N Broughton (Oxford Health NHS Foundation Trust), M Gallagher
(Clare Foundation), K Higginson (Community Impact Bucks) and J Kent (Buckinghamshire,
Oxfordshire and Berkshire West Integrated Care System (ICS))

Webcasting notice
Please note: this meeting will be filmed for live or subsequent broadcast via the council's
website.
You should be aware that the council is a data controller under the Data Protection Act.
Data collected during this webcast will be retained in accordance with the council’s
published policy.
Therefore by entering the meeting room, you are consenting to being filmed and to the
possible use of those images and sound recordings for webcasting and/or training purposes.
If members of the public do not wish to have their image captured they should ask the
committee clerk, who will advise where to sit.
If you have any queries regarding this, please contact the monitoring officer at
monitoringofficer@buckinghamshire.gov.uk.

Agenda Item

Time

1

Welcome

10:00

2

Apologies

3

Announcements from the Chairman

4

Declarations of Interest

5

Minutes of the previous meeting
To review and agree the minutes of the meeting held on 7
July 2020.

6

Public Questions

7

Director of Public Health Annual Report
To be presented by Dr Jane O’Grady, Director of Public
Health.

Page No

10:05

7 - 18

10:15

19 - 88

10:35

89 - 114

Each year the Director of Public Health produces an annual
report on the health of their population. The report is an
independent report for all partners in Buckinghamshire.
This report asks the Health and Wellbeing Board and its
member organisations to identify the actions they will take
in response to the recommendations in the report.
Recommendations:





8

The Health and Wellbeing Board is requested to
note the Director of Public Health Annual Report
and endorse the recommendations.
Members of the Health and Wellbeing Board are
requested to identify how their organisation can
contribute to the delivery of the Director of Public
Health Annual Report recommendations.
The Health and Wellbeing Board is requested to
agree its role in taking forward and monitoring the
recommendations of the DPH annual report.

Buckinghamshire Covid-19 Health Impact Assessment
and Health and Wellbeing Recovery Plan Priorities
To be presented by Dr Jane O’Grady, Director of Public
Health.
The COVID-19 pandemic has had a major impact on every
aspect of our lives. As well as the direct impacts of COVID-19

disease, the social distancing and lockdown measures have had
a huge impact on the lives and livelihoods of people. This in
turn can have a profound impact on population health and
wellbeing in the short term and for many years after the
pandemic has ended.

Recommendations:

9



The Health and Wellbeing Board is asked to note the
high level findings from the Health Impact Assessment
and approve the emerging priorities of the Health and
Wellbeing Recovery plan.



Health and Wellbeing Board members are asked to
contribute to the recovery plan and define the actions
their organisations will take to support the priorities in
the HWB Recovery plan.

Buckinghamshire Integrated Care System Winter Plan
To be presented by Caroline Cappell, Director of Urgent
and Emergency Care -Buckinghamshire Healthcare NHS
Trust.
The Winter Plan is part of an annual planning process in
collaboration with Buckinghamshire Integrated Care Partnership
led by the Urgent Care Board.

Recommendations:
The Health and Wellbeing Board is invited to receive and
note the updates and presentation at the meeting and
consider its role in supporting identified areas and
recommendations included in the report, including a
commitment to:
•
•
•

•

Ensuring the safety of patients during the Winter
Period and during the Covid Pandemic:
Supporting staff
Working together as a Buckinghamshire System to
provide the best care in the right setting for our
population
Engaging and communicating with our population
and key stakeholders in a timely, supportive and
safe way.

11:00

115 - 132

10

Better Care Fund 2020-21 Plan
To be presented by Tracey Ironmonger, Interim Service
Director for Integrated Commissioning.

11:35

133 - 156

11:50

157 - 168

The purpose of the report is to provide Health and
Wellbeing Board (HWB) with an update on the Better Care
Fund for 2020-21.
Recommendations:
•
•

•

•

•

11

To note the Better Care Fund budget for 2020-21.
To delegate authority for approval of the 2020-21
plan, including locally set metrics, to lead officers
for
BC
Integrated
Commissioning
and
Buckinghamshire CCG.
To delegate authority for allocation of expenditure
for 2020-21 to lead officers for BC Integrated
Commissioning and Buckinghamshire CCG.
To approve that the Integrated Commissioning
Team continue to service the requirements of the
BCF nationally and locally, including regular
reporting via the Integrated Commissioning
Executive Team on performance and bi-annual
updates to Health and Wellbeing Board.
To note the current position in relation to Better
Care Fund and performance.

Update on Joint Health and Wellbeing Strategy
engagement, Happier, Healthier Lives - a shared plan for
Buckinghamshire
To be presented by Katie McDonald, Health and
Wellbeing Board Lead Officer.
The Health and Wellbeing Board is asking for early views on the
refresh of the ‘Joint Health and Wellbeing Strategy’ – Happier,
Healthier Lives – a shared plan for Buckinghamshire. The
refreshed strategy is due for publication in early 2021.

Recommendations:
The Health and Wellbeing Board is asked to:


12

Receive an update on engagement to date at the
meeting on 6 October 2020.

Update from Children's Services
This report is provided for information.

169 - 174

13

Health and Wellbeing Board Work Programme
To be presented by Katie McDonald, Health and
Wellbeing Board Lead Officer.

11:55

14

Date of next meeting
Thursday 10 December 2020 (pre-meet at 9.15 am
followed by the meeting at 10.00 am).

12:00

175 - 178

If you would like to attend a meeting, but need extra help to do so, for example because of
a disability, please contact us as early as possible, so that we can try to put the right support
in place.
For further information please contact: Sally Taylor on 01296 531024, email
democracy@buckinghamshire.gov.uk.

This page is intentionally left blank

Agenda Item 5

Health and Wellbeing Board minutes
Minutes of the meeting of the Health and Wellbeing Board held on Tuesday 7 July 2020 in
via video conference call, commencing at 2.00 pm and concluding at 4.00 pm.

Members present
A Macpherson, M Shaw, G Williams, J O'Grady, G Quinton, T Vouyioukas, I Darby, J Baker,
R Majilton, D Williams, N Broughton, M Gallagher and K Higginson

Others in attendance
K McDonald, Dr T Kenny, R Goodes, D Richards, M Souto and D Williams (NHS)

Apologies
Dr R Bajwa, N Macdonald, Dr S Roberts, Dr J Sutton, Dr K West and Dr J Kent

Agenda Item
1

Confirmation of Chairman and Vice-chairman
Councillor Gareth Williams, Cabinet Member for Communities and Public Health,
stated that this was the first Health and Wellbeing Board meeting of the 2020/2021
municipal year in a new unitary authority and therefore he was obliged to declare
the Chair and Vice-Chair of the Health and Wellbeing Board. Given governance
discussions over the last year with a view to looking at terms of reference and
membership again next year, unless there were any objections, G Williams stated he
would remain as Chairman and Dr Karen West would continue as Vice-Chair.
RESOLVED: It was AGREED that Councillor Gareth Williams remain as Chairman
and Dr Karen West continue as Vice-Chairman of the Health and Wellbeing Board.

2

Welcome and Announcements from the Chairman
The Chairman announced that the Coronavirus Act 2020 had allowed the Health and
Wellbeing Board (HWB) to be conducted on-line and attended remotely by
Members and officers.
The Chairman welcomed Councillors Mark Shaw, Cabinet Member for Children’s
Services, Isobel Darby, Cabinet Member for Housing and Homelessness and Angela
Macpherson, Deputy Leader and Cabinet Member for Adult Social Care. The
Chairman also welcomed Dr Nick Broughton, Chief Executive, Oxford Health NHS
Trust and two new voluntary sector community (VCS) members; Martin Gallagher
from the Clare Foundation and Katie Higginson from Community Impact Bucks (CIB).
The Chairman thanked the HWB members and their teams, the organisations, NHS,
Adult Social Care, Children’s Services, VCS and Communities for their dedication to
overcoming the virus.

Page 7

3

Apologies for Absence
Apologies had been received from Dr Karen West, Dr Sian Roberts, Dr Juliet Sutton,
Dr Raj Bajwa and Dr James Kent. Neil Macdonald, Buckinghamshire Healthcare NHS
Trust (BHT) had also sent his apologies; Dr Tina Kenny attended in his place.

4

Declarations of Interest
Jenny Baker, OBE, Chair, Healthwatch Bucks, declared an interest as she was also a
trustee of CIB which was a subsidiary of Healthwatch Bucks.

5

Public Questions
Katie McDonald, Health and Wellbeing Lead Officer read out the following question
which had been received from, a member of the gypsy and traveller community and
Buckinghamshire resident:
I am a traveller living in Buckinghamshire, my family has been directly affected by
Covid-19 as my husband is in the extremely vulnerable group and has been shielding
throughout. I am employed as a family support worker in a school so I am also
acutely aware of the negative impact this has had as far as the education of my own
children and others from the traveller/gypsy community.
It has been extremely difficult for us as a family. As a shielding family we have been
entitled to support from the Government but this has not been forthcoming. We
were told we were entitled to weekly food parcels and throughout the lockdown we
have received only one government funded food parcel. I have one child of school
age and she has been struggling to complete her home learning as expected
throughout lockdown. We have no internet or computer and for weeks she struggled
to do this using only her phone.
I have been contacted by traveller families who are concerned, not only about the
safety of their children when they return to school but also how the impact of the
barriers to home learning they have faced will affect the long term education of their
children. I am also concerned about the cramped and overcrowded conditions.
I want to ask the Health and Wellbeing Board if consideration has been given to the
many traveller/gypsy families living in Buckinghamshire in the areas I have raised
and recognition from professionals of the risks to the gypsy and traveller community.
K McDonald advised that she had spoken with the resident who had emphasised
that she requested acknowledgement from professionals that the gypsy and
traveller community be afforded the same focus and attention for their health and
wellbeing outcomes as that of minority and ethnic groups and accountability for
engagement with the gypsy and traveller groups also be taken. The Public Health
team had asked her to be involved in the listening exercise and behavioural insight
work being carried out by the team. The question and full response would be
appended to the minutes. K McDonald highlighted the following points:

Page 8








The community hubs had been provided with the resident’s contact details in
case there were any further food access issues.
The Housing Team had sent a letter to all known Travelling and Roma
community locations in April advising that they should contact their local
housing department if families needed to self-isolate or if there were any
issues with accommodation.
The HWB was pleased that the resident’s daughter had been provided with a
laptop; current government guidance now stated that all home learning
would end this term and all pupils would be required to return to school in
September 2020.
The HWB was aware of mental wellbeing issues and was taking these
seriously in recovery plans.

G Williams clarified that 500 emergency food parcels had been delivered in the
county alongside various other foodbanks. Generally the food provision in
Buckinghamshire had been high and it was distressing to hear of the difficulties
experienced by the gypsy and traveller community, however, the situation was
being taken seriously. J Baker advised that Healthwatch Bucks had also engaged
with the traveller community.
6

Public Health Overview of impact of Covid_19 in Buckinghamshire and HWB
recovery plans
Dr Jane O’Grady, Director of Public Health, provided a presentation (slides 1-19 of
the full slide pack appended to the minutes) and highlighted the following points:










The first coronavirus case in the UK was identified on 31 January 2020. The
first death in the UK was on 5 March 2020.
The first case in Buckinghamshire was identified at the beginning of March
with the first death occurring on 9 March 2020.
There had been approximately 1600 cases in Buckinghamshire with 383
deaths; however, the number of confirmed cases underestimated numbers
as testing was limited early on in the pandemic.
72 new cases had been identified in the period 14-27 June 2020, however,
the real number was likely to be four times higher due to people not coming
forward for testing.
Approximately one in five people diagnosed with Covid-19 became more
seriously ill. One in ten people were thought to be suffering symptoms for
many weeks after the illness.
 There had been some ‘positives’ in the response to Covid-19 e.g.
Mobilisation of society to protect the vulnerable increased
community cohesion and resilience.
 Homeless were sheltered.
 Decreased traffic and increased air quality.
 Home working for some improved work life balance.
 More partnership working.
 Increased use of digital technology services and connections.
A survey was being carried out in Buckinghamshire, on the impact of Covid-

Page 9







19 in Buckinghamshire, which would be circulated after the meeting;
members of the HWB were asked to promote the survey as widely as
possible, particularly to the less frequently heard groups.
ACTION: Katie McDonald
The recovery would be complex, the initial priorities were listed; further
priorities would be recognised after the listening exercise.
The Health Protection Board had been set up to prevent any resurgence in
infections.
Work would be carried out with the Black and Minority Ethnic (BAME)
community who were recognised as being at increased risk from COVID.
A Covid-19 Mental Health Strategy Response Group had been established.
The importance of social distancing as the virus was still circulating was
stressed.

G Williams presented slides 20-22 on the work carried out by the Communities Team
and highlighted the following points:





Eight local support hubs had been set up by 23 March 2020 to respond to the
Covid-19 crisis to provide support to shielded individuals with underlying
health conditions.
An explanation of the role of the community hubs, volunteers and the VCS.
The partnership work with charity foundations to distribute nearly £1m to
local groups to support community responses to Covid-19.

The following point was raised and discussed by members of the HWB:


In response to being asked whether the local authority was receiving the
pillar one (health settings) and pillar two (community setting) test and trace
data, Dr O’Grady advised that the first download of the post code data had
been received. Some key data was missing, such as ethnicity, but Dr O’Grady
expected the situation to improve and was expecting data on a weekly basis.

RESOLVED: The Health and Wellbeing Board NOTED and DISCUSSED the
information covered in the presentation at the meeting.
7

Overview of the whole system approach taken to Recovery from Covid-19 across
Buckinghamshire and the Integrated Care Partnership
Roger Goodes, Service Director, Policy and Communications, presented slides 24-27
on behalf of Sarah Ashmead, Deputy Chief Executive. R Goodes highlighted the
following points:


The overarching approach to recovery across Buckinghamshire would be
focused on the following:


Reset – recognising that recovery will be to a new normal and taking
this opportunity to reimagine and reform our previous thinking and
embed the opportunities into future designs.

Page 10






Resilience –learning to live with Covid-19 and be able to respond to
increases and decreases in infection rates.
Restoration – a whole system approach to developing our future
operating models and build resilience into our system and people.

A Member Recovery Board would lead the work aligned to existing
partnerships through which the following partnerships would play a leading
role:





The Health and Wellbeing Board (HWB)
The Local Economic Partnership (LEP)
The Voluntary Community Sector (VCS)
The Growth Board

David Williams, Director of Strategy, (BHT), and David Williams, Deputy Director of
Quality (NHS), Buckinghamshire Clinical Commissioning Group presented slides 2838, and highlighted the following points:



















The recovery model focussed on working in partnership as a health and
social care system on behalf of the communities and patients.
There were two over-arching groups; the Health Protection Board and the
Clinical Harms Board.
The recovery process would be long and complex and the way in which care
would be delivered had changed; the Service would need to provide a
flexible approach for patients to access care.
Work had been undertaken to understand the potential clinical harm due to
patients not having accessed care during the Covid-19 pandemic.
The Buckinghamshire Clinical Harms Steering Group had been established to
identify what could be carried out to mitigate the risk.
Plans were being developed in preparation for a spike in the number of
Covid-19 cases. It was a complex piece of work involving colleagues from
Public Health and other partners; any learning would be shared.
The primary care, acute and community recovery approach had commenced.
Routine operations had re-started.
Treatment of urgent and cancer patients had continued throughout the
pandemic.
Community hospitals were re-opening.
Out-patient appointments were re-starting.
Support was being provided to the care home sector.
All staff would be tested regularly for Covid-19 and would also have an antigen test.
Referrals had reduced dramatically but were now at 75% of expected level.
A & E attendance was now at 90% of expected level.
There was a national campaign to promote that the NHS was ‘here and
open’.
The backlog of cancer patients who needed an operation would be cleared

Page 11




by the end of August 2020.
All patients on waiting list had been contacted, reviewed and prioritised.
If a second wave occurred it was likely that other services would be able to
continue.

The following points were raised and discussed by members of the HWB:



It was noted that the rapid setting up of the Olympic Lodge, which had
provided extra capacity, had been achieved due to the partnership work
across the organisations.
A huge amount of encouraging information had been presented to the Board
and it was agreed that a summary sheet should be produced by the
Communications Team for sharing with the public.
ACTION: Katie McDonald/Kim Parfitt

Debbie Richards, Managing Director, Oxford Health NHS Trust, presented slides 3942 and highlighted the following points:








Oxford Health NHS Trust covered Buckinghamshire, Oxfordshire, Swindon,
Wiltshire and NE Somerset.
The Service had changed the way in which it worked and the key messages
were:
 Very few services had been suspended; all emergency and urgent
services had been retained.
 There had been an increase in the number of digital assessments.
 There were over 6,700 staff; many of whom had been supported to
work from home.
 A 24/7 mental health help line was set up; enquirers were directed to
the most appropriate service.
 BHT had provided support for mental health in-patients with Covid19.
 Primary care had provided support for shielded patients.
The Service was preparing for a surge during the recovery period; call
numbers and A&E attendances were increasing each week.
Preparations in some areas e.g. children and young people were being
prioritised.
The waiting lists for assessments were being cleared to ensure support was
in place for when children returned to school.
There had been an increase in the number of training posts and people
available to provide assessment and therapy due to additional investment
that was agreed before Covid-19. Recruitment had taken place during the
pandemic.

The following points were raised and discussed by members of the HWB:


The help line telephone numbers were provided; Adults - 0800 783 0119,
Children - 0800 783 0121.

Page 12



In response to whether the reduction in numbers for older people was due
to an access problem, D Richards explained that there were several reasons.
Some people were in residential settings and remote assistance was being
provided to carers. Some people were having support from their families.
There had also been suppressed demand because people were worried
about coming forward during the pandemic. Young people had embraced
the move to a more digital service but it had proved more of a challenge for
older people.

Gill Quinton, Corporate Director for Adults, Health and Housing, paid tribute to the
phenomenal effort of her colleagues to ensure that vulnerable adults had remained
safe during the pandemic. G Quinton presented slides 43-51 and highlighted the
following points:














The Service had responded by setting up a number of separate cells covering
the various areas. Meetings were held every day, chaired by G Quinton, to
ensure there was a co-ordinated approach across the county.
All the adult social care services were maintained throughout crisis; the
government did introduce some legislation that enabled local authorities to
stand down some of the statutory requirements but Buckinghamshire
Council did not invoke any of the legislation.
Approximately 1200 vulnerable clients were supported by regular telephone
calls to check their carers had arrived, that they had food and were receiving
their medical supplies. The calls were made by volunteers and staff; it had
been extremely successful and would be continued by Prevention Matters.
The Day Care and short breaks services were closed but contact was
maintained with the vulnerable clients. The staff were redeployed and plans
were being undertaken to re-open the services safely.
The Olympic Lodge was transformed within three weeks to become a
Reablement and care centre in case of a major surge in hospital discharges.
The Government put in a requirement to discharge people who were fit for
discharge within two hours; this was achieved across the whole system to
free up hospital beds.
The Choice Policy that enabled patients to choose their residential care
home, the Continuing Health Care process and financial assessments had
been suspended.
Buckinghamshire Council’s efforts to support care providers had been
identified as good practice by the Local Government Association.
The Workforce Cell had prioritised retraining staff to be able to work in a
care home if needed.
A large number of volunteers had come forward. Many of the volunteers
helped at the Olympic Lodge and others contacted vulnerable clients.
The Service was now focussed on recovery and taking forward the ‘positives’
learned during the pandemic.

Mr Tolis Vouyioukas, Corporate Director, Children’s Services, thanked all the staff in
Children’s Services and the Schools Services for their commitment, leadership and

Page 13

hard work. T Vouyioukas presented slides 52-56 and highlighted the following
points:







Immediate action was taken to ensure that staff could work from home.
The Service was in constant contact with the Department for Education (DfE)
and Ofsted so both were sighted on action the Service was taking in response
to Covd-19.
There had been a decline in the number of face to face visits at the beginning
of the lockdown period but the number was now on the increase due to the
easing of the restrictions.
The DfE’s statutory process did not change; the Service worked out a way to
meet the children’s needs and keep the staff safe.
Children of key workers and vulnerable children were provided places in
school.
The website was kept up to date; regular meetings were held with the
various partnerships in the school sector to provide government advice.

RESOLVED: The Health and Wellbeing Board NOTED and DISCUSSED the
information covered in the presentation on the 7 July 2020 and CONSIDERED the
role the Health and Wellbeing Board should play in the next phase of
Buckinghamshire’s recovery and response.
8

Overview of the Impact on Covid-19 on Patients and the Voluntary and Community
Sector and Key Priorities for Recovery
Miguel Souto, Interim Chief Executive, Healthwatch Bucks presented slides 58-61 of the allin-one slide pack and highlighted the following points.





Healthwatch Bucks approached both statutory and non-statutory providers
to offer support at the start of the crisis by providing information for the
public to stay safe during this period; they also acted as a conduit for
information for providers or commissioners to reduce the anxiety people
were having around local services.
Healthwatch Bucks gathered feedback and escalated any issues to
commissioners, providers and Healthwatch England.
The work programme was reviewed to include projects to capture people’s
experiences during the Covid-19 pandemic and the following surveys were
carried out:







The overall impact of the pandemic
An assessment of information provided by Trusts, GPs and
pharmacies
A survey on the impact on routine appointments
two surveys on the effect of Covid on cares homes: one focusing on
residents and another on staff.

Early feedback from patients showed issues over prescription delays and
anxieties over vulnerable people not being on the official shielding list.

Page 14





There was also lack of clarity over government and local guidance.
There been over 500 responses to the survey on the overall impact of the
pandemic and more detail would be available next month.
The next steps in supporting the recovery would be to:






Work with the growing network of hard-to-reach groups to ensure
that their voices were heard as part of the recovery (e.g. digital
exclusion).
Gather views on the mental health impact of the pandemic.
Assess the impact on people waiting for cancer treatment.
Capture the experience of people living with effects of Covid-19 as a
long term condition.

Martin Gallagher, Chief Executive Officer, The Clare Foundation, and Katie
Higginson, Chief Group Executive, Community Impact Bucks presented slides 62-64
and highlighted the following points:












Approximately 17-18 charities had come together with the Council to form a
VCS Taskforce at the start of the pandemic to co-ordinate and support the
needs of the county.
Many charities faced a cut in their income stream but many organisations
had found funding from other sources; overall the sector had lost
approximately £1bn.
An incredible amount of work had taken place to coalesce the needs of the
residents in Buckinghamshire.
Community Impact Bucks had worked alongside Public Health to gather
insight from the voluntary sector as part of the rapid Health Impact
Assessment. The report had shown the voluntary sector organisations had
deep concerns about the way that health inequalities had widened through
the pandemic and feared that the gap would grow. The need for clear
accessible, culturally sensitive services which took account of language
barriers had been identified. The lack of accessible information had
increased the fear of accessing health services when needed. There was a
need for support for family carers, both adult family carers and young carers
who had taken on additional responsibility through lockdown and were likely
to need additional catch up support from schools.
Many vulnerable people, who were most in need, did not have online access
or the skills and confidence to access online alternatives.
Community Impact Bucks had already seen positive steps of voluntary
organisations and statutory services working together to find ways to provide
face-to-face support safely and cost-effectively. Particular concerns were
expressed about those with dementia and their carers, those with hearing
and visual challenges, who were unable to use the phone, and households
which might have only one smartphone or device for all family members to
access all services, including schooling.
Voluntary organisations have been enthusiastic about “The widespread spirit
of collaboration across all health, council and voluntary sector partners”, and

Page 15



the opportunities to build on that for the benefit of our communities.
Voluntary organisations had highlighted a need to invest collectively in
prevention and early intervention to stop issues becoming more acute and
intractable to both improve outcomes for people but also to ensure that the
best use was made of resources.
There was a significant challenge around the stigma and shame of not being
able to cope and needing to ask for help; sometimes small organisations,
rooted in and led by their communities, were the best for reaching people.

The following points were raised and discussed by members of the HWB:


In response to a query on whether the feedback received by Healthwatch
Bucks was being forwarded to the relevant partner organisations, M Souto
stated that urgent issues would be escalated. The final report would be
circulated to statutory providers and commissioners and they would have a
duty to respond and act on any issues.

RESOLVED: The Health and Wellbeing Board NOTED the presentation provided by
Healthwatch Bucks and the Voluntary and Community Sector.
9

Healthwatch Bucks Annual Report
Jenny Baker OBE, Chair, Healthwatch Bucks advised that the Healthwatch Bucks
Annual Report should have been presented at the meeting in March 2020 but
unfortunately it was cancelled. The Annual Report 2019/20 was accessible on
https://www.healthwatchbucks.co.uk/category/results/.
J Baker referred to slide 72 of the pack which showed the ways in which
organisations could work together to improve health and wellbeing in
Buckinghamshire. J Baker emphasised that, particularly during the Covid-19
recovery period, Healthwatch Bucks were able to help by capturing people’s voices
to ensure they were at the heart of decision making. Healthwatch Bucks had
excellent contacts, particularly with the under-represented groups and could help
prevent ‘re-inventing the wheel’. J Baker asked the HWB members to remind users
that Healthwatch Bucks existed as a key player to make the system better in
Buckinghamshire and could be commissioned.
RESOLVED: The Health and Wellbeing Board:
 NOTED the work and achievements of Healthwatch Bucks in 2019/20
 NOTED Healthwatch Bucks plans and priorities for 2020/21
CONSIDERED how Healthwatch Bucks could further help the Health and Wellbeing
Board and health and social care providers improve people’s health and wellbeing,
especially during recovery from Covid-19.

10

Communicating and Engaging with the Public
David Williams, Director of Strategy, Buckinghamshire Healthcare Trust referred to
the report on pages 9-26 in the agenda pack. D Williams summarised that the

Page 16

theme of the meeting had been to understand the patient experience of care during
the Covid-19 pandemic and to work with communities to co-design and change new
ways of working that suited patients’ circumstances. Work would commence over
the summer on the three areas below:




Reducing health inequalities: improving health for vulnerable groups and
people living in deprived areas.
Community services: organisations working together to promote
independence and deliver care in people’s homes and communities.
Keeping People Safe: delivering services differently to prevent the spread of
infections.

D Williams advised that an update would be provided at the meeting in October
2020. All organisations would be made aware of the process and ways in which to
contribute.
RESOLVED:
The Health and Wellbeing Board AGREED to SUPPORT the
Buckinghamshire ICP approach to engaging communities about changes related to
health and social care.
11

Update on HWB Governance, Terms of Reference and plans for JHWBS refresh
Katie McDonald, Health and Wellbeing Lead Officer, referred to slides 84-86. The
draft Buckinghamshire Health and Wellbeing Board Terms of Reference had been
updated at a development session in January 2020 and were included in the agenda
pack for approval. K McDonald asked for any comments before the Terms of
Reference document was uploaded to the website.
The priorities for the Joint Health and Wellbeing Strategy had been agreed at the
Health and Wellbeing Board Development session in January 2020; discussions had
taken place with partners in light of Covid-19 and priorities and actions had been
added to align with recovery plans. The online consultation would take place for 5 –
6 weeks starting in September; final sign-off would be carried out in December 2020
with publication in early 2021.
The Pharmaceutical Needs Assessment publication deadline had been extended by a
year and was now due in April 2022; discussions would take place towards the end
of 2020 in relation to setting up the steering group.
It was agreed that the ‘Winter Plan’ should be added to the agenda for the next
meeting.

12

Date of next meeting
Tuesday 6 October 2020.

Page 17

Page 18

Agenda Item 7

Date: 6 October 2020
Title: Director of Public Health Annual Report
Author and/or contact officer: Director of Public Health, Dr Jane O’Grady
Report Sponsor: Cllr Gareth Williams
Purpose of Report:
Each year the Director of Public Health produces an annual report on the health of their
population. The report is an independent report for all partners in Buckinghamshire. This
report asks the Health and Wellbeing Board and its member organisations to identify the
actions they will take in response to the recommendations in the report.
Report for information, discussion, decision or approval: Endorsement by the Health and
Wellbeing Board
Related Joint Health and Wellbeing Strategy Priority:
This paper relates to all priorities in the 2016-2020 Joint Health and Wellbeing Strategy with
the aim of supporting the priorities in the refreshed strategy currently out to consultation
which aims that Buckinghamshire is a place where all residents ‘Start Well, Live. Well and
Age Well’.
Recommendations:
Recommendation for the Health and Wellbeing Board:




The Health and Wellbeing Board is requested to note the Director of Public Health
Annual Report and endorse the recommendations.
Members of the Health and Wellbeing Board are requested to identify how their
organisation can contribute to the delivery of the Director of Public Health Annual
Report recommendations.
The Health and Wellbeing Board is requested to agree its role in taking forward and
monitoring the recommendations of the DPH annual report

Recommendations within
Buckinghamshire Council
a)

the

Director

of

Public

Health

Annual

Report

for

The council to consider adopting a ‘health in all polices’ approach whereby
relevant policies and decisions consider how residents health could be
improved and poor health prevented as part of business as usual, e.g. when
planning new developments or considering transport policies.

Page 19

b)

The council to consider opportunities to develop its role as an anchor
organisationi.

c)

The council to continue to roll out training to front line staff to encourage
residents to make simple changes that could improve their health,
wellbeing and independence and ensure staff can signpost people to
community assets that can support this.

d)

The Buckinghamshire Council public health and prevention team should
support Community Boards to consider the health needs of their population
and what simple practical steps they could take to improve health in their
local area.

e)

To continue to promote the health of the council workforce with good
workplace health policies.

Recommendations for Community Boards
a)

Community Boards should work with local communities, public health and
wider partners to identify the health and wellbeing issues in their local area
and take effective action to address them. Community boards should use their
pump-priming wellbeing fund to help improve health and wellbeing in their
area.

Recommendations for the NHS and primary care networks
The NHS should:
a) Increase their focus on preventing ill health and tackling inequalities and
ensure this is built into every care pathway.
b) Consider how to build a health in all policies approach and opportunities to
act as an anchor organisation.
c) Consider how the NHS can best support effective place-based working and
community-centred approaches.
d) Ensure front line staff are trained to support people to make simple changes
to improve their health and wellbeing and to signpost people to community
assets that support this.
e) Continue to promote and protect the health of their workforce through
effective workplace policies.

Page 20

Primary care networks:
a) Should work with their local communities, Buckinghamshire Council public
health, Community Boards and other partners to understand and improve
the health in their local area.
b) Ensure front line staff are trained to support people to make simple changes
to improve their health and wellbeing and signpost people to community
assets that can support their health.
c) Continue to promote and protect the health of their workforce.

Executive summary
1.2

Each year the Director of Public Health produces an annual report on the health of
their population.

1.3

In light of the creation of the new Buckinghamshire Council and its 16 Community
Boards and development of primary care networks, this year’s report focuses on the
overall health and wellbeing of Buckinghamshire’s population. It serves as a baseline
against which progress in improving the health and wellbeing of our population can
be measured. It highlights the many opportunities that the new unitary council and
partners have to improve the health of our residents through action on community
engagement and leadership, transport, planning, the environment, the economy,
education and other services.

1.4

The report also analyses the health of residents at a more local level both at a
community board level and at the level of primary care networks. This will enable
the new Community Boards to understand some of the health and wellbeing issues
in their local area. The DPH annual report provides further detail on the factors that
drive health and should be read in conjunction with the Community Board profiles.

1.5

By identifying the health issues and geographical mapping of the Community Boards
and Primary Care Networks it is hoped that this will support joint working at a local
level between health and local authority partners, other public and private sector
partners, residents and communities and the voluntary sector.

1.6

The report highlights trends in our health from 100 years ago to more recent trends
and also reviews what the future might hold for our health. The report was being
finalised as the COVID pandemic struck and therefore does not cover the impact of
COVID. There will be a later report on COVID.

1.7

A healthy population is vital for the economic and social success of Buckinghamshire.
Adopting the recommendations of this report will contribute to improving the health

Page 21

and life chances of our residents and will help reduce the growth in demand on
council services and other public sector services

2.

Content of report

2.1

Our health is influenced by a wide range of factors including our social
circumstances, the places and communities in which we live, the health behaviours
we adopt and the health and care we receive. Factors such as income, housing,
education and transport play a central role in our health and wellbeing throughout
the course of our lives. The community we live in is one of the most important
factors for our physical and mental health. All of these factors are interlinked – for
example, the places and communities we live in influence our behaviour in a range
of ways, the quality of the air we breathe, how well we know our neighbours and our
physical and mental health.

2.2

The four main health behaviours – smoking, physical inactivity, unhealthy diet and
alcohol misuse account for 40% of all years lived with ill health and disability. These
behaviours are major risk factors driving the development of long-term conditions
that account for 70% of all NHS and social care spend.

2.3

Much of our behaviour is strongly shaped by our environment and communities,
often without us realising. The cues that shape much of our behaviour can be found
in the physical, economic, digital, social and commercial environments we inhabit.
Interventions that alter our environment to improve our health see the largest
health gains and are more likely to reach groups at risk of poorer health than
individual based approaches. A combination of individual and population based
approaches will deliver the best results.

2.4

Buckinghamshire residents generally enjoy better health and wellbeing than the
England average. In terms of factors that influence health, our residents have
generally higher levels of educational attainment, income, employment and better
living conditions than the England average. Over one third of our residents live in the
10% least deprived wards in England. Only 0.3% of Buckinghamshire residents live in
the 20% most deprived areas in England.

2.5

The over 65 population in Buckinghamshire has a longer life expectancy than the
England average, and they spend more of their life in good health compared to this
age group elsewhere.

2.6

The recorded prevalence of diabetes, heart disease, chronic obstructive lung disease
and severe mental illness are all lower than England. Likewise, rates of smoking, drug
use, physical inactivity and suicide are also lower in Buckinghamshire when

Page 22

compared to England. However, many residents experience potentially avoidable ill
health and disability. The major causes of disease, disability and death among adults
are long-term conditions, many of which are potentially preventable.
2.7

Despite our overall better health, important health inequalities still exist in
Buckinghamshire which means that these benefits are not evenly distributed
throughout our local population. People living in the more deprived areas of
Buckinghamshire experience poorer health from birth through to old age. Almost 1
in 10 children and young people, and 1 in 13 people aged over 65 years live in
poverty, which will increase their risk of poorer health. Differences in life expectancy
across the County are related to levels of deprivation. Nationally the impact of the
COVID-19 pandemic has replicated existing health inequalities, and in some cases,
has increased them.

3.

Outcomes from last year’s Director of Public Health report

3.1

Last year’s annual report focused on alcohol and the impact it has on our health and
wellbeing in Buckinghamshire.

3.2

As a result of that report, much work has taken place across the county by many
partners to further support residents to get the alcohol misuse advice and care they
need at the right time in the right place.

3.3

The following is just some of the work that has taken place as a result of the 2018/19
report:
a)

A programme of face to face training on screening and initial brief advice
for alcohol has been delivered. Additional training is being organised
following the COVID-19 pandemic to further support our residents.

b)

Additional engagement with key groups of residents who may be at
increased risk from alcohol misuse has been delivered. This has resulted in
the number of alcohol referrals increasing over the last year. Following
lockdown for COVID-19, a sharp increase in referrals has been seen.

c)

A pilot online web-based alcohol intervention programme was developed
by our alcohol service provider to support individuals with alcohol issues
who are unlikely to attend local treatment Hubs. The intervention is
currently at the testing stage. Recovery workers have been trained and are
currently working through the programme to assess its effectiveness.

d)

The ‘Co-existing common mental health problems and substance/alcohol
misuse clinical pathway’ has been agreed with Healthy Minds. This pathway
between Healthy Minds (Improving Access to Psychological Therapies
service in Bucks) and One Recovery Bucks (our alcohol service provider)

Page 23

improves the referral process and the relationships between the two
services, which in turn benefits clients of both services. It ensures residents
can receive the right treatment at the right time.
e)

The Council and the NHS have agreed the process for shared care for
individuals taking alcohol relapse prevention medications. Shared care
allows for service users who are successful in achieving abstinence to be
supported by their GP in Primary Care. To date 12 GP surgeries have signed
up to this initiative and service users are being support in primary care.

f)

Work to include alcohol misuse assessment in acute care more widely at
Buckinghamshire Healthcare NHS Foundation Trust has progressed over the
last year. Due to COVID, progress has been paused but will be picked up
once regular acute care services resume.

4.

Consultation and communication

4.1

The Public Health Profiles for Community Boards were distributed in July 2020.
These profiles are part of the overall suite of information produced as part of this
year’s Director of Public Health Annual Report. All Community Boards have received
their profiles and discussed the information and implications. The Director of Public
Health Annual Report will also be shared with all HWB member organisations.

5.

Next steps and review

5.1

The Health and Wellbeing Board can use the report to inform the health impact of a
wide range of their own organisational plans including the regeneration of town
centres and development of Aylesbury Garden Town, transport planning and
housing development or local health and wellbeing plans. The report will also inform
the Joint Health and Wellbeing Strategy and the place based Buckinghamshire COVID
recovery plan across all workstreams. A joint high level action plan to implement the
recommendations of the DPHAR will be developed and monitored through the
Health and Wellbeing Board.

6.

Background papers

6.1

The full Director of Public Health Annual Report is included as an appendix to this
report.

i

Anchor organisations are typically large organisations that are embedded in communities and unlikely to
move due to their long term commitment to a community (for example hospitals, universities and local
councils). They have large resources in terms of purchasing power and employment and as such can have a key
role in building successful local economies and communities by their actions.

Page 24

Appendix

2020

DIRECTOR OF PUBLIC HEALTH
ANNUAL REPORT

A Picture of Health?

Buckinghamshire - Past, Present and Future

1

Page 25

CONTENTS
Executive Summary

3

1. Introduction

5

2. What influences our health?
Income
Work
Housing
Homelessness
Rough sleeping
Environment
Communities
Education
Transport

6
7
7
7
7
7
8
9
9
9

3. Healthy Behaviours
Smoking
Alcohol
Physical activity
How to increase physical activity
Healthy eating and obesity

10
10
12
12
13
14

4. Our health at a glance
Patterns of health
Community Boards
Primary care networks

17
19
27
30

2

5. Health trends
100 years ago
More recent trends
Life expectancy
Healthy life expectancy

34
34
35
37
37

6. What does the future hold?
Other health trends
The physical, social and economic
environment

38
39
39

7. What should we do?
Health and wellbeing priorities
Taking action

40
40
40

8. Recommendations
Buckinghamshire Council
Recommendations for
Buckinghamshire Council
Recommendations for Community
Boards
Recommendations for the NHS and
primary care networks

41
41
42

Appendix

44

Page 26

42
43

Executive Summary
What influences our health?
Our health is influenced by a wide range of factors
including our social circumstances, the places and
communities in which we live, the health behaviours
we adopt and the health and care we receive. Factors
such as income, housing, education and transport
play a central role in our health and wellbeing
throughout the course of our lives. However, all of
these factors are interlinked – for example, the places
and communities we live in influence our behaviour
in a range of subtle and not so subtle ways, our
exposure to air pollution and traffic noise. Our income
affects the food we can afford, the ability to heat our
homes and live in good quality housing, all of which
affect our health. The differences in health we see
across Buckinghamshire often reflect the different
circumstances of people’s lives.
The four main health behaviours – smoking, physical
inactivity, unhealthy diet and alcohol misuse account
for 40% of all years lived with ill health and disability.
These behaviours are major risk factors driving the
development of long-term conditions that account
for 70% of all NHS and social care spend. Addressing
these four behaviours could lead to a reduction of
up to 80% of new cases of heart disease, stroke and
type-2 diabetes and a reduction of 40% of new cases
of cancer.
Much of our behaviour is strongly shaped by our
environment and communities, often without us
realising. The cues that shape much of our behaviour
can be found in the physical, economic, digital,
social and commercial environments we inhabit. For
example, price, advertising and availability influence
our consumption of cigarettes, unhealthy food and
alcohol. Safe and attractive places to play and safe
cycling and walking routes to school and work
influence people’s physical activity levels.

of individuals one at a time cannot reverse this
epidemic. A whole system approach at population
level is required that addresses a wide range
of factors such as food formulation, pricing,
advertising, availability and social norms.

Our health at a glance
Buckinghamshire residents generally enjoy better
health and wellbeing than the England average. In
terms of factors that influence health, our residents
have generally higher levels of educational
attainment, income, employment and better living
conditions than the England average. This reflects
Buckinghamshire’s position as one of the least
deprived authorities in England. Over one third of
our residents live in the 10% least deprived wards in
England. 0.3% of Buckinghamshire residents live in
the 20% most deprived areas in England. The over
65 population in Buckinghamshire has a longer
life expectancy than the England average, and
spend more of their life in good health compared
to this age group elsewhere. The prevalence of
diabetes, heart disease, COPD and severe mental
illness are all lower than England. Likewise, rates of
smoking, drug use, physical inactivity and suicide
are also lower in Buckinghamshire when compared
to England. However, many residents experience
potentially avoidable ill health and disability. The
major causes of disease, disability and death
among adults are long-term conditions, many of
which are potentially preventable.

Despite our overall better health, important
health inequalities still exist in Buckinghamshire.
People living in the more deprived areas of
Buckinghamshire experience poorer health from
birth through to old age. Almost 1 in 10 children
and young people, and 1 in 13 people aged over
65 years live in poverty, which increases their risk
of poorer health. Differences in life expectancy
across the County are closely related to levels
Evidence shows that interventions that alter our
of deprivation. The impact of the COVID-19
environments and communities to promote health,
pandemic has been greater on those with long
such as structural changes, see the largest population term conditions, older people and people from
health gains and also gains in the most vulnerable
Black Asian and minority ethnic groups and
communities compared to individual-based
people living in deprived areas. The pandemic also
approaches.
affects the broader determinants of health such as
income, employment and education. COVID has
Interventions that seek to change individual behaviour replicated existing health inequalities, and in some
without addressing the wider environment are
cases, has increased them, reinforcing the need to
likely to have less impact. For example, more than
prevent the development of long term conditions
50% of the population are overweight or obese. A
and reduce health inequalities by acting on all
strategy that focuses only on changing the behaviour
the determinants of health at an individual and
population level.
Page 27
3

Recommendations
We need action across the four pillars influencing
health: the socioeconomic determinants, strong
communities, healthy behaviours, and effective,
proactive preventive health and social care. The
formation of the new Community Boards and the
Primary Care Networks offers exciting opportunities
to work with local communities at a neighbourhood
level, gaining insight into what the key wellbeing
issues are for their area and what would work to
address them.
Emphasis should be placed on reducing existing
health inequalities within our local population.
Buckinghamshire Council’s strong focus on
empowering communities and developing
community assets will support this work. Strong
communities will be a key driver for recovery from
the impact of the COVID-19 pandemic.
The Council and local NHS organisations should
consider adopting a ‘health in all policies’ approach
whereby relevant policies and decisions consider
how residents’ health could be improved and poor
health prevented as part of business as usual e.g.
when planning new developments or considering
transport policies. Both organisations should also
continue to develop their crucial roles as ‘anchor
organisations’, and positively influencing multiple
factors that can help to improve the health and
wellbeing of the local population.

Recommendations for Buckinghamshire
Council
•

The council to consider adopting a ‘health in all
polices’ approach whereby relevant policies and
decisions consider how residents health could
be improved and poor health prevented as part
of business as usual, e.g. when planning new
developments or considering transport policies.
The council to consider opportunities to develop
its role as an anchor organisation.
The council to continue to roll out training to
front line staff to encourage residents to make
simple changes that could improve their health,
wellbeing and independence and ensure staff
can signpost people to community assets that
can support this.
The Buckinghamshire Council public health and
prevention team should support Community

•
•

•

4

•

Boards to consider the health needs of their
population and what simple practical steps they
could take to improve health in their local area.
To continue to promote the health of the council
workforce with good workplace health policies.

Recommendations for Community Boards
Community Boards should work with local
communities, public health and wider partners to
identify the health and wellbeing issues in their
local area and take effective action to address
them. Community boards should use their pumppriming wellbeing fund to help improve health and
wellbeing in their area.

Recommendations for the NHS and
primary care networks
The NHS should:
• Increase their focus on preventing ill health and
tackling inequalities and ensure this is built into
every care pathway.
• Consider how to build a health in all policies
approach and opportunities to act as an anchor
organisation.
• Consider how the NHS can best support
effective place-based working and communitycentred approaches.
• Ensure front line staff are trained to support
people to make simple changes to improve their
health and wellbeing and to signpost people to
community assets that support this.
• Continue to promote and protect the health of
their workforce through effective workplace
policies.
Primary care networks
• Should work with their local communities,
Buckinghamshire Council public health,
Community Boards and other partners to
understand and improve the health in their local
area.
• Ensure front line staff are trained to support
people to make simple changes to improve their
health and wellbeing and signpost people to
community assets that can support their health.
• Continue to promote and protect the health of
their workforce.

Page 28

1. Introduction
This year’s Director of Public Health annual report was designed to give an overview of the health of
our residents to the new unitary council for Buckinghamshire, the new Community Boards, the local
Primary Care Networks and our Integrated Care Partnership and local residents. It reviews our current
health and what factors influence it, recent health trends and some glimpses of what the future might
hold. It highlights how the broad range of responsibilities of the new council can be used to positively
influence residents health and the importance of working at a local level with communities and
partners to benefit all.
The report also identifies the way in which our residents health varies significantly between different
areas in Buckinghamshire and includes some headlines from the local health profiles being produced
for Community Boards and Primary Care Networks.
I was just finalising this report when the UK was hit by the first wave of the Coronavirus (COVID-19)
pandemic and all our efforts were refocussed on responding to this. We are now slowly emerging from
the national lockdown. As we continue to learn more about this very new disease we can see that the
virus has had more impact on some communities than others. This echoes some of the variations we
see locally in peoples health. Some residents have sadly lost their lives and others will be making a
slow recovery from COVID. The indirect health effects potentially include an impact on peoples mental
health, employment, income and on childrens education – all of which affect health.
Overall, so far, the virus has had a more severe impact on the elderly and those with certain long term
conditions, those living in more deprived areas and certain ethnic groups. This gives us added impetus
to redouble our emphasis on prevention including preventing key conditions such as obesity and
diabetes and addressing the health and wellbeing of different groups.
We will be producing a report looking at the health impact of COVID in Buckinghamshire as we gather
information from residents, partners and statistics to help us work together on a successful recovery
for Buckinghamshire and reduce the impacts of further waves of COVID-19.
During the pandemic we saw a fantastic response from communities helping out their neighbours
in times of need and unparalleled co-operation between all partners in Buckinghamshire, including
local government, the NHS, businesses, schools, police, fire and voluntary organisations. This has
demonstrated our incredible ability in Buckinghamshire to work together to improve things with our
communities and I am confident this will help us achieve better health and wellbeing for our residents
and a successful recovery from the pandemic.
Dr Jane O’Grady
Director of Public Health
June 2020

5

Page 29

1. INTRODUCTION

2. What influences our health?
Our health is influenced by a wide range of
factors including our social circumstances, the
places and communities in which we live, the
health behaviours we adopt and the health
and care we receive. However, all these factors
are interlinked – for example, the places and
communities we live in influence our behaviour in
a range of subtle and not so subtle ways. Health
related behaviours, particularly smoking, being
physically inactive, drinking too much alcohol and
an unhealthy diet contribute to the development
of a wide range of diseases, but these choices
are not made in a vacuum and are heavily
influenced by the social, economic and physical
environments in which people live. Researchers
have tried to estimate the relative contribution
of the various factors to an individual’s health as
highlighted to the right.

Source: Canadian Institute for Advanced
Research, Health Canada, Population and
Public Health Branch AB/NWR 2002

Our health is influenced by a wide range of
factors The image below highlights some of
the main influences on our health which are
addressed in the following chapter.

6

Page 30

2. WHATINFLUENCES OURHEALTH?

Income

Income impacts our health in many ways. It is
stressful to be on a low income, and this affects
people’s physical and mental health. People’s
ability to heat their homes, buy healthy food and
participate in activities is limited when on a low
income. Due to the circumstances in which many
people on low incomes may live, unhealthier
behaviours are more common. People on low
incomes are more likely to live in poorer quality
housing and may be less able to afford to keep
their homes warm.
Children growing up in poverty have worse
cognitive, social, behavioural and health outcomes.
Poverty and poor health in childhood can impact
our educational attainment and future employment
and income as an adult thus perpetuating the cycle
of poverty between generations.
Conversely, poor health can also lead to poverty
due to loss of employment opportunities and
earning.

Work

Good-quality work is good for our health. It
provides a regular income, security and a sense
of purpose and satisfaction. It also helps afford
a basic standard of living and participate in
community and social life. Meanwhile, ‘poorquality’ work (for example, work that involves
adverse physical conditions, exposure to hazards, a
lack of control and unwanted insecurity) is bad for
our health. Being unemployed is linked to poorer
mental health and psychological wellbeing and a
higher rate of death.

Housing

Where we live can promote our health if it is
affordable, safe, in good condition and connected
to the community, services and employment. A
lack of affordable housing can lead to financial
hardship and stress, overcrowding and, in the most
severe cases homelessness.
Families living in overcrowded conditions
experience a range of health-related problems
such as poor and irregular sleep patterns,
depression and anxiety, strained family
relationships and break-ups. Children who live in
crowded homes are more likely to have emotional
problems, do less well at school and have worse
physical health.
7

Damp and cold housing increases the risk of
respiratory conditions, mental health problems
and death.

Homelessness

Being homeless also has a profound effect on
physical and mental health. To be legally defined
as homeless people must either lack a secure
place to live or not reasonably be able to stay in
their current home. Local authorities may provide
temporary accommodation to households who
meet these criteria.
People become homeless for many different
reasons, including lack of affordable housing,
poverty and unemployment, and life events.
People who have experienced homelessness
are twice as likely to have poor physical and
mental health than the general population. Poor
mental and physical health is both a cause and
consequence of homelessness. Chronic and
multiple health needs are common and often go
untreated.

Rough sleeping

Rough sleeping is the most visible form of
homelessness. Rough sleeping is a stressful,
lonely and often traumatic experience that has a
major impact on mental health. Serious mental
health issues such as schizophrenia, bipolar
disorder and post traumatic stress disorder
(PTSD) are far more common amongst rough
sleepers. Suicide rates are nine times higher for
this group of people.
People sleeping on the street are almost 17 times
more likely to have been victims of violence.
Rough sleepers are also more vulnerable to
issues relating to alcohol and drug use and some
homeless people use drugs and alcohol to cope
with their mental health problems. Multiple health
needs alongside drug and alcohol use can also
act as a barrier to accessing mainstream health
services.
At the ages of 16-24 years old, people sleeping
rough are twice as likely to die as their housed
peers. For 25-34 year olds the ratio increases to
four to five times, and at ages 35-44 years old to
five to six times higher than people of the same
age living in houses.

Page 31

2. WHATINFLUENCES OURHEALTH?

Environment

The environments in which we live affect our
physical and mental health directly and indirectly
in the way these promote or hinder healthy
behaviours. Being in contact with the natural
environment is vital for our mental wellbeing and
physical health at all ages. People with access
to good quality green space have better mental
and physical health, and every 10% increase in
green space is associated with a reduction in
disease equivalent to a gain of five years of life.
The impact of income inequalities on health is
reduced in areas with more accessible green
space. A fuller description of these issues can be
found in the previous Director of Public Health
annual report, Healthy Places, Healthy Futures:
Growing Great Communities.

8

Air pollution is one of the most significant
environmental risk factors for poor health
and contributes to over 150 early deaths in
Buckinghamshire each year. Air pollution
contributes to a range of poor health outcomes
including dementia, low birth weight babies,
stroke, lung disease and heart disease, amongst
other conditions. Older people, children and
people with cardiovascular or respiratory
diseases are particularly vulnerable to the effects
of air pollution. Exposure to air pollution is also
unevenly distributed across our population, with
deprived communities more likely to be living
near busy polluting roads.

Page 32

2. WHATINFLUENCES OURHEALTH?

Communities

The communities in which we grow up, play, work
and live profoundly affect our happiness, physical
and mental health and our chances of success
in life. We thrive in communities where there are
strong social ties, a feeling of community and a
sense of belonging and where everyone has the
opportunity to participate fully in community life.
Having a voice in local decisions also makes a
vital and positive contribution to our health and
wellbeing.
People with strong social connections and
support from family, friends or their community
are happier and live longer, have healthier lives
with fewer physical and mental health problems
than those who are less well connected.
Supportive social relationships aid recovery from
ill health and reduce the risk of early death after
retirement.
Taking part in local communities (for example,
membership of community, resident, religious or
other voluntary groups) is also associated with
a substantially higher quality of life. Access to
culture and leisure opportunities is good for our
physical and mental health.
Participation in the arts can contribute to
community cohesion, reduce social exclusion
and isolation, and make communities feel safer
and stronger. For example, arts participation
can increase physical activity, contributing to a
reduction in childhood obesity. Engagement with
the arts and cultural activities can reduce anxiety,
depression and stress, and increase self-esteem,
confidence and purpose.
People who experience social isolation and
loneliness are more likely to experience
depression and anxiety, be physically inactive,
smoke and drink alcohol. They also have an
increased risk of heart disease and dementia
and die prematurely. They are more likely to visit
their GP, use accident and emergency services,
be admitted to hospital and enter local authority
funded residential care. However, arts and cultural
intervention can have a positive impact on health
conditions such as dementia and depression.

Education

A good education is good for health. Education
supports making health promoting choices,
9

builds good social skills that support people
making strong social connections and helps them
gain satisfying employment. Four more years
of education reduces death rates by 16% and
reduces the risk of heart disease and diabetes.
When compared to people with the highest
life expectancy, people with the lowest life
expectancy are three times more like to have
no qualifications. People with lower educational
attainment are more likely to report being in
poorer health, smoke, be obese and suffer
alcohol-related harm.

Transport

We travel for work and play, to get to school,
shops and other services. How we travel, how
far and for how long, has significant implications
for our health, the health of others and society
as a whole. A healthy transport system can help
our communities access key services, learning
opportunities and jobs.
Active travel (such as walking and cycling)
improves our health through physical activity and
by reducing air and noise pollution, increasing
social connections and making communities
safer. It improves our mood, reduces stress and
the risk of developing long term conditions or
dying early. It is also the lowest carbon, cheapest
and most reliable and sustainable form of
transport. It reduces congestion, absenteeism and
boosts economic productivity.
Compared to commuters travelling by car,
cyclists have a 46% lower risk of developing
heart disease, 52% lower risk of dying from heart
disease, a 45% lower risk of developing cancer
and a 40% lower risk of death from cancer. Long
commutes are increasingly being recognised as
having a detrimental effect on our health and
wellbeing. Long commutes have been linked with
higher levels of stress and anxiety and higher
blood pressure. When we use public transport we
are likely to do an extra 12–15 minutes physical
activity each day.
Each year in the UK, traffic accidents cause
around 250,000 casualties and kill almost 3,000
people. People living in the most-deprived areas
have a 50% greater risk of dying from a road
accident compared with those living in the least
deprived areas.

Page 33

2. WHATINFLUENCES OURHEALTH?

3. Healthy behaviours
Healthy behaviours are important at every age.
These behaviours start early in life and are heavily
influenced by the people around us and the
places we live. For example, children who grow
up in homes where adults smoke or drink harmful
levels of alcohol are more likely to adopt these
behaviours themselves.
The four main health behaviours – smoking,
physical inactivity, unhealthy diet and alcohol
misuse account for 40% of all years lived with ill
health and disability. These behaviours are major
risk factors driving the development of longterm conditions that account for 70% of all NHS
and social care spend. Addressing these four
behaviours could lead to a reduction of up to 80%
of new cases of heart disease, stroke and type 2
diabetes and a reduction of 40% of new cases of
cancer.
Each unhealthy behaviour alone increases the risk
of many long term conditions but in combination
these risk factors have a multiplicative effect.
Unfortunately, the majority of people have more
than one unhealthy behaviour - 70% of people
have two or more, 25% have three or more and
5% have all four unhealthy behaviours. Engaging
in four unhealthy behaviours makes individuals
four times more likely to die prematurely than
someone who has no unhealthy risk factors.
Men, younger age groups, those in lower socio
economic groups and people with lower levels
of education are more likely to exhibit multiple
unhealthy behaviour risks. Tackling multiple
unhealthy risk factors is a key component in
actions to reduce health inequalities.
The impact of the four main health behaviours is
highlighted below.

Smoking

Buckinghamshire economy £24.8m due to lost
economic activity.
The average smoker will lose 10 years of their
life compared to a non-smoker. Within a year of
stopping smoking the risk of heart attack falls to
about half that of a continuing smoker, and within
10 years the risk of lung cancer falls to half that of
a smoker.
Smoking is the largest single cause of inequalities
in health and accounts for half the difference in
life expectancy between the lowest and highest
income groups. Smoking is more common in
people with routine and manual jobs where 21%
of adults smoke, twice the Buckinghamshire rate.
Young people are more likely to take up smoking if
those around them smoke. In poorer communities
young people are more exposed to smoking
behaviour, more likely to try smoking and find it
harder to quit.

Second-hand smoking

Second-hand smoke is the smoke a smoker
breathes out. In the case of an unborn baby, it is
the chemicals that reach the baby in the mother’s
womb. Second-hand smoke contains about 4,000
chemicals, more than 50 of which are known to
cause cancer.
For women who smoke or are exposed to secondhand smoke when pregnant, their babies may
develop serious health problems, including
miscarriage, being born too early or with a low
birthweight. Infants exposed to second-hand
smoke are also more likely to die from sudden
infant death syndrome.
Children exposed to second-hand smoke have
more ear infections, respiratory problems (e.g.
bronchitis and pneumonia) and tooth decay.
Children with asthma are especially sensitive to
second-hand smoke. Children who grow up with
parents who smoke are themselves more likely to
smoke.

Smoking is the biggest cause of preventable
illness and premature death in England. It
increases the risk of developing more than 50
serious health conditions, including cancer, heart
attack, stroke and chronic respiratory disease.
One in 10 adults smoke in Buckinghamshire,
Non-smoking adults who are exposed to
equating to more than 42,000 adult smokers,
second-hand smoke at home or at work, have an
and there are more than 600 early deaths each
increased risk of developing lung cancer by 20 to
year due to smoking. These deaths cost the
Page 34
10
3. HEALTHY BEHAVIOURS

30%. Non-smokers exposed to second-hand smoking in the home have a 25% increased risk of heart
disease.

Costs of smoking to the NHS

The cost of smoking to the NHS in Buckinghamshire is £23m per year with £7.7m spent on hospital
admissions and £9m spent in primary care.
An audit in Buckinghamshire found one in four emergency hospital admissions and 13% of all
elective admissions were for people who smoke. Almost half of patients admitted with respiratory
conditions were smokers. Emergency respiratory admissions are the highest emergency spend for
Buckinghamshire at approximately £19m per year.

Smoking and social care

Social care needs occur 10 years earlier in current smokers compared to people who have never
smoked. The Buckinghamshire social care costs due to smoking are estimated to be £6 million per
year; £5 million of these costs are estimated to be met by the local authority.

Stopping smoking

There are many health benefits to stopping smoking at any age, some of which are realised
immediately as shown below.
Short-term
benefits

20

min.

12

hours

Circulation and lung functionality improve.

1-9

Lungs continue to improve and heal, reducing coughing and
shortness of breath.

months

1

The risk of coronary heart disease and heart attack is reduced.

5

The risk of mouth, throat, esophagus and bladder cancer are
decreased by half. The risk of cervical cancer and stroke decline to
that of a nonsmoker.

10
years

The risk of mortality from lung cancer is 50% less likely compared
with a current smoker’s risk. Pancreas and larynx cancer risks are
also decreased.

year

years

11

The body’s carbon monoxide levels return to healthy levels.

2-3

weeks

Long-term
benefits

An individual’s heart and blood pressure decreases.

15

years

The risk of coronary disease equates to that of a nonsmoker’s.

Page 35

3. HEALTHY BEHAVIOURS

Smoking cessation treatment is a highly effective
and cost effective intervention. The Ottawa model
is an effective hospital-based model. It identifies
patients admitted to hospital who smoke and
gives them support to quit. People who receive
the intervention are more likely to stop smoking,
less likely to be readmitted to hospital or visit
A&E within 30 days and 26% less likely to be
hospitalised over two years. There is a 48%
reduction in death over two years compared to
patients who receive usual care.

Alcohol

Alcohol contributes to more than 200 health
conditions and injuries, including cancer, heart
disease, stroke, mental health and memory
problems. In England, alcohol misuse is the
biggest risk factor contributing to early death,
poor health and disability for people aged 15 to 49
years old.
More than 100,000 people (one in four adults)
in Buckinghamshire are drinking above the
recommended levels and risking their health,
often without realising it. Further statistics are in
the 2019 Director of Public Health Annual Report
which focuses on alcohol.
Alcohol misuse does not just affect the individual
who is drinking too much but also impacts on the
people around them, including their children and
families and the wider community.
Children of parents who are alcohol dependent
are more likely to experience difficulties at school,
to consider suicide and to become dependent
drinkers themselves. These children are also more
likely to go into the care of the local authority.
Alcohol also plays a significant role in domestic
violence, crime and road traffic accidents.

12

England’s Chief Medical Officer advises that to
keep harm from alcohol to a low level, people
should not drink more than 14 units across a week
on a regular basis. This advice is the same for
men and women

Alcohol misuse treatment in hospitals

Nationally, 13-20% of all hospital admissions
are alcohol-related. Consultant-led alcohol
care teams have been shown to both improve
the care for patients who misuse alcohol, and
to reduce impact on the health care system.
Patients benefit from these teams by having their
needs addressed more quickly and appropriately.
Alcohol care teams can also deliver a reduction in
the number of days patients with alcohol-misuse
are in hospital. They produce savings to the NHS
of £286,000 per 100,000 population.

Physical activity

Physical activity has major health and social
benefits. It increases physical and mental
wellbeing, educational attainment and social
interaction. It also reduces and delays the onset of
many long-term health conditions. The benefits to
health start at just 30 minutes of physical activity
a week, but more than a quarter of UK adults fail
to achieve this.
For adults the recommended level of physical
activity is 150 minutes of moderate intensity
physical activity per week. This is the level that
makes you breathe a little harder and feel a little
warmer. People can talk but not sing while doing
moderate intensity physical activity. For further
information on physical activity see the Director of
Public Health Annual Report on Physical Activity.
Physical activity reduces the risk of a wide range
of health conditions as shown overleaf.

Page 36

3. HEALTHY BEHAVIOURS

40%

Cognitive
decline

25%

19%

Colorectal
cancer

Coronary heart
disease and stroke

20%
35%

Type 2
diabetes

Breast
cancer

Regular
physical activity
can reduce
health risks

66%

33%

Hypertension

48%

Bone
fractures

Depression

30%

Adapted from Public Health England

All-cause
mortality

Meanwhile, inactivity contributes to as many
deaths in the UK as smoking and is the fourth
leading risk factor for mortality worldwide.
Physical inactivity costs the UK economy £7.4
billion a year.

How to increase physical activity

Building physical activity into everyday life is one
of the easiest ways to increase physical activity,
for example. using active travel such as walking
or cycling as part of the daily life. However
the environments in which we live also affect
people’s desire and ability to be physically active,
for example the availability of safe, attractive
environments in which to play, walk or cycle.

13

The NHS can help advise people about the
benefits of physical activity and this has been
shown to be very effective. ‘Moving Medicine’
promotes healthy conversations between
healthcare professionals and members of the
public. One in four people would be more active
if they were advised by a GP or a nurse; however,
almost three quarters of GPs say they do not
discuss the benefits of physical activity with their
patients.
Walking is a safe and sustainable form of physical
activity and has instant benefits as shown
overleaf.

Page 37

3. HEALTHY BEHAVIOURS

How walking aff ects the body

3

min.

5

min.

5-10
min.

outside

Blood
pressure
decreases

14

Mood
improves

Creative
thinking
improves

15

30

min.

min.

after meals

after meals

Blood
sugar level
decreases

Page 38

Helps to
lose weight
(depending
on walking
speed)

40

90

min.

min.

outside

Reduces the risk
of developing
coronary heart
disease in the
elderly

Reduces the
number of
depressive
thoughts

3. HEALTHY BEHAVIOURS

Healthy eating and obesity
Healthy eating

A balanced diet is essential for health. An unhealthy diet is one of the leading risk factors for a wide
range of conditions, including cancer and dementia. A healthy diet includes a variety of different foods
that include the wide range of nutrients our bodies need, as illustrated by the Eatwell Guide.

It is three times more expensive to get the energy we need from healthy foods than unhealthy foods.
The food and drink we consume is heavily influenced by the environment around us. In 2017, over £300
million was spent on advertising soft drinks, confectionary and sweet and savoury snacks, compared
to £16 million spent on advertising fruit and vegetables.

Overweight and obesity

Overweight and obesity are the result of an imbalance of calorie intake and physical activity. More
than 50% of adults in Buckinghamshire are overweight or obese. The gap between the most and
the least deprived groups has widened over the past 10 years, with the most deprived groups having
higher levels of obesity. Projections suggest that if this trend continues as many as one in three
children in the most deprived areas will be obese by 2030.
The amount we eat is very important as the chart overleaf shows, with today’s high energy density
foods it is very hard to outrun an unhealthy diet.

15

Page 39

3. HEALTHY BEHAVIOURS

10 calorie-dense food and drinks and their activity equivalence
FOOD TYPE

CALORIES
APPROX.

WALK OFF K/CAL
(medium walk 3-5mph)

RUN OFF K/CAL
(slow running 5mph)

Sugary soft drink
(330ml can)

138

26 min

13 min

Standard chocolate bar

229

42 min

22 min

445

1 hr 22 min

42 min

449

1 hr 23 min

43 min

Medium mocha coffee

290

53 min

28 min

Packet of crisps

171

31 min

16 min

Sandwich
(chicken and bacon)
Large pizza
(1/4 pizza)

Overweight and obesity increase the risk of
developing a wide range of conditions. Obese
adults are more likely to develop diabetes, certain
cancers and dementia. We now know that people
who are overweight or obese who contract
coronavirus (COVID-19) are more likely to fall
seriously ill and be admitted to intensive care unit.
Obese adults aged 65 and older are up to twice
as likely to require social care support as older
adults with a healthy weight.
Obesity costs the UK 3% of its GDP (£60 billion in
2018) through direct medical costs and its impact
on productivity. The NHS spends an estimated
£6.1 billion each year on the impacts of obesity
and the costs of treating obesity.

Tackling unhealthy behaviours

While we cherish the idea of free choice, much
of our behaviour is also strongly shaped by our
environment, often without us realising. The
cues that shape much of our behaviour can be
found in the physical, economic, digital, social
and commercial environments we inhabit. For
example, price, advertising and availability

16

influence our consumption of cigarettes,
unhealthy food and alcohol. Safe and attractive
places to play or safe cycling and walking routes
to school and work influence people’s physical
activity levels.
Evidence shows that interventions that alter
our environments to promote health, such as
structural changes, require little or no action from
individuals, see the largest population health
gains and also gains in the most vulnerable
communities compared to individual-based
approaches.
Interventions that seek to change individual
behaviour without addressing the wider
environment are likely to have less impact. For
example, more than 50% of the population are
overweight or obese. A strategy that focuses
solely on changing the behaviour of individuals
one person at a time cannot reverse this
epidemic. A whole system approach at population
level is required that addresses a wide range
of factors such as food formulation, pricing,
advertising, availability and social norms.

Page 40

3. HEALTHY BEHAVIOURS

4. Our health at a glance
Further detailed information about the health of
Buckinghamshire residents can be found in the
Data Compendium that accompanies this report
but a high level summary is provided below.
There are approximately 540,000 people living in
Buckinghamshire. Our population’s age profile is
similar to the England average but with a lower
proportion of people aged 20-34 years and a
slightly higher proportion of people over 85 years
old.
One in seven people are from a black, asian or
minority ethnic group, which is lower than the
England average but this rises to one in three for
school age children.
Buckinghamshire residents generally enjoy better
health and wellbeing than the England average.
This reflects Buckinghamshire’s position as one
of the least deprived authorities in England and
the favourable conditions in which our residents
live. Over one third of our residents live in the
10% least deprived wards in England. 0.3% of the
Buckinghamshire live in the 20% most deprived
areas in England.

17

In terms of the factors that influence health,
our residents have generally higher levels of
educational attainment, income, employment
and better living conditions than the England
average. This affects their health as well as
their opportunity to adopt healthy behaviours.
However, although we are an affluent county
almost one in 10 children and young people and
7.7% of people aged over 65 years live in poverty
in Buckinghamshire, which will increase their risk
of poorer health.
Life expectancy at birth and the years lived in
good health are both higher than the England
average. Life expectancy at birth is 85.1 years for
females (83.1 for England) and 81.8 years for males
(79.6 England) in Buckinghamshire. Healthy
life expectancy at birth is 70.3 for female (63.8
England) and 68.8 for male (63.4 in England)
Outcomes for Buckinghamshire children and
young people are generally better than the
England average. The proportion of women
smoking in pregnancy and babies born at low
birthweight are lower than the England average.
Smoking rates among young people are lower

Page 41

4. OURHEALTHATAGLANCE

than the England average but teenage alcohol
consumption is similar to the England average.
Young people achieve well at school and better
than the England average but the proportion
of 16-17 year olds not in education or training
is similar to the England average. England data
shows an increase in the proportion of young
people with mental health problems. There has
been an observed increase in the number of
mental health admissions and admissions for
self-harm in young people locally although rates
remain lower than the England average.
Adults in Buckinghamshire are also generally
healthier than the England average. Although
rates of smoking are lower than the England
average, one in 10 adults (more than 42,000)
people still smoke. A higher percentage of
Buckinghamshire adults drink more alcohol
than the recommended limit and more than half
of adults in Buckinghamshire are an unhealthy
weight amounting to approximately 208,000
adults. Physical activity levels are similar to the
England average.
Despite our better health many residents
experience potentially avoidable ill health and
disability. The major causes of disease, disability
and death in Buckinghamshire among adults
are long-term conditions, many of which are
potentially preventable. Long-term conditions
include diseases such as heart disease, cancer
and diabetes and account for 70% of spend
on health and social care. Half of our residents
have at least one long-term condition and three
in 10 have two or more long-term conditions.
People with multiple long-term conditions (multimorbidity) tend to have lower quality of life,
more problems with co-ordinating their care and
greater use of healthcare services. The prevalence
of multiple long-term conditions tends to increase
with age but this is not inevitable if people
have healthy behaviours. The onset of multiple
conditions often occurs 10-15 years earlier in more
deprived communities.
The top risk factors in Buckinghamshire that
increase the risk of disease and death are
behavioural risk factors (diet, smoking, alcohol
and physical inactivity) and so called metabolic
risk factors (high blood pressure, high cholesterol
and overweight/obesity).The three metabolic risk
factors are influenced to a very large extent by
18

diet and levels of physical inactivity as well as
other factors like alcohol consumption.
The prevalence of many long-term conditions is
lower than the England average. This is the case
for diabetes, heart disease, chronic lung disease
and serious mental illness. The recorded rates
of asthma, high blood pressure, depression and
dementia are similar to the England average. The
rates of many cancers are lower than the England
average but rates of breast cancer and malignant
melanoma (a form of skin cancer) are higher than
the England average.
The top four causes of death in Buckinghamshire
are cancer and cardiovascular diseases
accounting for 58% of all deaths followed by
respiratory disease and neurological disorders
such as dementia.
Although overall our health is good, this varies
across Buckinghamshire between different
communities. People living in the more deprived
areas of Buckinghamshire experience poorer
health from birth through to old age.
Premature death rates (for people under 75 years)
have fallen overall. Life expectancy has increased
for men and women in Buckinghamshire since
2001, although life expectancy for women started
to plateau in 2011 in line with England trends.
People living in the more deprived areas of
Buckinghamshire have lower life expectancy than
those living in the least deprived areas and this
gap has widened in line with England trends.
The years people can expect to live in good health
(healthy life expectancy) in Buckinghamshire has
increased and shows a similar pattern of longer
healthy life expectancy in less deprived areas.
The incidence of different illnesses also varies
between communities for example there are
higher rates of diabetes, heart disease and
high blood pressure in some black and asian
communities. Other groups in Buckinghamshire
also often have poorer health than the
Buckinghamshire average – this includes carers,
people with mental health problems or learning
disability and homeless people.
The next section highlights the variations in
health at a local level in Buckinghamshire.

Page 42

4. OURHEALTHATAGLANCE

Patterns of health

Within Buckinghamshire there are considerable differences in health and wellbeing
between different population groups and communities. Understanding these
differences and what is driving them presents a great opportunity to work with
communities to help improve health and wellbeing and quality of life for residents.
This section presents a high-level view of health from our existing statistics at a local
geographical level. What it cannot capture is the views of communities themselves
about the key issues from their perspective and what the solutions might be. Gaining
insight from communities is a vital part of the jigsaw.

19

Page 43

4. OURHEALTHATAGLANCE

Local patterns

People in the most deprived quintile (DQ5) are:

The variations in health that exist reflect a variety
of factors, including the conditions in which people
are born, grow, learn, work and age. The index
of multiple deprivation is an England measure
combining information on a range of indicators,
including income, housing, employment and
education, many of which influence people’s health.
Locally we can analyse the impact of relative
deprivation on health by dividing the population of
Buckinghamshire into fifths (called quintiles) based
on the deprivation score of the area in which they
live. Each quintile contains approximately 100,000
people. Map 1 (overleaf ) shows the deprivation
quintiles within Buckinghamshire relative to
Buckinghamshire. The most deprived areas are
shaded red. The least deprived are purple.
The analysis shows that starting from birth and
continuing throughout life, people living in the most
deprived areas tend to have poorer health across a
wide range of areas. These health outcomes often
show a stepwise gradient with people living in the
most deprived areas having the worst outcomes,
followed by those living in the second most
deprived areas. The best outcomes are experienced
by those in the least deprived areas.
So for children and young people - comparing the
most deprived quintile 5 (Q5) and least deprived
quintile 1 (Q1):
Babies and children in the most deprived quintile
(DQ5) are:
•
•
•
•
•
•

Almost twice as likely to be born low birth
weight babies at full term.
30% more likely to die before their first birthday.
More than twice as likely not to reach the
‘school readiness’ developmental milestone at
end of school reception year (35% vs. 16%).
More than twice as likely to be obese by end of
primary school compared with children in DQ1
(22% vs. 9%).
34% more likely to have an emergency
admission to hospital.
More than five times more likely to be ‘looked
after’ children.

And for people of all ages comparing the most
deprived quintile 5 (Q5) and least deprived quintile
1 (Q1):
20

•
•
•

•
•

•
•

More than 2.5 times more likely to smoke than
people in DQ1 (22.8% vs 8.9%).
More than twice as likely to be in treatment for
alcohol use and four times more likely to be in
treatment for drug use.
More likely to have a long-term condition and
multiple long-term conditions. People living in
more deprived areas develop multiple long-term
conditions 10 years earlier than people living in
less deprived areas.
More than 60% more likely to have an
emergency admission to hospital.
More than 60% more likely to have an
emergency admission for conditions like heart
disease and stroke, 71% more likely to have
emergency admissions for cancer, more than
twice as likely to have an emergency admission
for mental health or self-harm, and three times
more likely to have admissions for chronic
obstructive pulmonary disease(COPD).
Have a premature death rate (deaths under
75 years) twice as high as those in the least
deprived quintile.
Women living in the most deprived quintile in
Buckinghamshire can expect to live for 4.8 years
less than women living in the least deprived
areas. Men living in the most deprived quintile
in Buckinghamshire can expect to live 6.1 years
less than men living in the least deprived areas.
The gap in life expectancy has widened since
2001 as life expectancy has grown faster in the
least deprived quintile than the most deprived
quintile.

Patterns in healthy life expectancy

Healthy life expectancy (HLE) varies across
Buckinghamshire. In Oakridge and Castlefield
(Wycombe), male HLE is 56.6 years, compared
with Chesham Bois and Weedon Hill where male
HLE is 76.2 years. In Southcourt (Aylesbury) female
HLE is 57.5 years, compared to Chesham Bois and
Weedon Hill where female HLE is 79.1 years.
Map 2 shows the variation in healthy life
expectancy across Buckinghamshire for women
and Map 3 for men. Healthy life expectancy is
shown by graded colours – dark green represents
areas with the longest average healthy life
expectancy and dark red indicates areas with the
shortest healthy life expectancy.

Page 44

4. OURHEALTHATAGLANCE

Map 1: Map showing deprivation quintiles of areas in Buckinghamshire
compared with the rest of the county, Index of Multiple Deprivation 2019.

21

Page 45

4. OURHEALTHATAGLANCE

Map 2: showing the variation in healthy life expectancy across
Buckinghamshire for women.

22

Page 46

4. OURHEALTHATAGLANCE

Map 3: showing the variation in healthy life expectancy across
Buckinghamshire for men.

23

Page 47

4. OURHEALTHATAGLANCE

The gap in healthy life expectancy in Buckinghamshire

On average residents in more deprived areas spend a greater proportion of their shorter lives in poor
health.
For example, in Gerrards Cross, women on average spend less than 12 years of their life (13% of their
life) not in good health, compared to Oakridge and Castlefield in High Wycombe where women can
expect to spend over 25 years (over 30% of their life) in not good health.
In Gerrards Cross, men on average spend around nine years (11% of their life) not in good health,
compared to Oakridge and Castlefield in High Wycombe where men can expect to spend over 21 years
(27% of their life) in not good health.

Premature deaths

The rate of premature death (death
under the age of 75 years) is twice as
high for the most deprived quintile in
Buckinghamshire as it is for the least
deprived quintile (2018-19).

Premature mortality rates (under 75 years old) by
deprivation quintile 2016-18

The graph to the right shows death
rates from all causes for people under
the age of 75 in Buckinghamshire
by deprivation quintile. Premature
mortality has a clear social gradient,
and shows a stepwise increase in
the rates of early death increase with
increasing deprivation.
It is estimated that 3,444 premature
deaths in Buckinghamshire between
2003 and 2018 can be attributed to
poorer socioeconomic conditions1.

In Buckinghamshire when compared to DQ1 people in DQ5 are:

59%

more likely to die
prematurely from
cancer.

2.3 x

more likely to die
prematurely from
cardiovascular
disease.

3.4 x

more likely to
die prematurely
from frespiratory
disease.

If the rates of premature deaths (under age 75) in the least deprived decile are applied to other deciles, we can
compare what the expected death rate would be with the actual death rate and estimate how many early deaths
can be attributed to socioeconomic inequalities. SOURCE: https://public.tableau.com/profile/rob.aldridge#!/
vizhome/MATI_19_11_25/MATI_dashboard
1

24

Page 48

4. OURHEALTHATAGLANCE

Life expectancy across Buckinghamshire

Life expectancy varies across Buckinghamshire from 76.6 years (Riverside) to 87.5 years (Grendon
Underwood and Brill) for men and 80.2 years (Riverside) to 94.3 (Beaconsfield North) for women. The
variation in life expectancy across Buckinghamshire is shown in Map 4.
Public Health England uses a measure called the slope index of inequality to measure the gap in life
expectancy across Buckinghamshire. On this measure the Buckinghamshire gap in life expectancy
is narrower than the gap in England for men and women but wider than the gap in the neighbouring
counties of Oxfordshire and West Berkshire.
Map 4: Life expectancy (persons), 2014-18, by ward

25

Page 49

4. OURHEALTHATAGLANCE

What are the main conditions responsible for the gap in life expectancy?

For men living in Buckinghamshire, 72% of the life expectancy gap is explained by more deaths from
circulatory disease (such as stroke or coronary heart disease), cancer and respiratory disease which
account for 33%, 21.9% and 18% of the gap respectively.
For women living in Buckinghamshire 55% of the life expectancy gap in women is explained by more
deaths from respiratory disease, circulatory disease and cancer accounting for 19.5%, 18.6 and 16.9%
respectively of the life expectancy gap between the most deprived quintile.

Scarf chart showing the breakdown of the life expectancy gap between the most deprived
quintile and least deprived quintile of Buckinghamshire, by broad cause of death, 2015-17.

26

Page 50

4. OURHEALTHATAGLANCE

Community Boards

Community Boards are the new partnership forums for local people, town and parish councils,
community groups, police, healthcare organisations and residents to work with Buckinghamshire
Council to understand and respond to local needs more effectively. There are 16 Community Boards
across Buckinghamshire as shown on the map below.
Local profiles for each Community Board have been produced highlighting the opportunities
community boards have to make a difference to local resident’s health and wellbeing.
Some headlines describing the variations in health between community boards are described overleaf.

Buckinghamshire Community Boards

27

Page 51

4. OURHEALTHATAGLANCE

Demographics

The Community Board with the highest proportion
of low birth weight babies was High Wycombe
(8.2%) (2016/18). Buckingham and Villages
Community Board had the lowest proportion of
low birth weight babies (4.6%).

Populations
The Community Boards vary in size from High
Wycombe and Aylesbury, which are the two
largest, with populations of 75,449 and 70,335,
respectively to Wexham and Ivers with a
population of 14,465 people.

Early years

The most ethnically diverse Community Boards
are High Wycombe, Wexham and Ivers and
Aylesbury having 36.3%, 20.7% and 20.6%,
respectively, of their populations who are black,
asian or a minority ethnicity group (BAME). This
compares to Winslow and Villages for which only
2.9% of their population is BAME.
The most deprived Community Boards are High
Wycombe and Aylesbury with an Index of Multiple
Deprivation (IMD) 2019 score of 16.31 and 16.14,
respectively, followed by Wexham and Ivers
Community Board with a score of 12.05. The IMD
score for Buckinghamshire is 10.05. Missendens
is the least deprived Community Board with a
score of 4.50. Child poverty2 ranges from 4.96% in
Missendens Community Board to 15.26% in High
Wycombe and 13.21% in Aylesbury Community
Board.
The age profiles of the Community Boards also
vary. The Community Board with the highest
proportion of under-5s is High Wycombe where
7.6% of its population is under 5 years old. 7.2%
of Aylesbury’s population is under-5 years old.
Winslow and Villages Community Board has the
lowest proportion of under-5s with 4.3%.
The Community Board with the highest proportion
of people aged 85 years and older is Denham,
Gerrards Cross and Chalfonts (4.2%). Missendens
has 3.8% of its population aged 85 years and
older. This compares to High Wycombe which has
with the lowest proportion (1.7%) of people in this
age group.

Births

In 2018 there were 5,988 births in
Buckinghamshire. The Community Board with
the highest number of births was High Wycombe
(1,183 live births) followed by Aylesbury (932 live
births). The Community Board with the lowest
number of births was Missendens Community
Board (117 live births).
2

Early years foundation stage progress (EYFSP) is
a measure of social, psychological and academic
development at the age of five. Differences
between the average score achieved in different
community board areas can indicate differences in
early schooling, economic or social factors.
Across Buckinghamshire the average EYFSP
scores vary by community board, with the
percentage of children being assessed as having
achieved a good level of development ranging
from the highest at 82.5% in Beaconsfield and
Chepping Wye to the lowest at 64.2% in High
Wycombe Community Board. Overall, 80% of
community boards in Buckinghamshire achieve
EYFSP scores above the England average of 72%.

Life expectancy and healthy life
expectancy

Life expectancy is highest in the Amersham
Community Board area at 85.8 years. The lowest
is in the Aylesbury Community Board area at
81.5 years and High Wycombe at 81.9 years. The
Community Boards for Aylesbury, Beeches, High
Wycombe, Wendover and Wexham and Ivers all
have life expectancies statistically significantly
lower than Buckinghamshire.
The overall life expectancy at Community Board
level masks significant variation in life expectancy
at ward level. For example, in the High Wycombe
Community Board life expectancy ranges from
79.5 (Booker and Cressex) to 84.2 (Terriers and
Amersham Hill ward).
Across Buckinghamshire, the number of years
people live in good health varies across the
county. The number of years spent in good
health varies within Community Board areas. For
example, within the Beaconsfield and Chepping
Wye Community Board area, the healthy life
expectancy for women ranges from 65.6 years
to 74.1 years living in good health. For men living
in the Denham, Gerrards Cross and Chalfont
Community Board area, healthy life expectancy

Child poverty is reported as the proportion of children aged 0-15 years living in income deprived families.

28

Page 52

4. OURHEALTHATAGLANCE

ranges from 65.3 years to 74.8 years depending
on where the man lives.

Healthy behaviours

Health related behaviours account for a very
significant burden of ill health in our population
and behaviours vary across and within
Community Boards. Smoking, alcohol, childhood
healthy weight are the indicators for healthy
behaviours included in Community Board profiles.
Smoking
General Practice records show there are high
levels of smoking in some Community Board
areas. 20.4% of adults aged 15 and older smoke
in Aylesbury Community Board and 19.9% in High
Wycombe. This compares to 10% of adults aged
over 15 in Amersham Community Board area.
Substance misuse
The number of people using the county’s
substance misuse service varies across the
Community Boards. Aylesbury has 116 individuals
currently receiving support for alcohol addiction
and 62 for alcohol and non-opiate drugs
combined. Wycombe has 99 individuals receiving
support for alcohol addiction and 53 for alcohol
and non-opiate drugs combined. Wexham and
Ivers Community Board has only 21 residents
receiving any substance misuse services.
Childhood healthy weight
Almost 40% of Year 6 pupils who live in the
Wexham and Ivers Community Board area
are overweight or obese which is the highest
proportion in Buckinghamshire. This compares to
20.6% of Year 6 pupils in Denham, Gerrards Cross
and Chalfonts.

Emergency hospital admissions

All causes for all ages
The rate of emergency hospital admissions for
all causes for people of all ages for 2018/19 was
highest for Aylesbury Community Board followed
by High Wycombe Community Board. The rate
was lowest for Amersham Community Board.
Other Community Boards where admissions
were statistically significantly higher than
Buckinghamshire and England are Beeches and
Wexham and Ivers.

29

All causes for under-5s
For all Buckinghamshire Community Boards the
rate of emergency admissions for children under
five is statistically significantly higher compared
to England.
Missendens Community Board had the highest
rate for emergency hospital admissions for under5s. North West Chilterns, Aylesbury and High
Wycombe were all statistically significantly higher
than the Buckinghamshire average.
The rate was lowest for Beaconsfield and
Chepping Wye Community Board.

Long-term conditions

The majority of people in Buckinghamshire
have at least one long-term condition. Two
of the commonest long-term conditions in
Buckinghamshire are diabetes and depression.
There are over 27,000 people (6.1% of people 17
and older) in Buckinghamshire with diabetes.
The prevalence for diabetes for each Community
Board ranges from 3.3% in Missendens to 7.6% in
High Wycombe. Aylesbury and Wexham and Ivers
each have 7.0% of their adult populations with
diabetes.
Over 10.7% of all adults in Buckinghamshire
have been recorded on GP registers as having
depression amounting to 47,251 people. The
highest recorded prevalence of recorded
depression is found in Aylesbury where 14.7% of
adults are recorded as having depression. Wing
and Ivinghoe has 13.8% (1,940) of adults recorded
as having depression. The lowest prevalence is
in Missendens where 6.9% (875) of adults are
recorded with depression.

Dementia

According to GP records, there are 4,475 people
(0.8% of the population) in Buckinghamshire with
dementia. Community Boards with the highest
recorded prevalence of dementia is Denham,
Gerrards Cross and Chalfonts Community
Board at 1.1% of the population (437 people). The
community boards with the largest numbers of
people with dementia are Aylesbury (449) and
High Wycombe (447).
Other Community Boards with relatively higher
prevalences of dementia are Beeches (0.9%) and

Page 53

4. OURHEALTHATAGLANCE

North West Chilterns (0.9%). Winslow and Villages
has the lowest reported dementia at 0.5% of the
population (80 people).
Dementia-friendly communities are vital for
helping people live with dementia and remain
a part of their community. Dementia-friendly
initiatives are currently in the following Community
Board areas:
•

Preventable deaths

Preventable deaths rates are for causes of death
which are considered preventable in people under
75 years old. The community board with the
highest rate of preventable deaths is Aylesbury
Community Board followed by Wexham and
Ivers and High Wycombe Community Boards.
The Community Board with the lowest rate is
Haddenham and Waddesdon Community Board.

Aylesbury, Buckingham and Villages, South
West Chilterns, Wendover, and High Wycombe

Primary care networks

Since July 2019 primary care has been organised
into 12 primary care networks (PCNs). Each of
these covers a population of approximately 30,000
to 50,000 patients and includes several general
practices. PCNs will help deliver the NHS LongTerm Plan and provide a wider range of services
to patients. PCNs will take a proactive a holistic
approach to improving their population’s health
The table and maps below show the alignment of
the primary care networks and the Community
Boards.

Over the next few years the plan is for the
networks to have expanded neighbourhood
teams. These teams will include a range of
health and social care professionals to ensure
communities get the care and support they need.
Profiles for each of the 12 Buckinghamshire PCNs
have been produced highlighting opportunities to
improve the health of their population and some
headlines are reproduced here.

Primary Care Networks (PCN) and Community Board alignment
Community Board
Buckingham and villages
Winslow and villages
Wing and Ivinghoe
Haddenham and Waddesdon
North West Chilterns
Aylesbury
Wendover
Chesham and villages
Amersham
Missendens
High Wycombe
Beaconsfield and Chepping Wye
South West Chilterns
Denham, Gerrards Cross and Chalfonts
Beeches
Wexham and Ivers
30

Page 54

PCN
North Bucks
North Bucks
North Bucks
North Bucks/AV South
AV South
BMW/Maple
Westongrove
Chesham and Little Chalfont
Mid Chilterns
Mid Chilterns
Dashwood/Cygnet
Arc Bucks
Arc Bucks
Chalfonts/South Bucks
South Bucks
South Bucks
4. OURHEALTHATAGLANCE

Primary Care Networks in Buckinghamshire CCG

31

Page 55

4. OURHEALTHATAGLANCE

Demographics

Populations
The primary care networks vary in size from Arc
with 84,009 to Westongrove with 29,285 people.
The most deprived primary care networks are
B.M.W. (Aylesbury) and Maple (Aylesbury) with
Index of Multiple Deprivation (IMD) scores of
17.61 and 15.77, respectively. Other PCNs above
the Buckinghamshire average deprivation are
South Bucks, Cygnet (High Wycombe) and
Dashwood (High Wycombe). The IMD score for
Buckinghamshire is 10.05. The Chalfonts is the
least deprived primary care network with a score
of 4.95.
Across the PCNs there is variation in the age
structure of each community. The PCN with
the highest proportion of under-5s is BMW
PCN (Aylesbury) where 9.0% of its patients
are under five years old. The PCN with second
highest proportion of under-5s is Cygnet (High
Wycombe) with 6.6%. The Chalfonts PCN has the
lowest proportion of under-5s with 4.3%.
The PCN with the highest proportion of people
aged 85 years and older is The Chalfonts (3.7%)
followed by Mid Chiltern (3.3%). The PCN with
the lowest proportion of people in this age group
is B.M.W (1.1%).

Births

The PCN with the highest proportion of low
birth weight babies was B.M.W. in Aylesbury
(8.5%) followed by Maple in Aylesbury (8.4%).
Westongrove PCN had the lowest proportion of
low birth weight babies (5.9%).

Life Expectancy

The PCNs with the lowest life expectancy
in Buckinghamshire are BMW (80.5 years)
and Maple (80.7 years) where life expectancy
is statistically significantly lower than
Buckinghamshire. Mid Chiltern PCN has the
highest life expectancy with 85.2 years followed
by Arc PCN with 85.1 years.

Healthy behaviours

Smoking
General Practice records show there are higher
levels of smoking in some PCNs compared to
the Buckinghamshire average. According to
32

GP records there are 58,297 current smokers in
Buckinghamshire. GP records report that 14.7%
of patients aged 15 years and older smoke. This is
higher than the England survey estimate of 10.3%
for Buckinghamshire.
21.1% of adults aged 15 and older in BMW PCN
(Aylesbury) smoke. For Maple PCN (Aylesbury),
19.0% of its adults aged 15 and older smoke. This
compares to The Chalfonts PCN which has the
lowest smoking prevalence of 9.8% for 15+ year
olds.
Substance misuse
The number of people using the county’s
substance misuse service varies across the
primary care networks. Arc PCN has 120
individuals receiving support for alcohol addiction
or alcohol and non-opiate drugs combined.
Dashwood PCN (High Wycombe) has 115
individuals receiving care for alcohol addiction or
alcohol and non-opiated drugs combined. This
compares to The Chalfonts PCN which has 20
patients receiving support.

Emergency hospital admissions

All cause emergency admissions for all ages
The rate of emergency hospital admissions for
all causes for people of all ages for 2018/19 was
highest for BMW PCN followed by Dashwood,
Maple and South Bucks PCNs. These four
PCNs were significantly higher compared to
Buckinghamshire and England.
The PCNs with the lowest emergency admission
rates were Arc and Mid Chiltern PCNs.
All cause emergency admissions for under-5s
For all Buckinghamshire primary care networks,
the rate of emergency admissions for children
under five is statistically significantly higher
compared to England.
Maple PCN had the highest rate for emergency
hospital admissions for under-5s. Dashwood and
BMW were also both statistically significantly
higher than the Buckinghamshire average.
The rate was lowest for The Chalfonts PCN, but
the rate for this PCN is still higher than England.

Page 56

4. OURHEALTHATAGLANCE

Long-term conditions

prevalence is in Mid Chilterns PCN where 6.8%
(2,264) of adults are recorded with depression.

The majority of people in Buckinghamshire
have at least one long-term condition. Two
of the commonest long-term conditions in
Buckinghamshire are diabetes and depression.

Dementia

The prevalence for diabetes in Buckinghamshire
is 6.1% of adults aged 17 and over. The diabetes
prevalence for each PCN ranges from 3.4% in Mid
Chilterns PCN (1,130 people) to 9.4% in Dashwood
PCN (3,324 people). Maple PCN has 6.9% of its
adult population with diabetes.
Over 10.7% of all adults in Buckinghamshire
have been recorded on GP registers as having
depression amounting to 47,251 people. The
highest recorded prevalence of recorded
depression is found in BMW PCN where
15.8% (4,537) of adults are recorded as having
depression. Dashwood PCN has 15.2% (5,356) of
adults recorded as having depression. The lowest

33

According to GP records, there are 4,475 people
(0.8% of the population) in Buckinghamshire
with dementia. The primary care networks with
the highest recorded prevalence of dementia
are Westongrove (1.2%, 342 people) and The
Chalfonts PCN (1.1%, 354 people). The PCNs with
the largest numbers of people with dementia are
Arc PCN (651), South Buckinghamshire (413) and
North Buckinghamshire (413).
Other primary care networks with relatively
higher prevalences of dementia are AV
South PCN (0.9%), Arc (0.8%) and South
Buckinghamshire (0.8%). Maple PCN and
Chesham and Little Chalfont PCN have the lowest
reported dementia at 0.5% of the population (213
and 178 people, respectively).

Page 57

4. OURHEALTHATAGLANCE

5. Health trends
100 years ago

The Annual Report on the Public Health of
Buckinghamshire, published by the County
Council’s Medical Officer in 1920 identified the
health issues of the day.
At this time life expectancy was approximately 55
years for men and 60 years for women. Infectious
diseases took a huge toll on the population
and the report included lists of the numbers
of children who had died from diphtheria,
measles, whooping cough, influenza, scarlet
fever and polio. Smallpox had just reappeared in
Buckinghamshire after eight years without any
cases, and spread very rapidly before cases could
be isolated in special hospitals. The report also
makes passing reference to the First World War
and the ‘Spanish Flu’ pandemic, both of which
had taken a massive toll on public health in
previous years.
As there were no plumbed toilets or sewerage
systems in the rural areas contamination of
drinking water also caused a great deal of
sickness in Buckinghamshire.
The medical officer mentions an ‘appreciable
decrease in infantile mortality’ in 1919, and
pays tribute to the work of volunteers in newly
established ‘Infant Welfare Centres’ for their part
in achieving it. Many things have changed for
the better since then. The Infant Mortality Rate
for Buckinghamshire that was being celebrated
100 years ago was 62 deaths under the age of
one year for every thousand live births, whereas
today’s rate is 3.4 deaths per 1,000 live births
Life expectancy has also improved dramatically
and the introduction of vaccines and other
measures has reduced the incidence of many
infectious diseases. Tuberculosis rates have fallen
from 9.1 cases per 10,000 people living in the
county to 0.9 cases 10,000 population. The main
causes of disease and death are now long term
conditions such as heart disease and cancer.
Infectious diseases can still re-emerge as a
significant threat. Since this report was written
the world has suffered from the Coronavirus
34

pandemic which has severely affected people’s
lives and livelihoods and will have very far
reaching impacts on society. This highlights the
ongoing threat of newly emerging infectious
diseases and their ability to cause global
pandemics and the importance of good
communicable disease surveillance and response.
Other important issues include the growing
resistance of bacteria to antibiotics which
threatens to increase the risk of untreatable
infections and deaths from infectious diseases.
Finally, if immunisation rates fall then we would
see a return of many infectious diseases.
The NHS did not come into existence until after
the Second World War, and the consequences of
people’s need to pay for treatment recurs several
times in the report. This delayed people seeking
treatment until it was too late for treatment to be
effective.
Other things have not changed. There is mention
of the importance of working with GPs to prevent
illness, of trying to improve vaccination coverage
and of the crucial importance of the voluntary
sector in supporting health and wellbeing.

Page 58

5. HEALTHTRENDS

More recent trends

Trends in healthy behaviours

Smoking rates have fallen in both teenagers and
adults. 5% of 15 year old were current smokers in
2014/15 and 10% of adults are current smokers.
Although smoking rates in routine and manual
occupations have also fallen they remain double
the county average at 21%. Despite this good
progress there are more than 42,000 current
smokers in Buckinghamshire. There has been less
progress on women smoking in pregnancy and
levels have remained fairly constant fluctuating
between 7.5-8.8% of women smoking at the time
of delivery
Nationally regular E-cigarette use is rising but
among young people remains low at 4.9% of 11-18
year olds reporting they currently vape in 2018
and this figure falls to 0.8% among those who
have never smoked.
70% of Buckinghamshire adults are estimated to
be physically active with no significant change
over recent times. However this is likely to be an
overestimate as this is self-reported data which
consistently overestimates objectively measured
activity levels
The percentage of overweight or obese children
in Reception (age 4-5) has not changed
significantly since 2007/08, but the percentage of
children in Year 6 (age 9-10), who are overweight
or obese has increased by 9% slightly faster than
the England increase of 5%.
The percentage of adults who are overweight
or obese is estimated to have fallen by 10% over
the last 5 years but remains at 53.8% of the
population
Overall rates of alcohol-related hospital admission
rose by 26% between 2008/09 to 2017/18 but the
rate of alcohol related admissions in under-18s
fell. The rise in admissions due to legal and illegal
drugs in 15-24 year olds has more than doubled
over the same period. Although this represents
only 105 admissions between 2015-2018 it is a
trend that will be closely monitored and work is
ongoing to reduce substance misuse in all age
groups.

35

The teenage conception rate for under-18s in
Buckinghamshire has halved since 2011 and is
currently less than half the England rate. The rate
of new sexually transmitted infections in under25s has remained relatively constant since 2012
and is 25% lower than the England rate.

Health trends

The percentage of babies born at term with low
birthweight has remained relatively constant over
the last 10 years and is similar to the England
average. The infant mortality rate fluctuates year
on year due to the small number of infant deaths
with no clear improvement.
In Buckinghamshire within the last decade
the prevalence of some long-term conditions,
including depression, diabetes and cancer,
recorded on GP registers has increased
significantly by 50%, 25% and 90% respectively.
The prevalence of recorded dementia, serious
mental illness and chronic obstructive pulmonary
disease has also increased but from a much lower
base. The prevalence of diagnosed high blood
pressure, heart disease and asthma has remained
fairly constant.
The commonest cancers in Buckinghamshire
are breast, prostate, colorectal cancer, skin
and lung cancer. Breast cancer incidence
in Buckinghamshire has increased by 18.7%
compared to the England rise of 9.7% between
2001 and 2017 and the incidence of breast
cancer in Buckinghamshire is 15% higher than
England rate. The incidence of prostate cancer in
Buckinghamshire has fallen by 22% since 2001,
and is currently 8.5% lower than the England rate.
The incidence of lung cancer in Buckinghamshire
has increased by 2.8% but remains lower than the
England rate. The incidence of bowel cancer has
increased by 1.3% since 2001 and is similar to the
England rate. Suspected skin cancer referrals in
Buckinghamshire have increased by 79% since
2012/13, although England referral rates have
more than doubled over this period. Although
numbers are relatively small (141 cases diagnosed
in 2018) the incidence of malignant melanoma (a
type of skin cancer related to sun exposure) has
increased by 65%.

Page 59

5. HEALTHTRENDS

Trends in premature deaths

The all-cause premature death rate (deaths under the age of 75) has fallen by 30% in Buckinghamshire
between 2001-2017 and is currently 22.6% lower than the England average. The rates have fallen
across all deprivation quintiles but fastest in the least deprived (36.8% reduction). Progress in the more
deprived areas has been more uneven and prone to greater fluctuations with increases in death rates
in some years. The most notable is the increase in premature mortality rates for women in the most
deprived quintile between years 2012 and 2017.
Mortality rates
for females by
deprivation quintile
(all causes, under 75
years old)

Mortality rates
for males by
deprivation quintile
(all causes, under 75
years old)

Premature mortality for some of the main causes of death have fallen. Cardiovascular disease in
Buckinghamshire has halved since 2000 and is currently 27% lower than the England rate. The trend
has been similar across all deprivation quintiles. For cancer, premature mortality in Buckinghamshire
has fallen by 21% since 2001, and is 14% lower than the England average. Premature mortality for
respiratory diseases has shown a slight decrease, both locally and nationally, falling by 10.5% in
Buckinghamshire.

36

Page 60

5. HEALTHTRENDS

Life expectancy

Between 2001-03 and 2016-18 overall male life
expectancy in Buckinghamshire increased by 3.8
years and female life expectancy increased by 3.2
years. Female life expectancy in Buckinghamshire
appears to have slowed since 2011-13, in parallel
with the England trend for women.
Although all deprivation quintiles have seen
increases in life expectancy, the gains are slowest
in the most deprived quintile (DQ5). Men in DQ5
have gained an extra 3.3 years of life compared to
men in DQ1 who have gained 4.7 years between
2001 and 2018.
Female life expectancy in Buckinghamshire
increased approximately equally for all quintiles
until 2010 when female life expectancy for DQs 4
and 5 started to plateau while other quintiles have

continued to rise. As a result, women in DQ4 and
5 have gained an extra 2.4 and three years of life
expectancy, respectively, between 2001 and 2018,
while those in DQ1 and 2 have gained 3.4 and 3.6
years over the same period.
The overall impact is that the gap in life
expectancy between residents living in the least
deprived (DQ1) and most deprived areas (DQ5)
has grown over time for both men (from 4.7 to 6.1
years) and women (from 4.4 years to 4.8 years).

Healthy life expectancy

Healthy life expectancy in Buckinghamshire rose
from 68.6 years in 2009-11 to 70.3 years in 201517 for women, and from 67.6 years to 68.8 years
over the same period for men. In both cases the
England HLE has remained approximately 4-5
years less than Buckinghamshire.

Male life
expectancy at birth
by deprivation
quintile

Female life
expectancy at birth
by deprivation
quintile

37

Page 61

5. HEALTHTRENDS

6. What does the future hold?
To improve the health of our population we need
to understand current and future health needs.
This means we need to try to predict trends that
will affect our residents health, including the
age profile and ethnic mix of our communities,
trends in health behaviours, wider social and
economic trends and changes to the built and
natural environment in which they live. We can
do this partly by extrapolating from the recent
trends highlighted in the previous section but also
drawing on future predictions.

An ageing population

The good news is that people are living longer.
A consequence of this is that our population is
ageing. The population of Buckinghamshire aged
over 65 years and over 85 years is set to increase
by 23% and 43%, respectively between 2020 and
2030. As life expectancy increases we want to
ensure that those extra years are lived in as good
health as possible.
On current trends the ageing of our population
will increase the numbers of people with multiple
long term conditions and disability. Long term
conditions such as cancer, heart disease, stroke
and dementia already pose considerable health
challenges locally and nationally and already
account for approximately 70% of health and
social care spending.
The chances of someone ageing well are affected
by their health behaviours in mid-life. We know
that adopting healthy behaviours with respect
to the four main health behaviours (smoking,
physical activity, alcohol, healthy eating) reduces
the chances of developing disability, disease
and dementia in older age. Maintaining these
behaviours in later life is also vital for health
and independence. Ageing well also depends
on a variety of other factors, including people’s
social health, whether they have supportive
relationships or are socially isolated. Other key
factors include having sufficient income, living in
good quality housing and health promoting agefriendly social and physical environments.

3

Health behaviours

It is estimated that 40% of the disease burden
in England is due to four health behaviours –
smoking, physical inactivity, poor diet and harmful
alcohol consumption.
The prevalence of these four behaviours and the
consequent levels of obesity in the future will
have a critical impact on the future health of the
whole population and inequalities in health.
For smoking and alcohol, current trends appear
positive. Ipsos MORI analysed smoking, alcohol
and obesity for the two youngest generations
in Britain – Millennials (those born between
1980 and 1995) and Generation Z (born 1996
onwards). This revealed a continued decline in the
prevalence of smoking and alcohol consumption
in these groups.
However, there was a worrying generational trend
for obesity: in each successive generation adults
are less likely to be a healthy weight. Millennials
are the first generation where less than half are at
a healthy weight in their twenties. The likelihood
of being overweight increases with rising age and
based on population trends, more than seven in
every 10 Millennials3 will be overweight or obese
by the time they reach middle age.
There is also emerging evidence that
Generation Z is two to three times more likely
to become obese or overweight compared
with older generations in England. Therefore
Buckinghamshire’s recent decrease in obesity
and overweight is unlikely to maintained longer
term.
Previous England estimates have predicted that
the UK may reach obesity levels of 38%, which
would lead to an extra 544,000–668,000 people
with diabetes, 331,000–461,000 people with
coronary heart disease and strokes, and 87,000–
130,000 people with cancer in the UK.

Those born between 1981 and 1996.

38

Page 62

6. WHATDOES THEFUTUREHOLD?

Other health trends

Mental health problems have been rising in young
people and adults.
Improvements in life expectancy have slowed and
in some parts of the UK life expectancy has been
falling. The slowing down in the growth rate of life
expectancy is spread across all age groups but is
mostly seen in older people. In Buckinghamshire
we can see that life expectancy started to plateau
for women in 2011. For men life expectancy began
to plateau in 2014.
Local data show that the life expectancy gap in
Buckinghamshire between people living in the
most deprived areas (DQ5) and least deprived
areas (DQ1) increased between 2001 and 2018 for
both and women which mirrors England trends.

The physical, social and economic
environment

Changes that adversely impact social, economic
and environmental conditions will have a
detrimental effect on health but some, especially
economic conditions, are hard to predict.

Social health

The Academy of Medical Sciences report Improving
the Health of the Public by 2040 predicts that the
current nationally observed changes to household
structures, including higher separation rates, more
single parents, more same-sex partnerships and
more cohabitation, will continue. The number of
one-person households is expected to grow along
with a rise in sole-parent households and the
proportion of couples without children. If replicated
in Buckinghamshire this could have an impact on
the mental and physical health of residents if this
leads to more people becoming socially isolated or
lonely and having less informal support including
when they are ill.

39

Climate change

The 2015 Lancet Commission on Health and
Climate Change identified numerous health
impacts as a result of increased floods and intense
storms, heat stress, air pollution, the spread of
infectious diseases, food insecurity and migration.
This includes poorer mental health due to the
impact of extreme weather events and a wide
range of physical health problems and even death
from a range of causes including heat stress and
infectious diseases.

Emerging infectious diseases

Although we cannot predict when new infectious
diseases will emerge, we know that new diseases
will continue to affect the world’s population. It is
predicted that this may become more frequent as
the global population expands encroaching on the
natural habitat and brings us into closer contact
with diseases in animals. The world has recently
seen outbreaks of new diseases such as swine flu,
SARS, MERS and most recently COVID-19, all since
2003.

Housing and infrastructure growth

Housing and infrastructure growth in
Buckinghamshire could affect the health of our
residents. More affordable, well designed housing
and neighbourhoods with plenty of green and blue
natural spaces, places to meet and cultural and
leisure opportunities could improve health. Poor
design could result in a wide range of adverse
impacts, including neighbourhoods without
adequate community spaces, increased reliance
on the car and increased air and noise pollution,
insufficient mitigation of the impacts of climate
change and housing unsuitable for an ageing
population. Further details on the impact of our
physical and social environment on health can be
found in the 2018 Director of Public Health Report
Healthy Places, Healthy Futures: Growing Great
Communities.

Page 63

6. WHATDOES THEFUTUREHOLD?

7. What should we do?
We are already experiencing the impact of
many of the factors highlighted above and the
challenge is predicted to grow. So the actions we
need to take to secure a healthy and prosperous
future are the same ones we need to take now to
address our current health problems.

Health and wellbeing priorities

Based on knowledge of what influences our
health, current and future trends in health and
the determinants of health the priorities for focus
should be:
• Ensuring every child gets the best start in life.
• Promoting mental wellbeing for all.
• Addressing the big four health behaviours and
obesity at all ages.
• Preventing and delaying the development of
long-term conditions.
• Promoting safe, strong, empowered,
supportive communities.
• Improving the health of those with
poorest health so the health gap between
communities narrows.
• Planning for population growth, climate
change and an age-friendly society.
There is no single solution or magic bullet to
tackle these complex public health issues. We
need action across the four pillars influencing
health: the socioeconomic determinants, strong
communities, healthy behaviours and effective,
proactive, preventive health and social care.
We need to take action at a strategic level
and a very local neighbourhood level and put
communities and individuals at the heart of what
we do, engaging them at every stage.
This means delivering a whole systems
approach to prevention across all partners in
Buckinghamshire to promote good health. This
should include supporting effective, co-ordinated
place based working with local communities
across partners to avoid duplication and
maximise our impact. We also need to develop
our workforce to build skills in communitycentred approaches and help support a thriving
voluntary, community and social enterprise sector.

40

Taking action

Much good work is already underway across
a range of partners in many of these areas. We
are adopting a whole systems approach to scale
up prevention initiatives. Local government,
the NHS, and partners in Department for
Work and Pensions, Police and Fire services
in Buckinghamshire have signed up to the
Buckinghamshire Shared Approach to prevention.
These organisations have agreed to work together
on key prevention priorities to maximise the
impact of our collective efforts. They will take a
holistic approach to prevention across the four
pillars of social determinants, communities, health
behaviours and health and social care. Social
isolation has been chosen as the first priority for
shared action.
Each organisation will have different opportunities
to influence the health of residents and the
Buckinghamshire Council Public Health team is
working with each organisation to identify and
plan their contributions.
The formation of the new Community Boards
and the primary care networks offers exciting
opportunities to work with local communities at a
neighbourhood level, gaining insight into what the
key wellbeing issues are for their area and what
would work to address them. Buckinghamshire
council’s strong focus on empowering
communities and developing community assets
will support this work.
There are a wide range of ways for all
organisations in Buckinghamshire to make
a difference. I have highlighted below some
important opportunities for the NHS and
Buckinghamshire Council as the size of these
organisations and scope of their responsibilities
means they have a significant impact on
resident’s health.

Page 64

7. WHATSHOULDWEDO?

8. Recommendations
Buckinghamshire Council

The new Buckinghamshire Council can have a profound impact on the health of communities
across all of the four domains described above. Firstly, through its wide ranging roles on the social
determinants of health, including education, the built and natural environment, housing, transport
and supporting a thriving economy. The council also has a key role in promoting safe, friendly and
resilient communities and supporting sport, cultural and leisure opportunities. It commissions vital
public health services and services for children and adults and therefore has the opportunity to
improve health and wellbeing from the start to the end of life. It is also major employer which offers
opportunities to promote the health of the workforce and beyond and has very significant purchasing
power.
The diagram below illustrates the wide range of services that can have a positive impact on residents
health. If Buckinghamshire Council were to build health considerations into all its policies and services
that could have a very significant beneficial impact on the health of our residents.

Buckinghamshire Council can bring additional value to local communities and businesses by acting
as an ‘anchor organisation’. Anchor organisations are typically large organisations that are embedded
in communities and unlikely to move due to their long term commitment to a community (for example
hospitals, universities and local councils). They have large resources in terms of purchasing power and
employment and as such can have a key role in building successful local economies and communities
by their actions. They have large amount of influence as employers, purchasers and owners of land
and buildings (see examples in box overleaf ).
41

Page 65

8. RECOMMENDATIONS

Examples of good practice
Guy ’s and St Thomas’ NHS Foundation
Trust offer apprenticeships, work
experience and opportunities to local
people, targeting those who are long-term
unemployed, or who have disorders which
have affected their employment, such as
autism. More than 500 local people have
benefited from this scheme since 2008, and
many have ended up working for the trust.
Sandwell and West Birmingham
Hospitals NHS Trust also offer ‘live and
work’ apprenticeships to young people
facing homelessness since 2014. They
have worked with the local authority and
a homelessness charity to convert unused
hospital buildings into homes, and provide
a vocational training programme with the
possibility of a job in the Trust at the end. In
the first two years of the project they trained
27 apprentices and recruited 22 of them.

Preston City Council has built wealth
within the local community, by (among
other things) breaking down large contracts
into smaller contracts which smaller local
businesses are then in a position to bid
for. The amount of procurement spending
retained within the city and county has
dramatically increased as a result.
A consortium of anchor organisations
in Leeds have worked together to shift
procurement spending towards local
suppliers. The Joseph Rowntree Foundation
noted that even if they only succeed in
transferring 10% of their combined total
spend, this would be worth £168-196 million
each year to the local economy.

Adapted from The King’s Fund - ‘Building healthier communities: the role of the NHS as an anchor institution.

Recommendations for Buckinghamshire Council
•
•
•
•
•

The council to consider adopting a ‘health in all polices’ approach whereby relevant policies and
decisions consider how residents health could be improved and poor health prevented as part of
business as usual, e.g. when planning new developments or considering transport policies.
The council to consider opportunities to develop its role as an anchor organisation.
The council to continue to roll out training to front line staff to encourage residents to make
simple changes that could improve their health, wellbeing and independence and ensure staff can
signpost people to community assets that can support this.
The Buckinghamshire Council public health and prevention team should support Community
Boards to consider the health needs of their population and what simple practical steps they could
take to improve health in their local area.
To continue to promote the health of the council workforce with good workplace health policies.

Recommendations for Community Boards
Community Boards should work with local communities, public health and wider partners to
identify the health and wellbeing issues in their local area and take effective action to address
them. Community boards should use their pump-priming wellbeing fund to help improve health and
wellbeing in their area.

42

Page 66

8. RECOMMENDATIONS

Recommendations for the NHS and primary care networks
The NHS should:
•
•
•
•
•

Increase their focus on preventing ill health and tackling inequalities and ensure this is built into
every care pathway.
Consider how to build a health in all policies approach and opportunities to act as an anchor
organisation.
Consider how the NHS can best support effective place-based working and community-centred
approaches.
Ensure front line staff are trained to support people to make simple changes to improve their health
and wellbeing and to signpost people to community assets that support this.
Continue to promote and protect the health of their workforce through effective workplace policies.

Primary care networks
•
•
•

43

Should work with their local communities, Buckinghamshire Council public health, Community
Boards and other partners to understand and improve the health in their local area.
Ensure front line staff are trained to support people to make simple changes to improve their health
and wellbeing and signpost people to community assets that can support their health.
Continue to promote and protect the health of their workforce.

Page 67

8. RECOMMENDATIONS

Appendix
Key Facts in Buckinghamshire

Page 68

People
Population
•
•
•
•
•
•

540,059
residents (2018)

6%
19%
56.2%
9.9%
6.2%
2.7%

Under 5 years (6% England)
5-19 years (17.7% England)
20-64 years (58.2% England)
65-74 years (9.9% England)
75-84 years (5.8% England)
85+ years (2.4% England)

Projections
There are projected to be

75,494

more people living in
Buckinghamshire by 20301
(compared with 2018 this is a
14.4% increase to 618,117 people).

45

Page 69

This projection excludes housing
projections.
1

Life expectancy and healthy life expectancy at birth
•
•

•
•

•
•

Life expectancy at birth is 85.1 years for females (83.1 for England)
and 81.8 years for males (79.6 England).
Healthy life expectancy at birth is 70.3 years for females (63.8
England) and 68.8 years for males (63.4 in England).
Male life expectancy at birth has improved from 80.1 years in
2006/08 to 81.8 years in 2016/18.
Male healthy life expectancy at birth has improved from 67.6 years
in 2009/11 to 68.8 years in 2015/17.
Female life expectancy at birth has improved from 83.4 years in
2006/08 to 85.1 years in 2016/18.
Female healthy life expectancy at birth has improved from 68.6 years
in 2009/11 to 70.3 years in 2015/17.

Population groups

1 in 7

people (13.6%) in Buckinghamshire are from a Black, Asian or
Minority Ethnic Group (9.3% South East, 14.6% England).

65,295

Buckinghamshire residents were born outside the UK
(12.9% of the county’s population). (similar to South
East 12.1%; lower than England 13.8%).

46

Page 70

Place
Where we live influences our health and wellbeing.

Deprivation

Buckinghamshire is the seventh least deprived upper tier local authority in
England (of 151) according to the 2019 Index of Multiple Deprivation (IMD).

0.3%

8%

34.3%

of Buckinghamshire
residents live in the 20%
most deprived areas in
England (2019).

of the Buckinghamshire
population lived in the
40% most deprived areas
in England (2019).

of Buckinghamshire
residents live in the 10%
least deprived areas in
England (2019).

England

Buckinghamshire

England deprivation deciles, IMD 2019

0%

10%

20%

Decile 1 (most deprived)

47

30%
Decile 2

40%
Decile 3

Decile 4

50%
Decile 5

60%
Decile 6

Page 71

Decile 7

70%
Decile 8

Decile 9

80%

90%

Decile 10 (least deprived)

100%

England Deprivation Deciles for Buckinghamshire, 2019

48

Page 72

Employment and work
Getting people into work is a priority for good health and wellbeing.

24%

(6,800) of Buckinghamshire residents were unemployed in
2018/19. (3.1% South East, 4.1% England).

1.5%

(5,075) of Buckinghamshire residents aged 16 to 64 received
out-of-work benefits through Universal Credit in December
2019. (2.9% England).

7.2%

(830) of 16-17 year olds were not in education,
employment or training (Dec 2018 - Feb 2019).

Employment rates are lower for
people with long-term health
conditions, people with a learning
disability and individuals in
contact with secondary mental
health services (2017/18).

11.1%

(6,300) of 16-64 year olds
were out of work due to longterm sickness (Oct 2018-Sep
2019). (23.3% England).

Median gross earnings
The median gross weekly earnings
in Buckinghamshire:

The median gross
weekly earnings for
full-time workers in
Buckinghamshire is

£670.50

£728.5

(2019). (£636 South East
and £587 England).

49

for men (2019).

Page 73

£622

for women (2019).

Housing and homelessness

8.2%

(17,437) people estimated to be in
fuel poverty in Buckinghamshire.
(11.1% in England). (2016)

£

The cost of buying a house
in Buckinghamshire is high
compared with the England
average.

Average house prices, September 2019
Area

Average house price (all)

Aylesbury Vale District Council

£327k

Average house price for a
semi-detached
£331k

Chiltern District Council

£539k

£487k

South Bucks District Council

£609k

£534k

Wycombe

£398k

£405k

England

£251k

£235k

Data source: Housing Price Index

Average monthly rents (all sizes of accommodation), 2018/19
Aylesbury Vale District Council

£918

Chiltern District Council

£1,287

South Bucks District Council

£1,458

Wycombe

£1,093

Buckinghamshire

£1,113

England

£858

Data source: Private Rental Market Summary Statistics

50

Page 74

•
•

House prices in Buckinghamshire range from 11.2 times higher to 18.6 times higher than
residence based earnings (2019).
House prices in Buckinghamshire were 1.6 times higher than the average house price for
England (2019).

Rough sleeping
Rough sleeping is defined by the Government as ‘people sleeping, or bedded down, in the
open air (such as on the streets, or in doorways, parks or bus shelters); people in buildings
or other places not designed for habitation (such as barns, sheds, car parks, cars, derelict
boats, stations, or ‘bashes’)’ 2 .
In August 2020, many individuals who would be rough sleeping were accommodated due to
Coronavirus. Therefore, without this intervention the following numbers of individuals would
have been rough sleeping:

38

Aylesbury Vale

46

Wycombe

7

Chiltern/
South Bucks

80%
male

20%
female

The Office of the Deputy Prime Minister’s definition of rough sleeping. A ‘bash’ is a makeshift shelter
often comprised of cardboard boxes.
2

51

Page 75

Air pollution
of adult deaths (age 30+)
in Buckinghamshire are
attributable to particulate
air pollution (2017). (5.1% in
England).

5.7%

Car ownership
•

•

13.3% of Buckinghamshire
households have three or
more cars/vans. This is almost
double the England proportion
of 7.4% (2019).
12.6% of Buckinghamshire
households do not own a car/
van. This is lower than England
(25.8%) (2019).

Road safety

41.6 per 100,000

(665) people were killed or seriously
injured on Buckinghamshire’s roads
(2015-2017) (40.8 for England = 67,654).

Crime and domestic violence
•

•

In 2018/19 the rate for ‘all crime’
was higher in Chiltern and
South Bucks District Councils
(48.2/1000 population)
and lower in Aylesbury Vale
(41.4/1000) compared with
Buckinghamshire rate of
44.7/1000 population.
Rates for violent crime and for
domestic violence are similar
across all district councils and
Buckinghamshire at around
17.7/1000 and 6.9/1000
population respectively
(2018/19).

Starting well
The health and wellbeing of children in the county is influenced by a wide range of social, economic
and environmental factors.

Population

Child poverty

135,244

0-19 year olds in Buckinghamshire
(2018). 25.0% of the population
(compared to 23.7% of England).
The number of 0 to 19
year olds is projected
to increase by 8%
between 2015 and
2025 from 129,600 to
139,900 children and
young people.

52

9.5%

of children live in poverty in
Buckinghamshire (9,215 children).
(17% in England) (2016).

Page 76

Births

Low birth weight babies

5,859

2.56%

births in Buckinghamshire
(2018).

of babies (139 in 2017) were born at full-term
with low birth weight in Buckinghamshire.
This compares to 2.82% in England (2017).

The crude birth rate is 10.8
births per 1,000 people (2018).

The total number of babies who were born at
low weight in Buckinghamshire was 403 in
2017 (6.9% of total births). (England, 7.4%).

Infant mortality
In 2018, there were 4.1 infant deaths per 1,000
live births (2016-18). (England, 3.9 per 1,000)

Children in care

515

Children in need

3,338

children in Buckinghamshire were in
the Local Authority’s care in March
2019. The rate was 41 per 10,000
10-17 population compared to 65 per
10,000 for England (March 2019).

Children in Need in Buckinghamshire in
2018/19. Almost 50% were in need due to
abuse or neglect.

67%

School readiness

of children in care were in foster care
(March 2019).

73%

of reception-aged children achieved a good
level of development by the end of reception
in 2018/19. (72% for England).

Special educational needs
(SEN)

Youth unemployment

•

6.4%

•

of 16-17 year olds (11,440 individuals) are
not in education, employment or training in
Buckinghamshire. 6% for England (2017)

•

53

Page 77

At the beginning of 2019 there were
5,482 children in state-funded
Buckinghamshire primary schools with
special educational needs.
The most common type of specific
needs were speech, language and
communication needs (35.4%), but:
– 7% had an autistic spectrum disorder.
– 3% had a physical disability.
– 1.9% had hearing impairment.
– 1.1% had visual impairment.
9.4% of Buckinghamshire school
students received SEN support in 2019
(England, 11.9%).

Maternal and infant health

82.1%

•

of new mothers initiate breastfeeding
for their new babies in Buckinghamshire
(2016/17) (England, 74.5%).

55.6%

•

of mothers in Buckinghamshire were
continuing to breastfeed at 6-8 weeks.
(England, 43.1%) (2017/18).

7.5%

(388) of women smoke at the time of
delivery. (10.6% in England, 2018/19).

Uptake for childhood
immunisations in Buckinghamshire
is higher than England for most
immunisations. However, the
uptake is below the 95% target
to achieve good coverage for the
population (2018/19).
The rate of teenage pregnancies
(under-18 conceptions) was 9.2 per
1,000 people in 2018. (17.8/1,000
for England). This is equivalent to
approximately 100 under-18 year
olds becoming pregnant per year
(2018).

Young people

5.1%

6.5%

of 15 year olds in Buckinghamshire
were classified as ‘regular’ drinkers.
This is higher than England (6.2%).

of 15 year olds smoke in Buckinghamshire
(8.2% in England) (2014/15).

The rate of hospital
admissions for under-18s for
alcohol-specific conditions
in Buckinghamshire was
22.9/100,000 in 2015-18,
compared to 32.9/100,000 for
England (2015-18).

4.9%

of teenagers are using
e-cigarettes [ASH, 2018].
Although there is no
Buckinghamshire data,
e-cigarette use (vaping)
among teenagers is rising
nationally, with 4.9%
classified as current users
(ASH, 2018).

54

Hospital admissions for
alcohol-specific conditions in
Buckinghamshire for people
under 18 was 22.9 per 100,000
population. Compared to 32.9
per 100,000 population for
England (2015-18).

Page 78

Emotional wellbeing

375.9 per 100,000

10-24 year olds admitted to hospital as a result of self-harm in Buckinghamshire.
370.8 emergency admissions in total (2018/19). (England, 444.0)
The prevalence of mental disorders in children aged 5 to 15 years
increased from 9.7% in 1999 to 11.2% in 2017.
(2017 Mental Health Survey of Children in England).

1 in 10
7.1%

children had borderline mental health and
emotional wellbeing difficulties (2017/18).
had ‘cause for concern’ difficulties according to
a local survey on mental health and emotional
wellbeing in young people (2017/18).

Physical health

7.2%

of 5 year olds in Buckinghamshire had one or more decayed,
missing or filled teeth (England 23.3%) (2016/17).

29.3%

of children in Year 6 in Buckinghamshire are overweight or
obese (2018/19). (England, 34.4%)

SUMMARY
Buckinghamshire outperforms England as a whole in terms of lower child
poverty, higher breastfeeding initiation and higher childhood immunisation
rates. Teenage pregnancy rates are significantly lower than the national average,
as is the proportion of mothers in Buckinghamshire who smoke during their
pregnancies. Almost all of the major indicators for child and maternal health
and wellbeing are better than England, with the exceptions of teenage alcohol
consumption and the proportion of 16-17 year olds not in education, employment
or training (both higher than England).

55

Page 79

Living well

330,335

Population
The number of 20-64 year olds in Buckinghamshire is
303,778 (2018). This is projected to increase by 8.2% to
330,335 by 2030.

303,778

Health behaviours
Some health behaviours can have a negative impact on our health and wellbeing.

9.2%
10.3%

of adults (42,903)
are current smokers
according to the APS
(2019).

of adults abstain from drinking alcohol,
which is lower than England (15.5%).

28.6%
of Buckinghamshire adults drink over the

recommended 14 units per week (25.7% for England).

71%
4.5%

of 15-64 year olds use
opiates and/or crack
cocaine. (6.2% for
England, 2016/17).

1.9%

of adults cycle for travel at
least three days per week
(2017) (3.3% for England).

56

of adults are physically active
(66% for England) (2017/18).

18%
of adults in Buckinghamshire are inactive
(22% for England, 2017/18).

57.8%

of Buckinghamshire residents
meet the recommended
‘5-a-day’ (54.8% for England)
(2017/18).

Page 80

Emotional health

10.7%

of people in Buckinghamshire (47,251) have depression according
to GP records. This is similar to England (10.7%). (2018/19)

0.79%

of people in Buckinghamshire (4,486) have severe mental illness
according to GP records. This is similar to England (0.96%).
(2018/19). Severe mental illness registers include people with
schizophrenia, bipolar affective disorder and other psychoses.

8 per
100,000

deaths due to suicides and undetermined injuries.
(England, 9.6 per 100,000) (2016-18).
The numbers of suicides for the last three years were as follows:
2016

2017

33

33

2018

45

Long-term conditions

52.8%

of Buckinghamshire residents
have at least one long-term
health condition (March 2020).

The number and proportion of the population with the
following long-term conditions (2018/19):
•
•
•
•
•
•
•

Diabetes (27,231) (17+, 6.1%). 6.9% for England.
Hypertension (78,775) (all ages, 13.9%). 14.0% for England.
Coronary Heart Disease (16,638) (all ages 2.9%). 3.1% for
England.
Dementia (4,475) (all ages, 0.8%). 0.8% for England.
Chronic Obstructive Pulmonary Disease (COPD) (7,689)
(all ages, 1.4%). 1.9% for England.
Asthma (34,461) (all ages 6.1%). 6.0% for England.
Depression (47,251) (18+, 10.7%). 10.7% England.

Multi-morbidity

3 in 10

people have two or more
long-term conditions; this is
called multi-morbidity. It is
more common for people to
have more than one long-term
condition (March 2020).

•
•

•

•

57

72.6% of people aged 65+ years have two or more longterm conditions in Buckinghamshire (March 2020).
Multi-morbidity is also associated with increased health
and care costs. More than half of GP consultations and
emergency hospital admissions are for people with two
or more long-term conditions (2019).
Patients who live in more deprived areas in
Buckinghamshire develop multiple long-term conditions
approximately 10 years earlier than in less deprived
areas (2019).
33.8% have both a physical and a mental health
condition (2020).
Page 81

Cancer screening and diagnosis
The proportion of eligible people screened for breast, cervical and bowel cancers
was higher in Buckinghamshire than England in 2018.

Breast

78.8%

vs 74.9% for England.

Bowel

60.9%

vs 59.0% for England.

Cervical

74.1%

vs 71.4% for England.

SUMMARY
The population of Buckinghamshire is, on average, healthier than the England population. The
prevalences of diabetes, heart disease, COPD and severe mental illness are all lower than
England. Likewise, rates of smoking, drug use, physical inactivity and suicide are also lower in
Buckinghamshire, when compared to England. Health indicators for which Buckinghamshire
is worse than England include breast cancer, abstaining from alcohol consumption and
malignant melanoma diagnosis. Life expectancy for the county is generally high, although
there are differences related to deprivation.

58

Page 82

Aging well
Population

18.7%

of Buckinghamshire’s population is aged 65+
years old (18.2% for England) (2018).
There are

101,700

people aged 65+ in
Buckinghamshire (2018).

By 2030, there will be 27.7% more people aged
65+ in Buckinghamshire (101,700 to 129,900).
This equates to 28,200 more people in this age
group.
By 2030, there will be 52.4% more people aged
85+ in Buckinghamshire (14,500 to 22,100). This
equates to 7,600 more people in this age group.

Life expectancy and healthy life expectancy at 65
•

Life expectancy at 65 is 22.4 years for females (21.1 for
England) and 19.9 years for males (18.8 for England).

•

Male life expectancy at 65 has increased from 17.1
years in 2001-03 to 19.9 years in 2015-17.
Men have 12.9 years (10.4 years for England) of
healthy life expectancy at the age of 65.

•

•
•

59

Female life expectancy at 65 has increased from 20.0
years in 2001-03 to 22.4 years in 2015-17.
Women have 14.9 years (10.9 years for England) of
healthy life expectancy at age 65.

Page 83

Social isolation

11.8%

It is estimated that 13,318 people
aged 65-74 and 20,340 people
aged 75 and over live alone in
Buckinghamshire (2019), increasing
to 16,777 and 30,404 people
respectively by 2035.

of households in Buckinghamshire
were classified as pensioners
living alone, compared to 12.4% in
England (2011 Census).

Social care

45.5%

of adult (65+) social care
users have had as much
social contact as they
would like (46% in England)
(2018/19).

5.1%

of adult social care users
feel socially isolated (5.8%
in England) (2018/19).

61.2%

of adult social care users
had good quality of
life (62.6% in England)
(2018/19).

Falls and hip fractures

27,800

people aged 65 and over
were estimated to have
had a fall in 2019 (POPPI).
This number is predicted to
increase to 35,808 by 2030.

The rate of hospital admissions due to falls for
people aged 65+ years was 1,990 per 100,000
people in Buckinghamshire. (England, 2,170
per 100,000; South East, 2,189 per 100,000)
(2018/19).

The rate of hip fracture in people aged 65 and over is
496 per 100,000 population. (England, 578/100,000)
(2018/19).

Flu vaccination

72.8%

of people aged 65+ (73,106) received the flu vaccination,
compared with 72.0% in England (2018/19).

60

Page 84

Dementia

6,892

of people aged 65+ are estimated to have
dementia in Buckinghamshire (2019).

7.11%

of adults aged 65+ years are estimated
to have dementia in Buckinghamshire
(England 7.2%) (2019).

4.21 per 10,000
population had dementia recorded by their GP
(England 3.41 per 10,000).

3,015 per 10,000
population aged 65+ had an emergency hospital
admission for dementia in Buckinghamshire
(England 3,609 per 100,000) (2018/19).

SUMMARY
The over 65 population in Buckinghamshire has a longer life expectancy than the England
average and spend more of their life in good health compared to England. There is lower
deprivation in this age group of the population compared to this age group elsewhere. The
number of over 65s living alone in Buckinghamshire is set to increase over the next 10 years.

61

Page 85

Death
The top causes of death in both males and females (all age) are cancers, cardiovascular diseases,
respiratory diseases and neurological disorders. 3

Death rates from causes considered preventable4
The deaths rates in Buckinghamshire for causes considered to be preventable are:
Overall premature death rate 255 per 100,000 population
(330 per 100,000 for England) (2016-18).
Death rate for people under 75
for all cardiovascular diseases
31.3 per 100,000 population
(45.3 per 100,000 for England)
(2016-18).

Death rate for people under
75 for all respiratory diseases
11.2 per 100,000 population
(19.2 per 100,000 for England)
(2016-18).

Death rate for people under 75
from liver disease
10.4 per 100,000 population
(16.3 per 100,000 for England)
(2016-18).

Death rate from cancer
61.4 per 100,000 population
(76.3 per 100,000 for England)
(2016-18).

Neurological disorders includes dementia and Alzheimer’s
Preventable deaths are those that when considering the determinants of health at the time the person dies,
the death could potentially have been avoided by public health interventions in the broadest sense.
3
4

62

Page 86

Excess winter deaths
•
•
•

Most excess winter deaths are due to circulatory and
respiratory diseases in Buckinghamshire.
The majority occur among the elderly population.
The Excess Winter Deaths Index (EWD Index)
provides the additional deaths that occurred during
winter months (December to March) compared to
non-winter months. In Buckinghamshire, there were
884 more deaths in the winter periods between 2014
and 2017 (average of 281 deaths per year). This is
similar to England.

Dying at home

22.1%

of deaths (all age) occur at home compared
with 23.6% in England (2019).

71.7%

of people with dementia die in their usual place of
residence (England = 68.5%) (2019/19).

63

Page 87

This page is intentionally left blank

Agenda Item 8

Date: 6 October 2020
Title: Buckinghamshire Covid-19 Health Impact Assessment and Health and Wellbeing
Recovery Plan Priorities
Author and/or contact officer: Dr Jane O’Grady, 01296 387623
Report Sponsor: Gareth Williams and Dr Jane O’Grady
Report for information/decision or approval: For information and action from members to
help develop the recovery plan further.
Recommendations:



The Health and Wellbeing Board is asked to note the high level findings from the
Health Impact Assessment and approve the emerging priorities of the Health and
Wellbeing Recovery plan.
Health and Wellbeing Board members are asked to contribute to the recovery plan
and define the actions their organisations will take to support the priorities in the
HWB Recovery plan.

Partners are asked to contribute to the plan in the following priority areas
o Build on the current plans for keeping all people safe during Covid 19.
o Build on the mental health response to Covid 19 to enhance mental health
promotion and support for recovery.
o Develop a system wide plan to reduce existing health inequalities and Covid
related health inequalities.
o Develop a system wide approach to improving and maintaining healthy
behaviours during the pandemic and beyond.
o Co-design with the Community Boards, Primary Care Networks and voluntary
sector partners a community-based approach to build capacity for healthy
recovery and resilience.
o Apply a health in all policy for recovery plans across the system.
o Ensure other recovery plans address the education gap and promote
inclusive economic recovery.


The Board is asked to consider what measures it could take to monitor the ongoing
impact of COVID and progress towards recovery particularly for groups most
affected by COVID.

Summary
1.1

The COVID-19 pandemic has had a major impact on every aspect of our lives. As well
as the direct impacts of COVID-19 disease, the social distancing and lockdown

Page 89

measures have had a huge impact on the lives and livelihoods of people. This in turn
can have a profound impact on population health and wellbeing in the short term
and for many years after the pandemic has ended.
1.2

To gain insights on the experiences and impacts of the pandemic on the local
population a health impact assessment (HIA) was conducted to inform our response
and recovery plans.

1.3

This presentation presents the high level findings from the local HIA and the health
and wellbeing recovery priorities in Buckinghamshire.

Consultation and communication
1.4

Various engagement methods have been used to collate views and insights, including
a resident survey ‘Coronavirus and You’ which ran from 8th July to 5th August. School
children studying in Buckinghamshire Schools were also surveyed as part of an
Oxford University study commissioned by a range of local authority partners
including Buckinghamshire. Early analysis of these results will be added to the impact
assessment and recovery plan.

1.5

Interviews were undertaken with voluntary sector organisations and residents from
key groups including those with mental health problems, Black Asian and minority
ethnic group communities and travellers.

1.6

A wide range of stakeholders contributed including officers from Buckinghamshire
Council from teams including Public Health, Communications, Integrated
Commissioning, Children’s Services, Housing and Environment, Communities. NHS
partners were engaged through the clinical harms group and other working groups.
Council members were surveyed and a selection of councilors interviewed.

Further Information
Next steps and review
A system wide draft health and wellbeing recovery plan is being developed. The high level
priorities are included in the accompanying presentation. The detailed plan will be written
with partners and return to the Health and Wellbeing Board for sign off.
Background papers
COVID-19: review of disparities in risks and outcomes - GOV.UK
If you have any questions about the matters contained in this report, please get in touch
with
the
author
of
this
report.
This
can
be
done
via
email
jane.ogrady@buckinghamshire.gov.uk

Page 90

Page 91

COVID-19 Health and
Click to edit
Master
title
styletitle style
Click
to
edit
Master
Wellbeing Impact Assessment
and RecoveryClick
Plan
Update
to edit Master subtitle style
Click to edit Master subtitle style

Dr Jane O’Grady
Director of Public Health
September 2020

Appendix

28/09/20
28/09/20

1

1

Buckinghamshire Health and Wellbeing Recovery Plan
In June 2020, Buckinghamshire Council published ‘The 3 Rs to Recovery’, Reset, Resilience, Restoration
in response to COVID.

Page 92

The health and wellbeing Recovery Plan reflects the 3 R principles and will be informed by:
 Community engagement including Community Board recovery action plans
 COVID-19 Health Impact Assessment evidence
 Stakeholder views and action plans

Recovery will be complex as there will be repeated waves of infection & disruption and the plan will be
dynamic to reflect this and emerging needs.
The recovery plans will be form part of the Joint Health and Wellbeing Strategy that the board has
been developing. The strategy and recovery plans will be overseen by the Health and Wellbeing Board.
The plan will complement but not duplicate the NHS service recovery plans and Council Service
recovery plans.
BUCKINGHAMSHIRE COUNCIL

Direct and Indirect Impacts of COVID-19;

Page 93

• Direct impacts of COVID-19 disease
• Indirect impacts of social distancing and lockdown measures - social, educational
attainment and job prospects, economic, employment and health impacts.
• These impacts have not been experienced equally across the population, and
many impacts have replicated and increased existing health inequalities
• Buckinghamshire Health Impact assessment – literature review, stakeholders
views including council services, NHS,VCS , members, residents and 2 surveys
• Resident survey - 5,349 residents 8 July-5 Aug 2020
• Schools survey – 815 primary school and 2678 secondary school pupils (results
later)

BUCKINGHAMSHIRE COUNCIL

Direct Impacts

Page 94

Of people who develop symptoms, current data indicate that
• 40% have mild symptoms without hypoxia (low level of oxygen in the blood) or pneumonia,
• 40% have moderate symptoms and non-severe pneumonia,
• 15% have significant disease including severe pneumonia,
• 5% experience critical disease with life-threatening complications.
• The risk of infection, developing serious illness and dying from the disease was higher among
people who were older, or from Black, Asian and minority ethnic groups (BAME), on low income
and living in more deprived areas; have underlying health conditions such as diabetes or are in
certain occupations such as social care , minicab and taxi drivers.

Post acute and “Long Covid”
• 1 in 10 people with mild infection reported fatigue , shortness of breath muscle pain lasting for
four weeks.
• People hospitalised with Covid-19 had symptoms that lasted over two months requiring
rehabilitation to recover from physical health weakness and psychological trauma.
BUCKINGHAMSHIRE COUNCIL

Mental Health – National Picture

Page 95

• ONS people experiencing depressive symptoms doubled from 1 in 10 prepandemic to 1 in 5 during pandemic
• 69% felt somewhat or very worried about impact of COVID on their lives
• Many of those with pre-existing mental health conditions have reported a
worsening of their conditions.
• Young adults and women hit hardest

• Evidence suggests that the lockdown measures caused an increase in social
isolation and loneliness, both of which are risk factors for poor physical and
mental health.
• Variable impact on children and young peoples mental wellbeing
BUCKINGHAMSHIRE COUNCIL

Buckinghamshire Survey - Mental Wellbeing

Page 96

• 2 in 5 concerned about their mental wellbeing
• 47% have worried a great deal or quite a bit about the wellbeing of other family
members
• 1 in 4 said they have worried a great deal or quite a bit about their childrens
education
• 1 in 4 reported high anxiety
• 2 in 5 said wellbeing had deteriorated during lockdown
• Main concerns how long lockdown would last, others not following guidance, lack
of sleep with a quarter wanting help to improve their sleep. Nearly 1 in 10
wanted help from mental health services.

BUCKINGHAMSHIRE COUNCIL

Buckinghamshire Survey - Relationships and Social Isolation
• A quarter (23%) of respondents were concerned about feeling lonely and being
isolated
Page 97

• Two fifths (40%) were concerned about how friends and family were coping.
• Of the 69% of those who responded to family arguments 55% reported no
change in the frequency of arguing, 18% argued less and 27% argued more.
• 1 in 5 wanted to talk to someone about they are feeling.

BUCKINGHAMSHIRE COUNCIL

Buckinghamshire Survey - Physical Health
• A quarter (25%) of respondents said their physical health had deteriorated during
lockdown.
• This was higher in more deprived areas and younger people.
Page 98

BUCKINGHAMSHIRE COUNCIL

Health Related Behaviours
Nationally

Page 99

•
•
•
•
•

People drinking more alcohol before lockdown tended to increase their drinking.
Almost one third gained weight during lockdown.
Children’s physical activity levels lower in lockdown.
Adults reported doing more physical activity but varied by groups.
More people tried to quit smoking.

BUCKINGHAMSHIRE COUNCIL

Buckinghamshire Health Behaviours During Lockdown
Alcohol
• A quarter of respondents said they don’t drink alcohol, 22% said they were drinking more , 37%
said they drank the same amount, 15% said they drank less after COVID started/during lockdown.

Healthy Eating
Page 100

• A fifth of respondents (20%) said they ate less healthy and nutritious food during lockdown.
• Those eating less healthily were more likely to be females (23.7%), under 50 years of age (29.3%),
from a Black or Ethnic Minority group (23.1%); and those living in more deprived areas (30.8%)
• Nearly half of respondents reporting less healthy diets in lockdown had children under 18 in the
household
• Food bank use increased across the county

Physical activity
• More than two fifths of respondents (44%) said exercise had helped them cope during lockdown.
More than a quarter of respondents (29%) said they were exercising more and nearly two fifths
(38%) said they were exercising less. 16% of respondents said they would like support joining
local groups and 28% said they would like support to be more active to help them feel better
BUCKINGHAMSHIRE COUNCIL

Buckinghamshire Survey Responses - Employment & Income
• A fifth of all respondents (21.6%) were concerned about their finances and being in debt.
• This was significantly more likely in those under the age of 50 years (30.2%), Black and Ethnic
Minority groups (27.2%) and more deprived areas (29.9%).
• Nearly half (48.7%) of those responding with these concerns had children under 18 years in
the household.
Page 101

• Nearly 1 in 10 (8%) of respondents were concerned about being able to afford the food
they need with 7% struggled to afford food
• 7% stated requiring help with managing debt and their finances.
• 16% stated their employment had changed since lockdown due to COVID-19 at the end of
March.
• Of the 16% who reported that their employment was affected - A fifth (22%) lost their job,
34% were furloughed, 20% had their hours decreased, 5% had their hours increased, 19%
other (includes retired, resigned, sickness, shielding and unable to work due to government
guidelines.

BUCKINGHAMSHIRE COUNCIL

Residents claiming unemployment benefits
In March 2020

Page 102

• 1.7% residents claiming unemployment benefits (3.1% Engl, 2.2% SE)
By May 2020 this had increased to 4.7% for Bucks
By Aug 2020
• 4.8% Bucks residents on unemployment benefit (6.6% Engl,5.4% SE)
• Highest in Wycombe Community Board area at 7.9%
Post 2008 economic crisis study estimated a 1% fall in employment leads to a 2%
increase in chronic illness. Strong adverse effects on musculoskeletal,
cardiovascular, respiratory diseases and mental health. Mental health rise increase
perhaps 2x size of other increases. Impacts on suicide.

BUCKINGHAMSHIRE COUNCIL

Increased Demand on Food Banks

Page 103

BUCKINGHAMSHIRE COUNCIL

Education & Future Job Prospects - National
• Nearly all teachers estimated their pupils were behind in their current curriculum
learning due to lockdown. Average estimate 3/12 behind
Page 104

• Pupils in more deprived areas experienced greatest impact
• Gap between some pupils and wealthier peers could have widened by 46% in
latest school year
• When unemployment rises e.g. due to recession effects usually most severe for
those who have recently left full time education
• Education and employment powerful influencers of health

BUCKINGHAMSHIRE COUNCIL

Access to Services

Page 105

• The closure of childcare settings and schools has also meant that some children
may have lost access to a place of safety.
• Access to health and social care during the pandemic has been disrupted.
• People avoided seeking healthcare during the pandemic with potential harms
and longer term consequences.
• People unable to access respite care reported negative impacts on their physical
and mental health
• Calls related to Domestic Violence increased across Thames Valley Police area

BUCKINGHAMSHIRE COUNCIL

Health and Wellbeing Recovery Plan Priorities

Page 106

1.
2.
3.
4.

Keeping infection rates low and residents safe from COVID.
Promoting mental health and wellbeing including addressing social isolation.
Keeping residents healthy.
Addressing the needs of key groups: e.g. those living in more deprived areas, food
insecure, Black Asian and minority groups, travellers, homeless.
5. Community engagement and resilience.
6. Service redesign and recovery in the new normal.
7. Health in All Policies Approach - Capitalising on plans to reduce the educational
gap, drive economic recovery and inclusive growth, reduce debt and financial
hardship, improve the built and natural environment to improve health and
resilience.

BUCKINGHAMSHIRE COUNCIL

Priority 1: KEEPING INFECTION RATES LOW & RESIDENTS SAFE
Local outbreak prevention, management and control.
Health Protection board, Outbreak plan and COVID Workstreams
Flu programme.
Page 107

A crucial part of reducing the risk of COVID-19 infection is proactive primary
prevention:
 Targeted communications and support on social distancing, hand and respiratory hygiene, self
isolation when advised to do so
 Partnership working with:
 communities and local leaders
 front line service providers
 Working with local businesses, retailers, commercial and voluntary and public sector

BUCKINGHAMSHIRE COUNCIL

Priority 2: PROMOTING MENTAL WELLBEING

Page 108

• ICP COVID-19 Mental Health Strategic Group works with VCS COVID
response group
• Increase awareness of mental health support to communities and staff
• increase bereavement support
• Increase mental health support to health and care staff
• Mental health first aid training to wider partners
• Programmes to improve mental health in key groups - vulnerable groups;
children, young people and families; Responders (essential workers) in wave 2;
and Covid-19 survivors

BUCKINGHAMSHIRE COUNCIL

Priority 3. KEEPING RESIDENTS HEALTHY

Page 109

• Obesity and long term conditions such as diabetes, high blood pressure and heart
disease increase risk of adverse outcomes from COVID. These conditions are
preventable in many cases.
• Smoking, lack of physical activity, unhealthy eating increase the risk of these
conditions. These choices are not made in a vacuum. The places people live, the
communities around them and the resources people have influence their ability to
be physically active, eat healthily and smoke so we need to address these factors
too.
• The long term conditions that increase risk of adverse outcomes from COVID are
also found more frequently in some population groups so we need to ensure
prevention reaches these groups effectively e.g. people from Black and Asian
groups, people living in more deprived areas.

BUCKINGHAMSHIRE COUNCIL

Priority 3. KEY AREAS FOR KEEPING PEOPLE HEALTHY

Page 110

• Community engagement and development of community champions
• Roll out of Making Every Contact Count (behaviour change) to champions and front line staff and VCS
• Ensure initiatives reach those at highest risk – key role for NHS and community leaders, community
boards, health champions, VCS
• Healthy eating – address food insecurity, cooking and growing schemes
• Obesity – increase referrals to behaviour change service , diabetes prevention, whole system strategy
• Smoking – amplification of national campaigns Quit for COVID, Stoptober, increase referrals to LWSW
• Physical activity – online exercise, primary school initiatives, restarting simply walks
• Alcohol - responding to increased referrals post lockdown with flexible services
• Access to behaviour change service (LWSW), diabetes prevention, substance misuse services, NHS
health check
• Strong NHS focus needed in primary and secondary prevention of high blood pressure, diabetes, heart
disease, obesity especially in deprived areas and BAME communities and referral to behaviour change
services e.g. smoking cessation
• Action on broader determinants of health (Health in All Policies)

BUCKINGHAMSHIRE COUNCIL

Priority 4. ADDRESSING THE NEEDS OF KEY GROUPS: e.g.Black
Asian and Minority Ethnic (BAME) groups including travellers

Page 111

• Enhanced Community Engagement
• Better Data to monitor health, impacts of COVID & identify key issues
• Culturally Competent Communication Campaigns – to inform and reduce harm
from COVID - individual and household risk reduction strategies; rebuild trust with and uptake
of routine clinical services; reinforce messages on early identification, testing and diagnosis; and
prepare communities to take full advantage of interventions including contact tracing, antibody
testing and vaccine (if/when becomes available)

• Culturally Competent Health Promotion and Disease Prevention
• Protecting BAME staff at work
• Tackling the impact of Covid-19 on BAME patients and service users
BUCKINGHAMSHIRE COUNCIL

Priority 5. COMMUNITY ENGAGEMENT & RESILIENCE

Page 112

• Community Board health profile sessions delivered to all Community Boards.
• Roll out asset based community development approach to Buckinghamshire
Council Community team and develop Community Champions for health initial focus COVID.
• Community Boards & Primary Care Networks work together with local
communities on recovery.
• Ensure Community Boards with significant BAME and deprived communities
living in their area understand the specific risks their communities face from
Covid-19 and support activities that improve Covid-19 outcomes or recovery.
• Development of a BAME Community Forum / Network to facilitate better
engagement with the key issues these communities face.
• Support VCS organisations that work with BAME communities to identify and
attain funding for activities that improve Covid-19 outcomes or recovery.
• Community work planned around sustainable approaches to food insecurity.

BUCKINGHAMSHIRE COUNCIL

Priority 7. HEALTH IN ALL POLICIES
Relevant council policies and decisions consider how health can be improved and poor
health prevented as part of business as usual.

Page 113

Examples include;
• Active travel: government funding to increase space for non-motorised travel on roads
• Air quality: continuation of air quality monitoring.
• Culture, sport and leisure: Improving access to mental health and wellbeing resources
• Education: PHSE training to school staff continuing remotely.
• Housing: support for rough sleepers to move to long term accommodation.
• Planning, growth and sustainability: reopening town centres safely; climate change
strategy development.

BUCKINGHAMSHIRE COUNCIL

This page is intentionally left blank

Agenda Item 9

Date: 6 October 2020
Title: Buckinghamshire Integrated Care System Winter Plan
Author and/or contact officer: Caroline Capell, Director of Urgent and Emergency Care
Report Sponsor: Integrated Care Partnership
Report for information/decision or approval: For information and support from members to
help deliver the aims of the Winter Plan
Recommendations:
The Health and Wellbeing Board is invited to receive and note the updates and presentation
at the meeting and consider its role in supporting identified areas and recommendations
included in the report, including a commitment to:
•

Ensuring the safety of patients during the Winter Period and during the Covid
Pandemic:

•

Supporting staff

•

Working together as a Buckinghamshire System to provide the best care in the right
setting for our population

•

Engaging and communicating with our population and key stakeholders in a timely,
supportive and safe way

Summary
1.1

The Winter Plan is part of an annual planning process in collaboration with
Buckinghamshire Integrated Care Partnership led by the Urgent Care Board.

1.2

The Winter Plan this year has been developed alongside the Covid Second Surge Plan
and Flu Plan, recognising the additional pressures within the Buckinghamshire
System, as we are entering into winter whilst remaining in the COVID Pandemic.

1.3

Buckinghamshire ICP have initiated the Recovery Programme as an opportunity to
undertake a wider Transformation Programme for all Urgent and Emergency Care
Services. The winter surge and flu plans have been developed within the context of
this wider plan.

1.4

The presentation will highlight the plans, strategy and objectives that will help
support the Buckinghamshire system and population around Winter 20/21.

1.5

An update will also be provided on the government policy paper Adult Social Care:
Covid-19 winter plan 2020-2021 published on 18 September 2020.

Page 115

Consultation and communication
1.6

The Winter Plan is supported by a Communications Strategy to insure that the media
and residents are informed about NHS and Council preparations for winter and to
encourage residents to self-care wherever possible and reduce unnecessary
admissions to A&E.

Background papers
N/A

Page 116

Buckinghamshire
Health and Wellbeing
Board
Page 117

Winter Planning 2020 / 21
6th October 2020
Caroline Capell
Director of Urgent and Emergency Care

1

Appendix

Your community, Your care : Developing Buckinghamshire together

Summary
The Winter plan this year has been developed alongside the Covid Second Surge
Plan and Flu Plan, recognising the additional pressures within the
Buckinghamshire System, as we are entering into winter whilst remaining in the
COVID Pandemic.

Page 118

Buckinghamshire have initiated the Recovery Programme as an opportunity to
undertake a wider Transformation Programme for all Urgent and Emergency Care
Services. The winter surge and flu plans have been developed within the context
of this wider plan.
This presentation will highlight the plans, strategy and objectives that will help
support the Buckinghamshire system and population around Winter 20/21 and an
update on the government Adult Social Care Covid-19 Winter Plan.

Your community, Your care : Developing Buckinghamshire together

2

Buckinghamshire Context
The Winter Plan 2020 / 21 is part of the wider Buckinghamshire Urgent and
Emergency Care Recovery and Transformation Programme which aims to deliver
three key objectives:

Page 119

Respond

• Respond to the ongoing Covid-19 crisis for our
Urgent and Emergency Care services in a way
that is safe for patients and staff.

Recover

• Restarting those Urgent and Emergency Care
activities that may have been paused or scaled
back in response to the pandemic and
returning to previous performance levels.

Renew

• Taking this as an opportunity to embed and
introduce transformation in response to the
pandemic that will help improve quality and
sustainability in the long term in line with the
NHS Long Term Plan.

Your community, Your care : Developing Buckinghamshire together

3

Urgent and Emergency Care Recovery and Transformation
The Winter Plan for this year is an integral part of our wider Recovery and Transformation
Programme broken down by six key workstreams:

Page 120

Workstream

Aims

Pre-Hospital

This workstream is to ensure patients receive the right care in the right setting this work
stream focuses on the urgent and emergency health care outside of an acute setting.

Front Door

This work stream is about reconfiguring urgent and emergency care access into the
hospital to ensure the patient sees the right clinician at the right time.

Ambulation and Acute

This work stream is about creating / cohorting services for patients that require same day
emergency care that can be treated within 24 hours rather than having to be admitted into
a hospital ward.

Post-Acute

This work stream is to help improve our internal processes throughout the hospital to
ensure the patient flow is maintained and optimal healthcare is delivered.

Get Me Home

This workstream will enable patients to be discharged from an acute setting in the most
appropriate timeframe, safely and to the setting best suited to their health and social care
needs.

Anticipate Not React

This work stream focuses on ensuring the whole health and social care system is able to
react to any situation it may face in a controlled and effective manner to ensure staff,
resources and patients remain safe. This incorporates system wide frameworks and
processes to manage periods of high demand as proactively as possible.
WINTER PLAN RESIDES WITHIN THIS WORKSTREAM

Your community, Your care : Developing Buckinghamshire together

4

Winter Delivery Plan 2020/21
The Buckinghamshire Winter Delivery Plan is an iterative plan to support the Buckinghamshire System across
Winter 2020/21.
The Buckinghamshire system’s winter approach will be governed by the following five principles:

Page 121

•

Patient Outcomes – Delivering safe and effective care for all patients receiving care from the
Buckinghamshire system.

•

Prevention - Infection Control: build on COVID-19 lessons regarding PPE / Handwashing etc, Flu Planning
etc.

•

Avoiding Attendances - Attendances at A&E should be avoided where possible and clinically justified.
The provision of suitable and safe alternatives to hospital attendance must be utilised or enhanced.

•

Avoiding Admissions - The use of various streaming, Same Day Emergency Care (SDEC) and pathway
initiatives to both alleviate A&E use and avoid unnecessary admissions will be vital to patient flow

•

Rapid Discharge - Delays to discharges from hospital must be minimised

All parts of the system adhere to these principles and to the actions set out in the action tracker. The plan
also recognises that all individual providers may have their own plans in place.
Your community, Your care : Developing Buckinghamshire together

5

Key Actions for Winter 2020/21
The Winter plan has a number of key priorities for the Buckinghamshire ICP
system this winter. A sample of these priorities that the Buckinghamshire System
are committed to this winter are:
• Think 111 First
Page 122

• Discharge Guidance
• Paediatric Pathways
• Increase uptake of Flu vaccinations
• Covid Second Surge Plan

Your community, Your care : Developing Buckinghamshire together

6

Think 111 First
Think 111 First is the national ask to enable, where clinically assessed as appropriate, to
directly book from NHS 111 into appointment slots into the Emergency Department at Stoke
Mandeville Hospital where available.
Buckinghamshire will be going live with this model with effect from 12th October 2020. The
pathway to ensure this is successful in Buckinghamshire is as follows:
- We will increase 111 call handler capacity
Page 123

- We will increase Clinical Assessment capacity to help ensure only the right patients are
sent to the Emergency Department
- We will start with a small number of appointments to test the model with patients and ED
staff properly
A Quality Impact Assessment has been completed and approved to ensure this service is safe
for our population.

Your community, Your care : Developing Buckinghamshire together

7

Discharge Guidance:
Ensuring timely and safe discharge from the hospital setting into their own place of
residence will be a critical element for patients during this winter period.
Key actions for this winter period to help facilitate discharge will be:
• Involving patient and their families/carers in all elements of their discharge planning
Page 124

• Everyone involved in a patients care should co-ordinate and focus on a home first
principle ensuring the first option to patients is their own place of residence where
clinically safe and appropriate
• Development of rehabilitation and reablement capacity to support home first and the
best outcomes for patients
• Ensure discharge to assess capacity responds to the demands within the
Buckinghamshire system, including the ability to discharge COVID positive patients
from acute hospital care when it is clinically appropriate to do so.

Your community, Your care : Developing Buckinghamshire together

8

Paediatric Pathways
Last winter there was a high volume of children presenting in all urgent and
emergency care settings with fever. This winter, in light of the Pandemic, there will
be an increased focus on the Paediatric Pathways in both Primary and Secondary
Care.

Page 125

•

Early joint Communications Strategy across Acute, Secondary and Social Care
focusing on paediatric care .

•

Fever, Bronchiolitis, asthma and wheeze leaflets circulated

•

Opportunity for focused health care via Fedbucks through hot hubs in the
community

Your community, Your care : Developing Buckinghamshire together

9

Increase uptake of Flu vaccinations
Buckinghamshire Flu Plan details immunisation plan for Buckinghamshire residents during flu
season as part of winter contingency aiming to protect those at risk, prevent ill-health and
minimize further impact on the NHS and social care.
A Buckinghamshire Project Team has been established and working in partnership with our BOB
colleagues (Buckinghamshire, Oxfordshire and Berkshire West) we have a comprehensive system
wide flu plan in place. The Flu Project team meet fortnightly to ensure delivery of key tasks.

Page 126

Eligible groups

Uptake ambition

Aged 65 years and over

At least 75%

In clinical at risk group

At least 75%

Pregnant women

At least 75%

Children aged 2 and 3 year old

At least 75%

All primary school aged children and school year 7
in secondary school

At least 75%

Frontline health and social care workers

100% offer

Your community, Your care : Developing Buckinghamshire together

10

Key Flu Actions
• Robust delivery plan in place to deliver flu vaccination programme to identified
at risk groups. Close partnership working to ensure delivery to key vulnerable
groups such as housebound and care home patients
• All planned flu vaccinations are to be delivered inline with COVID safe practices
Page 127

• Particular focus on how we increase vaccination rates in groups with historically
low levels of uptake. For example pregnant women, under 65s at risk groups,
BAME communities and 2/3 year olds.
• Targeted Communications plan with specific emphasis on how to reach these
groups

Your community, Your care : Developing Buckinghamshire together

11

2019/20 Flu Uptake and 2020/21 Target
The below table shows the flu vaccination uptake for Buckinghamshire for 19/20 and the
number of extra vaccinations need for all cohorts for 2020/21 to reach the national target
of 75%.

Register
Size

Number
Remaining
More
unvaccinat Assumed
2019/20 Uptake
Number
Needed to
(%)
Vaccinated
ed after
Target %
Reach
target met
Target

Page 128

Cohort
Over 65s
At Risk
2 & 3 year olds
Pregnant Women
Carers
50-64 year olds

106380
63513
13414
6288
5628
115353

72.54
43.79
48.76
43.43
43.43
unknown

77166
27812
6540
2731
2444
unknown

2619
19823
3521
1985
1777
unknown

26595
15878
3354
1572
1407
unknown

75
75
75
75
75

At Risk Cohorts
Chonic Respiratory Disease
Diabetes
Chronic Heart Disease
Chronic Neurological Disease
Chronic Liver Disease
Immunosupression
Asplenia
Chronic Kidney Disease

26426
12413
9177
7661
5021
3449
3723
2515

48.35
58.89
37.71
41.44
33.96
44.36
30.89
48.91

12777
7310
3461
3175
1705
1530
1150
1230

7043
2000
3422
2571
2061
1057
1642
656

6607
3103
2294
1915
1255
862
931
629

75
75
75
75
75
75
75
75

Your community, Your care : Developing Buckinghamshire together

12

Covid Second Surge Plan
Buckinghamshire System has a detailed Covid Second Surge plan to ensure that we are able to respond
effectively to second COVID surge. The system surge plan is supported by detailed organisational surge
plans.
Key elements Buckinghamshire Second Surge Plan are as follows:
•
•
Page 129

•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•

Setting up of incident control centre
Hot hubs to support the assessment of and treatment of suspected COVID patients, avoiding A&E
attendance
Coordinated system support for care homes, including a visiting service, local testing teams and access to
remote assessment and support
Additional capacity to support rapid discharge
A potential Emergency Social Care and Respite Centre to facilitate discharge to assess clients where care
market capacity is unavailable
Access to provision of additional Personal Protective Equipment (PPE) training and supplies
Additional support for vulnerable population groups to ensure safety and hospital admissions
Resilient arrangements are in place to support safe transfer of COVID-19 positive patients to designated
facilities 24/7
Staffing contingency plans and consideration of staffing redeployment as necessary
Enhance Mental Health Support and pathways to support admission avoidance

Your community, Your care : Developing Buckinghamshire together

13

Adult Social Care: Covid-19 winter plan 2020 to 2021
A new adult social care winter plan was published by the government on 18 September to curb the spread of
coronavirus infections in care settings throughout the winter months, including free PPE and £546 million
Infection Control Fund

Page 130

As part of the plan:
• people receiving adult social care and care workers will receive free PPE
• a new dashboard will monitor care home infections and help local government and providers respond
quicker
• a Chief Nurse for Adult Social Care will be appointed to represent social care nurses and provide clinical
leadership to the workforce
Local providers must restrict all but essential movement of staff between settings to reduce transmission.
The plan sets out a strengthening of monitoring and regulation by local authorities and the Care Quality
Commission (CQC), including asking them to take strong action where improvement is required or staff
movement is not being restricted.
The winter plan will be supported by the publishing of the Adult Social Care COVID-19 Support Taskforce
report highlighting the effectiveness of the fund and the care home support package.

Your community, Your care : Developing Buckinghamshire together

14

Winter Communications
The Communications Strategy aims to support Winter Plans in Buckinghamshire ensuring
our residents and staff know their role in keeping well, alternatives to A&E and how they can
avoid being admitted to hospital.
Key points are as follows:

Page 131

• To better inform and educate the media and residents how the NHS and councils are
prepared for winter
• To encourage residents to self-care wherever possible and reduce unnecessary admissions
in A&E
• To ensure residents know about all available NHS services, signposting and encouraging
them to choose the most appropriate place dependent on their need
• To ensure consistency of messages used by staff with patients to support home first
• To increase the number of people getting their flu vaccinations – across all cohorts,
including staff
• To support and promote the launch of 111 First
Below is a link to the ICP Winter Pages where anybody can get information on getting ready for Winter
https://www.yourcommunityyourcare.org.uk/ready-for-winter/

Your community, Your care : Developing Buckinghamshire together

15

We ask the Health and Wellbeing Board to
support our commitment to:
• Ensuring the safety of our patients during the Winter Period
and during the Covid Pandemic
• Supporting our staff
Page 132

• Working together as a Buckinghamshire System to provide the
best care in the right setting for our population
• Engaging and communicating with our population and key
stakeholders in a timely, supportive and safe way

Your community, Your care : Developing Buckinghamshire together

16

Agenda Item 10

Date: 6 October 2020
Title: Better Care Fund 2020-21 Plan
Author and/or contact officer: Tracey Ironmonger, Interim Service Director for Integrated
Commissioning
Report Sponsor: Gill Quinton
Purpose of Report: To provide Health and Wellbeing Board (HWB) with an update on the
Better Care Fund for 2020-21.
Report for information, discussion, decision or approval:
For approval.
Related Joint Health and Wellbeing Strategy Priority:
This paper relates to priority 2 – Keep people healthier for longer and reduce the impact of
long-term conditions.
Recommendations:
•
•
•
•

•

To note the Better Care Fund budget for 2020-21.
To delegate authority for approval of the 2020-21 plan, including locally set metrics,
to lead officers for BC Integrated Commissioning and Buckinghamshire CCG.
To delegate authority for allocation of expenditure for 2020-21 to lead officers for
BC Integrated Commissioning and Buckinghamshire CCG.
To approve that the Integrated Commissioning Team continue to service the
requirements of the BCF nationally and locally, including regular reporting via the
Integrated Commissioning Executive Team on performance and bi-annual updates to
Health and Wellbeing Board.
To note the current position in relation to Better Care Fund and performance.

Executive summary
1.1

To provide HWBB with an overview of the Better Care Fund for 2020-21. This
includes funding allocations, progress in relation to submission of the formal plan to
NHS England (delayed due to covid) and an update on performance against the
mandatory metrics. The paper asks for the budget and performance to be noted and
delegated authority be given to lead officers for Integrated Commissioning. The
paper has been through Council and CCG governance boards prior to Health and
Wellbeing Board for final oversight and approval.

Page 133

Content of report
1.2

The Better Care Fund allocations for 2020-21 were announced in February 2020,
however, as a result of covid, formal planning guidance and submission of the plan
has been delayed. Although expected shortly, we anticipate that it will feature postCOVID learning and greater emphasis on priorities such as embedding a longer term
approach to ‘Home First’ discharge.

1.3

This paper provides the board with the current position. It provides an overview of
the BCF financial allocations for 2020-21 and the schemes and services that the BCF
supports delivery of.
The paper requests that the board approve the
recommendation for approval of the final plan and allocation of expenditure to be
delegated to lead officers for Integrated Commissioning and Buckinghamshire CCG.

1.4

The paper provides an update on the High Impact Change Model, which consists of
nine domains that each Health and Wellbeing Board area should work to implement
in order to most effectively manage transfers of care. In light of covid – this has
recently been reviewed nationally to reflect changes to the new hospital discharge
processes.

1.5

A summary of performance against the mandatory BCF metrics is given. Delayed
Transfers of Care (DTOC) are no longer being collated as a result of the adoption of a
home first approach, therefore no data on this is available.

1.6

The paper summarises the recommendations required from the Board.

Consultation and communication
1.7

This paper has been shared and approved by Adults and Health Senior Management
Team (SMT), Corporate Management Team (CMT) and Integrated Commissioning
Executive Team (ICET).

Next steps and review
Once Health and Wellbeing Board have approved the recommendations, final sign
off of the BCF 2020-21 plan submitted to NHS England, will be provided jointly by
lead officers for Buckinghamshire Council and Buckinghamshire CCG on behalf of the
Health and Wellbeing Board.
The timescale for the submission of the BCF plan nationally is currently unknown and
we are awaiting information from NHS England, whilst still working up preparatory
plans in readiness.

Page 134

Background papers
None.

Page 135

This page is intentionally left blank

Health and Wellbeing Board – October 2020

Page 137

Better Care Fund (BCF) 2020/21 Plan

Tracey Ironmonger – Interim Service Director, Integrated Commissioning,
Buckinghamshire Council

Appendix

2020-21 Better Care Fund

What is the BCF?

Page 138

• The Better Care Fund (BCF) is a programme spanning both the
NHS and local government which seeks to join-up health and
care services, so that people can manage their own health
and wellbeing, and live independently in their communities
for as long as possible
• One of the most ambitious programmes ever introduced
across the NHS and local government, the BCF encourages
integration by requiring CCGs and local authorities to enter
into pooled budget arrangements and agree an integrated
spending plan. In 2019-20, £6.4 billion was pooled in the BCF.

2020-21 Better Care Fund

2020-21 Update
• The 2019-20 Q4 return has just been submitted, having been
delayed as a result of COVID.

Page 139

• COVID has meant that the BCF Plan for 2020-21 has still not
been formally approved by Government.
• To date, only financial allocations have been published, with
advice that local systems assume spending be set at ring
fenced levels, with a continuation of existing schemes from
2019-20.
• 2020-21 is a transition year, with a 3 year plan expected for
2021-22 onwards incorporating post-COVID priorities e.g. D2A

2020-21 Better Care Fund Plan

Page 140

2020-21
Better Care Fund Plan

2020-21 Better Care Fund Plan

2020-21 overview

BCF 2020-21
(£40,258,107)

Page 141

• The BCF financial allocations for 2020-21 were
published on 4th February 2020.
• The total allocation for 2020-21 is £40,258,107 (4.3% increase on
2019-20). This includes :
1. Minimum CCG contribution
2. Improved Better Care Fund (iBCF - which now incorporates
Winter Pressures Grant)
3. Disabled Facilities Grant (DFG)
• BCF planning guidance is still to be published, but expected shortly
and expected to link to COVID learning, such as new Hospital
Discharge Guidance.
• National reporting for Managing Transfers of Care (formerly called
Delayed Transfers of Care) has been discontinued based on
adoption of Home First principle.

2020-21 Better Care Fund Plan

Funding overview
1. Minimum CCG Contribution
Page 142

–
–
–

Total allocation is £31,781,988
£10,652,122 is mandated for Adult Social Care and
allocated against several schemes already in place
This is a 5.6% increase on the 2019-20 allocation

CCG Minimum
Contribution
(£31,781,988)

2. Improved Better Care Fund (iBCF)
–
–
–

The iBCF is in its final year of allocation
Confirmed as £4,892,680 for 2020-21 and now
includes the Winter Pressures Grant
Another one year allocation paid directly to BC and
at the same level as 2019-20

iBCF
(£4,892,680)

2020-21 Better Care Fund Plan

Funding overview

3. Disabled Facilities Grant (DFG)
Page 143

–
–
–

Confirmed as £3,583,439 for 2020-21
This is at the same level on 2019-20
DFG was previously passported directly to District
Councils, but now sits under the new unitary
authority

DFG
(£3,583,439)

2020-21 Better Care Fund Plan

Schemes funded through the BCF
• Contracts:

Page 144

–
–
–
–

Home from Hospital Service delivered by British Red Cross
Memory Support Service delivered by Alzheimer's Society
Integrated Carers Service delivered by Carers Bucks
Falls pathway

• Contribution to service provision:
–
–
–
–
–
–

Development of 7 day working and hospital discharge teams
Assistive Technology
Intermediate care services, including reablement
Care Act requirements such as Information, Advice and Guidance
Supporting care home providers to deliver quality care
Integrated community services delivered by Buckinghamshire
Healthcare Trust

2020-21 Better Care Fund Plan

Improved Better Care Fund (iBCF)

Page 145

• The iBCF is a single year allocation for 2020-21
• Without planning guidance and certainty around funding for
2021-22 onwards, not all spend has yet been agreed.
• For 2020-21 there are currently two areas of focus:
– Protecting preventative services:
• Maintaining the level of grant funding into preventative services
with a focus on deliverable outcomes to support maximising and
maintaining independence

2020-21 Better Care Fund Plan

Improved Better Care Fund (iBCF) continued…
• Supporting the system to manage demand pressures,
particularly over winter
Page 146

– Hospital brokerage service provided free of charge to self funders
– Nursing care home beds to support reablement and facilitate
discharge from the acute hospitals
– Additional capacity within domiciliary care
– Additional residential and live in care placements

2020-21 Better Care Fund Plan

High Impact Change Model (HICM)
• Buckinghamshire continues to develop the nine changes that
will further improve admission avoidance and ensure effective
discharge.
Page 147

• The ninth change is a new domain and focusses on housing
and home based support such as Telecare.
• HICM guidance has been updated in light of COVID, together
with a link to new Hospital Discharge Guidance and strategic
adoption of a Home First approach.
• NHSI/E are hosting a series of webinars through September
and October to outline more detail for this.

2020-21 Better Care Fund Plan

High Impact Change Model (HICM)

Page 148

HICM maturity levels below allow local systems to self-assess where they are
on their integration journey. It is worth noting that within each of these
definitions, there is a constant cycle of development and improvement
required and some domains may be more evolved than others, even within
the same level of maturity.
Not yet established: Processes are typically undocumented and driven in an ad hoc
reactive manner
Plans in place: Developed a strategy and starting to implement, however processes
are inconsistent
Established: Defined and standard processes in place, repeatedly used, subject to
improvement over time
Mature: Processes have been tested across variable conditions over a period of time,
evidence of impact beginning to show
Exemplary: Fully embedded within the system and outcomes for people reflect this,
continual improvement driven by incremental and innovative changes

2020-21 Better Care Fund Plan

High Impact Change Model (HICM)
HICM Domain

Estimated maturity by March 2021

Page 149

Chg 1 Early discharge planning

Established

Chg 2 Systems to monitor patient flow

Established

Multi-disciplinary / Multi-agency
discharge teams

Established

Chg 3

Chg 4 Home first / discharge to assess

Established

Chg 5 Seven-day service

Established

Chg 6 Trusted assessors

Established

Chg 7 Focus on choice

Established

Chg 8 Enhancing health in care homes

Established

Chg 9 Housing and related services

Established

2020-21 Better Care Fund performance

Page 150

BCF performance

Better Care Fund Performance

Impact of COVID on BCF reporting
• COVID has resulted in postponement or delay in obtaining a
number of metrics.

Page 151

• Managing Transfers of Care (formerly called Delayed Transfers
of Care) reporting has been discontinued based on adoption
of Home First.
• No formalised central BCF reporting confirmed for 2020-21
yet.

Better Care Fund Performance

Non-elective admissions (NEAs)

Page 152

•

The increased target from last year was met at Q4 and for the full year. The target
for 2020-21 is TBC, but monthly performance data is being collected.

•

Admissions for quarter 1 of 2020 were considerably lower than the same in period
in 2019 (1820, Q1 2020 vs 2737, Q1 2019) – this is due to the impact of COVID on
admissions to hospital.
Quarterly – NEA Buckinghamshire (Rate 100k)

3000
2800

2840
2658

2767

2807

2581

2600

2348

Q1

Q2

2845

Target

2529

2480
2383

2841
2801

2737

2400
2200

2744

2395

2314

Outturn

2000
Q3

Q4

Q1

2018-19
Source: NHS Digital - Secondary Uses Service (SUS)

Q2

Q3

2019-20

Q4

Q1

Q2

Q3

2020-21

Q4

Better Care Fund Performance

Admissions to care homes
•

•
Page 153

Target for 2019-20 was not met, with 416 admissions compared to a target
of 400. However, this is still a low admission rate compared with the
comparator regions.
Target for 2020-21 has not yet been agreed as this is set and agreed locally
through the BCF plan submission. If the target remains the same as 201920, based on admissions up to August, we are on track to meet the target.

Effectiveness of reablement
•
•
•

2019-20 performance was 77% and met the target of 75%.
2020-21 target is yet to be agreed – this is agreed locally and submitted
through the BCF plan
From January 2020 to March 2020 there was an increase in clients
accessing reablement and requiring no package of care at the end of their
support. In addition, there was an increase in those leaving reablement
with a decreased package or care.

Better Care Fund Performance

Managed Transfers of Care (MToC)

Page 154

• To ensure that hospital capacity is kept free during COVID
pandemic, new discharge arrangements have been
implemented where patients are discharged from acute
services and their needs are assessed in the community.
• Reporting suspended nationally in March 2020. No data
available after February 2020.
• We achieved our target for January 2020, but not for February
2020.

2020-21 Better Care Fund Plan

Recommendations for the Board

Page 155

• To note the Better Care Fund budget for 2020-21.
• To delegate authority for approval of the 2020-21 plan,
including locally set metrics, to lead officers for BC Integrated
Commissioning and Buckinghamshire CCG.
• To delegate authority for allocation of expenditure for 202021 to lead officers for BC Integrated Commissioning and
Buckinghamshire CCG.
• To approve that the Integrated Commissioning Team continue
to service the requirements of the BCF nationally and locally,
including regular reporting via the Integrated Commissioning
Executive Team on performance and bi-annual updates to
Health and Wellbeing Board.
• To note the current position in relation to Better Care Fund
and performance.

This page is intentionally left blank

Agenda Item 11

Date: 6 October 2020
Title: Update on Joint Health and Wellbeing Strategy engagement, Happier, Healthier Lives –
a shared plan for Buckinghamshire.
Author and/or contact officer: Katie McDonald, Health and Wellbeing Lead Officer
Report Sponsor: Dr Jane O’Grady
Purpose of Report:
The Health and Wellbeing Board is asking for early views on the refresh of the ‘Joint Health
and Wellbeing Strategy’ – Happier, Healthier Lives – a shared plan for Buckinghamshire. The
refreshed strategy is due for publication in early 2021.
Report for information, discussion, decision or approval: Information
Related Joint Health and Wellbeing Strategy Priority: This report will set the priorities for
the new strategy, Start Well, Live Well, Age Well.
Recommendations:
The Health and Wellbeing Board is asked to:


Receive an update on engagement to date at the meeting on 6 October 2020.

Content of report
1.1

The ‘Happier and Healthier Lives’ plan will be the county’s high level plan for
reducing health inequalities and improving health and wellbeing for
Buckinghamshire’s residents. The priorities have been developed in partnership with
senior leaders from across the public, voluntary and community sectors. It uses
information from the ‘Joint Strategic Needs Assessment’ (JSNA) and learning from
the ‘2016-21 Joint Health and Wellbeing Strategy2016-21’.

1.2

The Buckinghamshire ‘Happier, Healthier Lives’ plan aims to create the best
conditions in Buckinghamshire for people to live healthy, happy and fulfilling lives
and achieve their full potential. Our vision is to improve outcomes for the whole
population as well as having a greater impact on improving the health and wellbeing
of those people in Buckinghamshire who have poorer health and wellbeing.
The strategy proposes to make an impact on three key priority areas:




Start Well
Live Well
Age Well

Page 157

Consultation and communication
1.3

The engagement document has been shared widely across HWB partner
organisations and has been live on the Your Voice Bucks, citizen space webpage since
the 18 September 2020. The consultation will close on 14 October 2020.

Next steps and review
1.5

Following consultation and analysis of comments received, the Happier, Healthier
Lives plan will be approved by the Health and Wellbeing Board at its next meeting on
10 December 2020 with an accompanying action plan.

Background papers
1.6

The engagement document is included as an appendix to this report.

Page 158

Appendix

Page 159

Summary
The Health and Wellbeing Board is asking for early views on the refresh of their
‘Joint Health and Wellbeing Strategy’. A refreshed strategy is due for
publication in early 2021.
The Buckinghamshire Health and Wellbeing Board, brings together senior
leaders from:






Buckinghamshire Council
Buckinghamshire Clinical Commissioning Group
Buckinghamshire NHS Healthcare
Oxford Health Foundation Trusts
Healthwatch and other voluntary sector representatives.

The Health and Wellbeing Board has a legal responsibility to:
 understand current and future health and social care needs
 translate these findings into clear outcomes that they want to achieve.
Earlier this year all Health and Wellbeing Board members agreed the following
priorities:
 Start Well
 Live Well
 Age Well
A refreshed strategy would align with our Covid-19 recovery plans and have
three cross cutting priorities:
 Tackling health inequalities
 Mental health
 Community engagement
This document explains why these priorities have been chosen, what we hope
to do and how you can give you view.

Page 160

1. Why we are refreshing the ‘Joint Health & Wellbeing Strategy’
The current strategy ends in early 2021. A refresh is needed to take us through
to 2023. This gives us an opportunity to check we are still focussing on the right
priorities.
The first ‘Joint Health & Wellbeing Strategy’ was published in 2013. It aimed to
promote healthier lives for everyone in Buckinghamshire. It guided the work of
the Health and Wellbeing Board. It also set a context for partner organisations
that provide support and services.
The first refresh in 2016-2021 built on this. It put new emphasis on place
(where people live), reducing health inequalities – and more focus on mental
health.
The 2021-2023 refresh will take a life course approach. This means looking at
where or at what point the biggest differences can be made to improve
people’s health and wellbeing. It will continue to focus on health inequalities,
mental health and increasing community engagement as priorities.
2. Working with the Integrated Care Partnership
The Buckinghamshire Integrated Care Partnership (ICP) aims to meet the
health and social care needs of the Buckinghamshire population. These are set
by the Health and Wellbeing Board. The ICP works with system partners to
address the challenges of:
 demographic change and population growth
 health inequalities and financial sustainability
The strategy refresh comes at a time when system partners in the health, care,
voluntary and community sectors are seeing increased demand for local
services.
The Covid-19 pandemic has had a major impact on every community in the
county. Communities, businesses and the voluntary sector have worked
together to support the most vulnerable. The Health and Wellbeing Board is
committed to learning from the crisis and the many positive developments in

Page 161

our response to the pandemic. As such we will work with communities and
organisations to make these positives part of our ‘business as usual.
3. Deciding on the health, care and wellbeing needs
The Joint Strategic Needs Assessment (JSNA) is the main evidence we use for
the strategy. The JSNA looks at current and future health, care and wellbeing
needs of the local community.
The JSNA shows that Buckinghamshire residents continue to enjoy good health
and access to high quality health and care services in relation to the rest of
England. Although many people experience good health this is not experienced
by all. The ‘Health and wellbeing strategy’ seeks to address this.
This link will take you to the JSNA.
4. COVID-19 Health, care and wellbeing needs
The Health and Wellbeing Board is committed to working with our resident
communities to keep them safe, well and healthy during and after COVID-19.
A high level Covid Joint Strategic Needs Assessment (JSNA) is currently in
development. This rapid high level JSNA will look at the impacts and risks
identified from the Covid-19 Health Impact Assessment. It will help form the
‘Joint Health and Wellbeing Strategy Implementation and Action Plan’ and be
aligned with system recovery plans.
With our partners, we will carry out work to identify the health and wellbeing
impacts of Covid-19 infection. This includes the social impact of lockdown. We
aim to identify future risks to health and wellbeing. As well as how we can
meet the health and wellbeing recovery needs, mitigate future risks and
enhance positive impacts. These will be a combination of reconfiguring current
services and asset based community solutions.

5. Happier Healthier Lives – a shared Plan for Buckinghamshire
The ‘Happier and Healthier Lives’ plan will be the county’s high level plan for
reducing health inequalities and improving health and wellbeing for
Buckinghamshire’s residents.

Page 162

‘Happier Healthier Lives’ priorities have been developed in partnership with
senior leaders from across the public, voluntary and community sectors. It uses
information from our ‘Joint Strategic Needs Assessment’ (JSNA) and learning
from our ‘2016-21 Joint Health and Wellbeing Strategy2016-21’. In addition we
draw on national research and good practice.
The Buckinghamshire ‘Happier, Healthier Lives’ plan aims to create the best
conditions in Buckinghamshire for people to live healthy, happy and fulfilling
lives and achieve their full potential. Our vision is to improve outcomes for the
whole population as well as having a greater impact on improving the health
and wellbeing of those people in Buckinghamshire who have poorer health and
wellbeing.
The strategy proposes to make an impact on three key priority areas:
 Start Well
 Live Well
 Age Well
The following sections explain the refreshed priorities and focus for the action
plan.

6. Start Well
Why this is a priority
Health and wellbeing outcomes can be improved by focussing on children and
young people. We want to make sure that every child has the best possible
start in life. The key to getting this right is tackling health and social inequalities
and preventing poor outcomes.
We want to make sure all children are supported to reach their potential in
school, further education and employment, and that families are supported to
make healthy lifestyle choices.
We know that good mental health helps us to enjoy life and build positive
relationships. It gives us resilience to deal with day-to-day difficulties and
major life events. Early diagnosis of mental health problems is a key factor in

Page 163

the success of treatment and preventing the worsening of conditions. This will
enable young people in Buckinghamshire to reach their full potential.

Our focus for 2021 – 2023
• Every child has the best start in life.
• Children have the right environment and opportunities to adopt and
maintain healthy lifestyles.
• Children in Buckinghamshire are Safe and Protected.

How we will do this
• We will work with our partners to help children and young people
(particularly the most vulnerable) to reach their full potential.
• We will seek more feedback from local communities on what is
happening in their areas to give children the best start in life.
• With our partners we will make sure we provide support to children and
families with mental health needs.
• As part of our COVID-19 recovery work, resources will be targeted
appropriately at those families whose circumstances have been affected.
• Working with early years providers and schools we will make sure that
the individual needs of children are identified at the earliest opportunity.
Ensuring we can collectively respond at the right time. We will carry out
targeted work with our settings and schools in order to improve
outcomes and make a difference.

7. Live Well
Why this is a priority
Not everyone in Buckinghamshire enjoys the same good health. People living
in more deprived areas tend to have poorer health at all stages of life - from
birth to old age. Health also differs between different ethnic groups. People
with mental health problems often have poorer physical health. The support of

Page 164

friends and neighbours in communities is good for physical and mental health.
This type of support gets more crucial as the population ages.
We know that the physical environment, the quality of housing and
opportunities for active travel have a big influence on health and wellbeing.
There will be an increase in housing in Buckinghamshire, creating new
communities. We want to find better ways to plan for and shape communities
so that they promote health and wellbeing. The work of the emerging
Community Boards and adopting a health in all policies (HIAP) approach will be
pivotal in this.
The Covid-19 pandemic has had an unequal impact on people. Evidence shows
that incidents of Covid-19 increases in line with deprivation. We have also seen
national attention on the impact on Black, Asian and Minority Ethnic (BAME)
groups. People in these groups often suffer the worst health and poorer health
outcomes. They need to be identified and targeted by appropriate services.

Our focus for 2021 – 2023
• Residents in Buckinghamshire have the choice and skills to live healthier
lifestyles.
• Residents are encouraged to be more connected with their local
community and live in resilient neighbourhoods.
•

Residents in Buckinghamshire are safe and protected.

How we will do this
• To maximise impact and tackle barriers to healthy lifestyles we will align
and co-ordinate prevention programmes across the system. This
includes developing a whole system approach to obesity and enabling
people of all ages to be more physically active.
• We will continue to focus and co-ordinate action on sexual health,
smoking, alcohol and drugs.
• We will support Community Boards to have and promote annual health
events in their areas. This includes feedback to the Health and Wellbeing
Board.

Page 165

• We will follow up on community health events by identifying what the
Council, NHS, voluntary sector, community and residents can do to make
a difference. We will report on this annually.
• We will continue work on social isolation and social connectedness as a
shared priority to develop a system wide response to social isolation.
• We will enhance our organisational workforce programmes to focus on
Wellbeing and Mental Health.
• We will oversee a shared population health approach to reduce health
inequalities and reduce the negative impacts of the wider determinants
of health.
• We will encourage sustainable growth, creating the right environments
for residents to prosper and live happy, healthier lives.
• Using data from Covid-19 rapid assessment we will focus on Black,
Asian and Minority Ethnic (BAME) groups and locations where people
have worse health.
• We will introduce culturally competent health promotion and disease
prevention programmes.
• As part of our Covid-19 recovery work, resources will be targeted
appropriately to support residents impacted by domestic abuse, social
isolation, food poverty, debt and homelessness.

8. Age Well
Why this is a priority
The number of older people in Buckinghamshire is increasing and will grow
further. The number of people aged 65 years and over is expected to increase
by 27.7% - from 101,700 to 129,900 by 2030. This means 28,200 more people
aged 65 years and over.
While people are living longer, many are spending more years in poor health at
the end of life. The number of people with dementia is also growing.
Evidence shows we should identify the people at risk and intervene earlier to:

Page 166

 Support active ageing
 Prevent social isolation and loneliness
 Prevent ill health and disability among older people

Our focus for 2021-2023
 Residents in Buckinghamshire enter older age with healthier lifestyles
 Older adults in Buckinghamshire will receive the right support at the
right time.

How we will do this
 We will deliver services in the community. So that people are able to live
independently with good physical and mental health.
• We will adopt the ‘Home First’ philosophy across the health and care
system. We will treat people with dignity and respect at the end of their
lives.
• We will support Community Boards and Primary Care Networks to help
them support communities.
• We will support carers in their caring role and to look after their own
health.
• In response to Covid-19, we will continue to develop and deliver the
enhanced offer of support to care homes.
• We will work with providers to develop a sustainable and appropriate
care market provision to meet future need in Buckinghamshire.
• We will develop and implement a healthy ageing strategy to support the
Ageing Well Programme.

9. Your views
We want to hear your views. Whether you are a member of the public, a
patient, service user or work for an organisation in Buckinghamshire.
We are asking just four questions:

Page 167

Q:1 In your experience, do you agree or disagree that these are the major
health and wellbeing challenges we need to address in Buckinghamshire?
a) Yes – I agree
b) No – I disagree
c) I am not sure
Q2: What views do you have on the Start Well, Live Well, Age Well areas
proposed?
Q3: Are there any priorities which you think should be added to the ‘Happier,
Healthier Lives Plan’ for Buckinghamshire?
a) Yes
b) No
Of your answered ‘Yes’ please tell us what they are and why.
Q4: In what capacity are you giving your view?
a)
b)
c)
d)

A member of the public
A patient or service user
Representative of an organisation in Buckinghamshire
Other (please specify)

You can submit your views between now and 14 October 2020:
Online:

Use this link to take the on line survey

Emailing:

HWB@buckinghamshire.gov.uk

Calling:

01296 382 043

10.

What happens next?

Following confirmation of the priorities, the Health and Wellbeing Board will
develop an implementation plan.
This will be published along with the refreshed ‘Joint Health and Wellbeing
Strategy 2021-2023’.

Page 168

Agenda Item 12

Date: 6 October 2020
Title: Children’s Services update
Author and/or contact officer: Mark Green, Development Manager
Report Sponsor: Tolis Vouyioukas, Corporate Director Children’s Services
Purpose of Report:
To provide an update on how children’s services are delivering against the 2021-2023
priorities.
Report for information, discussion, decision or approval: for information
Recommendations:
The Health and Wellbeing Board is asked to:


Note the report for information

Content of report:
1.1 Our focus for 2021 – 2023
•

Every Child has the best start in life

•

Children have the right environment and opportunities to adopt and maintain
healthy lifestyles

•

Children in Buckinghamshire are safe and protected

Page 169

Service: Children’s Services

Page 170

Actions for the Health and
Wellbeing Board

What we do to contribute to these actions

We will work with partners to
enable children and young people,
particularly the most vulnerable to
reach their full potential

1. Our 16 Family Centres allow us to provide venues for health clinics to support young mothers and
children. Due to Covid-19 these were suspended between March and September; however, the clinics
have started again by appointment only. These clinics enable joint working between our Family Support
Workers and Health colleagues and help us to identify the support required for each family and agree
how this will be provided.
2. Every school now has a linked family worker, and this supports the early identification of emerging need
and together, we can work in partnership to support vulnerable children.
3. We are continually improving our Local Offer for children with Special Educational Needs and Disability
(SEND). The Local Offer is an online directory of all the services and support that are offered to families
who have children or young people with SEND. The Local Offer explains how to access these services
and can signpost families to the right place. Our Local Offer has been developed with parents, carers,
young people and professionals and input from all these people helps us to keep it up to date and
relevant. The Local Offer is accessible on the Buckinghamshire Family Information Service (BFIS)
website.
4. BFIS also provides free impartial information and signposting for families with children aged 0 to 19 (up
to 25 years for those with additional needs. The role of the service is to help families get the most out of
the information and services available in the community and online. This could be something from
helping them find out about local events and activities for their family or pointing them in the right
direction when things are not going so well, and extra support is required. Our BFIS website also covers
a range of subjects including childcare, family finance, parenting support and education.
5. Our Admissions Team provided additional support to parents in making applications for school places.
We also monitor and work with parents if they decline a school place and seemingly have no school for
their child to attend.
6. Through regular communication with schools, foster cares and social workers, we ensure pupil premium
is used effectively to support both the academic and emotional wellbeing of vulnerable children. One to

Page 171
We will seek out more feedback
from local communities on what is
happening in their areas to give
children the best start in life

Together with our partners we will

one tutoring and mentoring will be given to those children we identify as most in need of support.
7. We are in the process of finalising our SEND and Inclusion Strategy that identifies our priorities for the
next 3 years. There will be a key focus on healthy living as part of preparing children and young people
for adulthood.
8. Evidence from our SEND Improvement Plan demonstrates that our work with partners in relation to
Education, Health and Care Plans has improved.
9. Where we are undertaking school building works or building a new school we ensure that the design
meets all current government specifications and that it delivers the best possible learning environment
for children and young people.
10. Our Early Years team proactively support parents of vulnerable children to access their early education
entitlement. The team has also started working with Buckinghamshire Healthcare Trust to deliver Eat
Better Start Better training to settings across the county. More recently, the work of the Early Years
peer to peer model of support has focused on strengthening the promoting of health and wellbeing
initiatives.
11. In September 2020 the Corporate Parenting Panel, a multi-agency panel overseeing support for and
progress of looked after children and care leavers, redefined its terms of reference and introduced three
operational sub-groups to drive forward at pace the following work streams: housing and support for
care leavers; health; and education, employment and training.
1. Community Coordinators in the Family Support Service (FSS) now attend all Community Boards acting as
a conduit to and from FSS on available services and emerging needs to inform service design.
Partnership working with Community Boards also enables the service to ensure key messages are
disseminated to the wider community and encourage parental engagement. In addition, the close
working of our family centres and early year providers help us gain local community knowledge and
support requirements.
2. Partnership Forums have been set up in three localities to promote multi-agency support for vulnerable
children. Collaborative work with FACT Bucks parent/carer forum and other groups of parents to coproduce wherever possible.
3. Surveys introduced to families accessing our services throughout Covid-19 providing direct feedback on
their current experiences.
1. The need to work with colleagues in CAMHS and colleagues across Health in order to support the

make sure we provide support to
children and families with mental
health needs

2.
3.
Page 172

4.

5.

As part of our COVID-19 recovery
work, resources will be targeted
appropriately at those families
whose circumstances have been
affected.

1.

2.

emotional well-being of children and young people and adults who are parents has never been greater.
It is clear, that for some members of our community, the last six months have been difficult, and it is
probable that this will not change anytime soon. As a service we have worked hard with CAMHS
colleagues to ensure that we work effectively together and that we have good working relationships at
all levels. The Service Director in Children’s Services continues to have monthly strategic meetings with
senior leaders in CAMHS. These interactions have supported staff to create strong team level links and
there are a number of examples of complex cases benefitting from multi-agency support. This has
enabled a number of young people to continue to remain in the community safely with intensive
support.
Training has been be offered for designated teachers to support them in supporting the full return of
pupils to school. This included topics on understanding trauma and mental health support.
We have staff working alongside school-based Mental Health Support Teams to provide family-centred
support alongside Mental Health professionals.
Within the FSS, there is a designated lead practitioner for mental health and their role is to promote
awareness and understanding of mental health issues across the workforce. In addition, mental health
and wellbeing sessions are delivered at our family centres.
Key objectives being taken forward by our Integrated Commissioning group relate to mental health:
 Children and Young People receive help for mental health difficulties that are effective and
timely so that children and young people feel supported at all stages in their lives and have a
positive self-image.
 Young people experience a smooth transition to adult physical and mental health services.
The priorities for Children’s Social Care from March 2020 changed and included operating in a way that
would reduce the risk of infection, protect the families we work with and our staff whilst safeguarding
vulnerable children and young people. As a result, physical visits to children only took place when the
known risks to a child warranted such a visit. All other activities of the service moved to a virtual setting
where we strongly encouraged our children, young people and their families to interact with us via
video technology.
Throughout August 2020, in preparation for the return of the majority of children and young people into
education settings, the service began to increase the number of physical/actual visits to children, young
people and their families in line with statutory requirements. In essence, this meant that from

3.

4.

Page 173

5.

6.

With early years providers and
schools, we will work together to
ensure that the individuals need of

1.
2.

September 2020 a full level of service resumed to safeguard and support vulnerable children, young
people and families. There are still some virtual interactions taking place and it is possible that these will
have to increase in line with Government and Public Health guidance.
A positive outcome of the restrictions in place between March 2020 and September 2020 has been the
availability and level of communication between our services and partner agencies. We have seen an
increase in the availability of staff and partners to attend statutory meetings such as professionals
meetings, case conferences, looked after reviews, core groups and strategy meetings. As a result of this,
the service will continue to use modern technology to undertake certain meetings including the use of a
hybrid model where necessary with some participants being socially distanced in a room and others
being present on screen.
Processes to support families experiencing financial hardship are built into our draft Home to School
transport policy and associated Post 16 Transport Policy Statement for 2021/22 onwards. Current post
16 charging for Home to School transport is paused in the light of Covid so families of young people with
SEND post 16 do not have additional financial pressures.
Early Years settings were supported with the completion of a Covid Recovery Tool to support their
financial sustainability. Targeted support will be provided to settings in areas most affected by Covid-19.
In vulnerable areas, settings will be considered for a Covid Recovery Grant.
Between March 2020 and August 2020, in addition to delivery of our statutory safeguarding duties, the
service sought to provide practical support to those children, young people and families most in need.
This included the use of various staff across the service to make contact with all our looked after
children as the lockdown restrictions were put in place to check on their emotional health and
wellbeing; increased contact with our care leavers to ensure they were safe and had access to basic
necessities; ensuring respite arrangements were available to support children with disabilities and their
families; the rollout of the government laptop scheme which has seen over 850 devices sent to
vulnerable pupils without access to the internet, providing them with a method of engaging with online
learning. In addition, the Virtual School also ensured that all children in care had access to a device to
support their learning in the first weeks of lockdown prior to the rollout of the government scheme.
Our linked family workers with every school is now helping to support early identification of emerging
need and work in partnership to agree support for vulnerable children.
Parenting provision restarted in September and some courses/support is targeted at specific settings

children are identified at the earliest
where need is evident.
opportunity so that we can
3. Extension of Education Psychologists and Specialist Teachers to focus more on early intervention with
collectively respond at the right
our schools.
time. We will carry out targeted
4. A specific focus on family support for SEND is being developed as part of the refreshed SEND
work with our settings and schools
improvement Plan. Early intervention is key to this. Where reasonable/minor adaptation works are
in order to improve outcomes and
required at a school to enable a child or young person with a disability to attend the school we will work
make a difference.
with the school and SEND service to ensure that the works can be undertaken as swiftly as possible.
5. Regular contact with all providers and schools helps ensure that needs are identified in a timely manner
and respond to accordingly.
6. Targeted support provided to settings/schools with a high number of vulnerable children.

Page 174

Health and Wellbeing Board 2020/21 Work Programme (Draft)

Meeting date

Report

Lead

Notes

Public Health overview of Covid-19 in Buckinghamshire

Dr Jane O’Grady

The Director of Public Health will present an
overview of the impact of Covid_19 in
Buckinghamshire, including what we know
about the current situation and future
impact

Overview of the whole system approach taken to recovery
from Covid-19 across Buckinghamshire and Integrated Care
System

David Williams

To include updates from the key leads from
the NHS, Adult Social Care, Public Health
and Children’s Services to outline how each
organisation has managed in response to
the pandemic and the key priorities for
stepping up services, recovery and reset.

Sarah Ashmead
Gill Quinton

Page 175

Tolis Vouyioukas,
July 7 2020
Paper deadline
Friday 26 June

Martin
Gallagher/Katie
Higginson
Miguel Souto

Healthwatch Bucks Annual Report

Jenny Baker OBE

Communicating and engaging with the public

David Williams



Buckinghamshire Integrated Care Partnership (ICP)
Engagement Programme: Working together to
improve health and social care in Buckinghamshire

 Communication and Engagement across the ICP
Update on HWB Governance and Terms of Reference

Roger Goode

Katie McDonald

Overview from voluntary sector members

Agenda Item 13

Overview of the impact on Covid-19 on patients and the
voluntary and community sector and key priorities for
recovery

6 October
Paper
deadline
Friday 25
September

Page 176

Thursday 10
December
Paper
deadline
Monday 1
December

Director of Public Health Annual Report

Jane O’Grady

Buckinghamshire Covid-19 Population Health and Wellbeing
Recovery Plans

Jane O’Grady

To include updates on place based, health
and wellbeing recovery plans

Integrated Care Partnership Item



System wide Winter Plans
Better Care Fund Bi-Annual update

Caroline Coppell
Tracey Ironmonger

Joint Health and Wellbeing Strategy engagement

Katie McDonald

Children’s priority update for information

Tolis Vouyioukas

Launch of 2021 Joint Health and Wellbeing Strategy Refresh
Happier, Healthier Lives, a shared plan for Bucks

Jane O’Grady/ Katie
McDonald

Buckinghamshire Covid-19 Health and Wellbeing Recovery
Plans

Jane O’Grady

Integrated Care Partnership update

Neil Macdonald/
Gill Quinton/David
Williams

Health and Wellbeing Board Annual Report

Katie McDonald

Annual Safeguarding Reports (tbc)

To include updates on place based, health
and wellbeing recovery plans

Buckinghamshire Covid-19 Health and Wellbeing Recovery
Plans

Jane O’Grady

Thursday 18
February

Integrated Care Partnership update

Paper deadline
Monday 8
February

Neil Macdonald/
Gill Quinton/David
Williams

Happier Healthier Lives Priority update (tbc)

Tbc

Voluntary Sector update

Tbc

Thursday 1 April

Page 177

Buckinghamshire Covid-19 Health and Wellbeing Recovery
Plans

Jane O’Grady

Integrated Care Partnership update

Neil Macdonald/
Gill Quinton/David
Williams

Paper Deadline
Monday 22
March

Happier Healthier Lives Priority update (tbc)

To include updates on place based, health
and wellbeing recovery plans

To include updates on place based, health
and wellbeing recovery plans

Tbc

This page is intentionally left blank

